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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 172(1) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006

in accordance with The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 and the Financial Reporting
Councit's Guidance on the Strategic Report issued in July 2018, the Directors must now include a statement within
the Stratagic Report describing now the Directors have had regard to the matters set out in Section 172({1){a) to (P
of the Companies Act 2006 (“Section 172(1) Statement’). The Directors set out therr Section 172(1) Statement
below

During the year, the Directors were briefed on their duties under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 and more
specifically. their duty to “act in the way each director considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the
success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard (amongst other
matters) to -

(a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term.

(b) the INterests of the company's employees,

(c] the need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others,

{d) the impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment,

{e) the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct, and

{f) the need to act fairly as between members of the company.”

Over 1he course of the year, the Board considered matters that fit broadly within the following topics

* Board governance. including the commitment of the Board to diversity and the mix of the skills and
expenence of the Directors,
Organisational structure and succession planning and engagement with the workforce,
The competitiveness of the Group's business,
Impact of the Group's business on the environment and the cormmunities in which we opserate; and
The Final Offer which was announced in June 2019 and completed in September 2019, and subseguent
Delisting of the Company as well as the integration of the Group within City Developments Limved
("COL"). Further information about the Final Offer and Delisting can be found in the Directors’ Report, an
page 22

The various matters were reviewed against the backdrop of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the business
and the Group’s relationships with its primary stakeholders, including its employees, customers, suppliers,
shareholders, regulators and the communities in which we operate. Set cut below is a chart summarising these
relationships, including how the Company engages with each stakeholder, what they care about and why they are
important. Secondary stakeholders for the Group include trade associations, the media, non-governmental
orgamisations and charitable organisations.

| stakléz!ﬂder Touch gglgr;;;::;:lods of What do they care about? Why are they important?
« Recruitment and induction * Job security s Serve as key brand
s Internal communications s  Reputable employer ambassadors
i {intranet sites, newsletters, ¢  Safe working environment e Front-ine service delivery
' Employees email. meetings, etc.) e  Skills trairing and career | « Critical to services/hospitality
| s Training and develcpment development : culture
i . Performance management »  Operational excellence i = Ability to create unique and
» Relations with trade unions | »  Fair wages memorable experiences for
| customers
« Direct sales and marketing + Value for money « Lifeblood of the business
(website, advertising o Clean and safe environment and driver of business
“ carnpaigns, etc.) » Friendly and growth
+ Indirect sales and marketing accommodaling service that | ¢ Serve as key brand
(public rejations. agencies, anticipates customer needs ambassadors
corporate groups, and wants +  Help to foster improvement
partrnerships/sponsorships, . Location and proximity to and innovation through
etc) relevant destinations {(work feedback regarding product
Customers Booking process _ and leisure) and service quali';y
! Pre-stay communications s Unigue experiences s Support for sustainable
* Meeting and event s Useful facilities and operations
management technologies (gym. business
o  Stay or meetings and centre, restaurants, WiF)
events (on-site use of access, etc.)
facilties) « Sustainable operations
= Post-stay communications
j {e.g., quality survey)
L » Loyaity programme
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Suppliers

Bidding/tender process with
operations and procurement
teams

Provision and receipt of
goods and services on-site
(hotel and corporate office)
Account management

Development and growth of a
business relationship

Safe working environment
Fair price and payment terms
Meeting sustainable sourcing
requirements

Key part of responsible
sourcing efforts and ethical
business practices
Potential business
opportunities

A component of service and
product quality

Help to support health and
safety regime anc
operational excellence

Shareholders

Financial communications
{annual report, results
announcements and
regulatory announcements)
Investor presentations
Investor road shows,
meetings and conference
calls

Annual and Extraordinary
General Meetings

Good governance
Transparency and
accountability

Sustainable operations,
strategy and business
mode! underpinning long-
term vaiue creation
Profitability and growth
Access 1o management and
relevant and accurate
information

Alignment of remuneration
with the interests of
shareholder

Funding for business
expansion

Promote management
accountability as the owners
of the company

Provide for enhanced
governance

Support sustainable
operatons

Help to drive economic
development and societal
change

Regulators

ticensing and compliance
activities

Regulatory reporting
Voluntary and mandatory
surveys and consultations
Engagement through trade
associations

Assistance with economic
development initiatives

Social and economic
development (through tax
revenue, creation of jobs,
etc.)

Transparency and
accountability

Regulatory compliance
Environmentally friendly and
sustainable operations
Minimise use of state
resources

Promotion of good
governance leads to greater
investor and customer
confidence

Develop policies to help
faster growth {@conomic
incentives, such as tax
credits, subsidies, trade
policies, etc)

Support sustainability
through legislation

Help to ensure safety of
employees and customers

Communities

Meetings and events at the
hotel

Participation in local
outreach programmes
Support of charitable
organisatons

Environmental impact of the
business

Good corporate citizen
Economic development
(creation and maintenance
of good jobs, local scurcing.
etc.)

Minimising disruption (noisg,
traffic, stc.}

Source of talent and other
resources

Provide potential business
opportunities and word-of-
mouth marketing channels
Assist with and support the
Group's sustainability efforts

Looking at each topic in turn

Board governance, including the commitment of the Board to diversity and the mix of the skills and
experience of the Directors

Following a governance review by the Board in December 2018, in early 2019 the Board, led by the Nominations
Committee, had an opportunity to consider potentiat changes to the composition of the Board. As part of this
process. members of the Board heard from shareholders and even communicated with representatives from the
Hampton-Alexander Rewview, which focuses on increasing gender diversity on Boards. and the Investment
Association, a trade body that represents investment managers and asset management firms in the UK As a
result of this review, two new Directors were appointed in early 2019, Ms Pacla Bergamaschi Broyd was appointed
on 21 March 2019 and Mrs Vicky Wilhams was appointed effective as of 10 May 2019, and the Board adopted a
revised diversity policy. Following these two appointments, women represented over 20% of the Directors until the
eventua! Delisting of the Company. After the Delisting, the Beoard continued to recognise the importance of gender
diversity and as at the date of this Strategic Report, the Board of the Company was comprised of two women and

four men
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Organisational structure and succession planning

Since an interim Group Chief Executive Officer was in place at the start of 2019, the Board undertook an exercise
to review the capabilities of the senior management team and whether the organisatonal sfructure was appropriate
to execute the Group's sirategy and grow the business, whiist deoing so in a prudent way that would serve to
minimise the principal nsks and uncertainties facing the Group Shareholder feedback on the Group's management
team was received and noted by the Directors. Taking into account that feedback and the needs of the Group, the
Nominations Committee developed a role profile for the next permanent Group Chief Executive Officer and
commenced a search to fill the role Intemal candidates were considered as well as external ones, and several
premium axecutive search agencies were consulted during this process. However, given the recent changes to
the management team. the Nominations Committee members determined that the intenm Group Chief Executive
Officer at the tme, Tan Kian Seng. helped to provide stability and continuity to the management team and that it
was important not to rush the appomtment Also, in late 2018 and earty 2019, based on the succession planning
conducted by the Board, some key gaps within the senior executive team were filled, including the appointment of
a new g'cbal head of Human Resources and the appointment of Kieran Twomey as the Group Chief Operating
Officer. Then, following the privatisation of the Company the :nterim Group CEQ decided to retire and the senior
management structure of the Group was rationalised and streamlined with the formation of a new, smaller
Executive Committee, comprised of two Executive Directers, Kwek Leng Beng and Kwek Eik Sheng as well as Mr
Twomey, to help drive operational efficiency and excellence

The competitiveness of the Group’s business

The Oirectors considered commentary from various stakeholders, including the Company's shareholders and its
customers, and examined different business models in an effort to improve the performance of the Group and offer
its customers service. brand and product offerings more closely aligned with their expectatons. The Board
determined that in cerain locations and for certain types of properties within the Group’s portfolio, a third party
management or affiiation model would provide a more compelling guest expenence and distribution offering  As
mentioned above, this resulted in, among other things, the repositioning of certain of the Group's strategic assets,
such as the canversion of the Millennium Mayfair Hotel Landon to the Biltmore, Mayfair, which s operated by Hilton
under its new LXR Hotels & Resorts Juxury hotel collection and reopened in September 2019, the commencament
and/or completion of several other refurbishment projects, and the execution in May 2019 of an affiliation
arrangement with Hilton in respect of the Millennium Times Square New York. The Group will continue to explore
alternative business models, on an asset-by-asset basis, throughout the course of 2020,

Impact of the Group’s business on the environment and the communities in which we operate

During the year. the Board received several presentations and updates on the Group's sustainability initiatives.
These included the following-

First, in recognition of the Group's sustainability efforts in 2019, in January 2020 the Company received a very
respectabie score of "B* by the Carbon Disclosure Project (*CDP"), a not-for-profit charity that operates a global
disclosure system for investors, companies, cibes. states and regions to manage ther environmental impacts In
terms of CDP rankings, this scare put the Group ahead of many of its peers

Second, in March 201g, the Science Based Target initiative approved the Company's Science Based Target
submission, which had been reviewed and approved by the Board in December 2018 and included a target to
reduce the Group’s Scope 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse gas emissions by 27% by 2030, using 2017 as the base year.
Science Based Targets are targets that are developed in conunchion with the Science Based Target initiative,
based on the latest ciimate science and standards adopted as part of the "Paris Agreement” approved at the 2015
United Nations Climate Change Conference held in Pans, France, and are intended to limit global warming to well-
below twa degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels

Third, in May 2019, the Board considered and adopted the Group’s annual supply chain trangparency statement.
In accordance with the Modern Siavery Act 2015, the Company produces an annual statement, that can be found
at hitps.#investors. millenmiumhotels com/corporate-responsibility/supply-chain-transparency-statement, detaihng
the steps taken by the Company and its subsidiaries over the pravicus year, and the steps the Group intends to
take over the coming year, to prevent stavery and human trafficking occurring in our business and supply chains

Fourth, in November 2019, members of the Board and senior management received a presentation an the findings
of, and endorsed the general recommendations arising from, energy savings audits of several of the Group's UK
hoteis pursuant to the second phase of the mandatory Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme promulgated by the
UK government's Department far Business. Energy & Industrial Strategy. While the recommendations will require
some capital Investment, if implemented, they are expected to praduce material efficiencies and cost savings for
the Group's UK hotel estate.
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Finally, in the first quarter of 2020, management intends to launch an updated set of sustainability policies and
elective initiatives, which collectively are known as “‘Responsible Hospitality", following a previous sustainability
audit of the Group's owned and operated hotels. These policies and initiatives, which have been endorsed by the
Board, focus on the following key areas and are intended to help our hotels improve their sustainability efforts

» reduaing waste, laundry activity, water usage, energy and greenhouse gas emissions

*  promobting more sustainable procurement activities.

* employee training and engagement on the impact on the environment of the Group's operations: and

. supporting our community

Management anticipate conducting future sustainability audits to review the effectiveness of the Responsible
Hospitahty policies and initiatives and to help to foster healthy competition among the hotels and regions

The Group's sustainability programme, which is more fully outlined in the Company’s Corporate Responsibility
Report located at https #/invastors millenniumhotels.com/corporate-responsibility, supports the interests of all of its
stakeholders, incluging 1ts shareholders, its customers, its employees its suppliers, the communities in which the
Group operates and even regulators The Directors recognised that the Group does not operate :n a vacuum and
that in order for the businass to grow and prosper over the long temn, the business must be conducted in a
sustainable way

The Final Offer and subsequent Delisting of the Company, as well as the subsequent integration of the
Group within CDL

When the Final Offer was made. the Company's Independent Non-Executive Directors formed an independent
committee of the Board to consider the affer and whether s terms were fair and reasonable and recommendable
to shareholders. The views of the Company s shareholders were considered and legal and financial advisors were
consulted In addition, the Directors also took inta account the impact of the Final Offer and subsequent Delisting
on the business and employees of the Group and sought certain protections from the Offeror in that regard.

Based on the value of the Final Offer and the ability of investors to realise that value over the medium term under
the then current ownership structure, the execution risk associated with the Group's strategy in hght of the
Company’s management capabilities, the views of shareholders {as evidenced. in some cases, by undertakings to
accept the Final Offer provided by certain key shareholders) as well as intention statements made by the Offeror
and CDL in respect of the Group's business and employees, including certain protections provided in respect of
certain employment, pension and share scheme rights. The reasoning behind the Independent Committee’s
recommendation, including the interests that were taken into account by the Directors when assessing the Final
Offer, is described in more detail in the offer document that was published on 15 August 2019

Over the course of the year, representatives of the Board as well as members of the Group’'s senior executive
team, met with or spoke to many of the Group's top institutional shareholders regarding beth the Group's
governance regime and the effectiveness of its operations. Often these interactions occurred on a one-gn-one
basis. 50 a constructive dialogue could be had. The Group also held an investor presentation in February 2019,
following the reiease of the Campany's 2018 financial results, and Directors had a chance to meet with investors
at its Annual General Meeting in May 2019. The Directors’ Report further describe the ways in which the Board
and senior management team engaged with employees, supphers and other stakeholders dunng the year.

Following the Delisting In October 2019, the Caompany's Independent Directors stepped down and new Directors
joined the Board of the Company Whilst the Company no longer has any minonty shareholders, since it is fully
owned by subsidianies of CDL, engagement with the Company’s other stakeholders remains a priority for the Board,
and the Directars will look for ways to improve its stakehotder understanding and engagement in 2020
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BUSINESS REVIEW

GROUP RESULTS

In constant currency, hotei revenue increased by £2m or 0 2% Reported hotel revenue in 2018 increased by £21m
or 2 4% with the impact from a weaker pound sterling against the Group's main trading currencies, Group RevPAR
increased by 0 &% in constant currency

In constant currency. total revenue for the year increased by £6m or 0.6%. Reported total revenue for 2019
mncreased by £28m or 2 8% to £1,025m (2018 £897m).

Pre-tax profit for 2019 decreased by £4m to £102m (2018 £106m) and included net valuation and imparrment
charges cof £34m (2018 £386m) After removing the effects of impairment losses and net revaluation gains, the
Group's reported profit before tax was £136m (2018 £142m).

HOTEL OPERATIONS

The refurbishment work of the Mayfair hotel in London started duning the fourth quarter of 2017 on a phased basis
with parhial closures of guest rcoms The property was then fully closed in July 2018 to facilitate on-going
refurbishment work. {t re-opened in September 2019 Total project cost is around £60m

The Group's New Yark hotels are stil! loss making. The Group’s revenue recovery strategy for Millennium Times
Square New York (formerly the Millennium Broadway New York Times Square) whereby the hotel joined Hilton as
an affiliate with access to its reservation channeis and loyalty programme, has yet to show significant improvement
in its trading performance. Broadway implemented a urion buyout casting about US$1 2m in 2019 and 1t also
incurred about US$2 2m on other union related costs

DEVELOPMENTS

The Sunnyvale California project comprises the constructon of a 263-room hotel and a 250-unit residential
apartment block on 35,7 17m? mixed use freehold landsite. The ground-breaking ceremony was held on 16 Cctober
2018 and the projectis scheduled to complete in Q1 2021 The construction cost 1s estimated at US$180m (£139m)
The residental apartment block commenced construction in July 2019, The hotel is currently planned t¢ be branded
as a M Social to fit with the expected quest profile The Group hopes to capitalise from the location of this project
as Sunnyvale is the headgquarters ot many technuloyy companies ang is part of Califnmia's high-tech area of Silicon
Valley Construction has commenced and the project is expected to complete in the next two years

No further progress on the architecture and engineering designs in relation to the construction of a 300-rcom hotel
and a 250-unit serviced apartment complex on Yangdong development land, situated adjacent to Millennium Seoul
Hilton. Rewview is still on-going to ensure efficiency it the design with minimum basement excavation gue to the
challenging surrounding site and soll conditions Total construction cost is anticipated to be around KRW130b
{£86m). The start date 1s not expected to be earlier than in 2021

HOTEL REFURBISHMENTS

Current major on-going phased refurbishment includes Millennium Hotel Paris Opera (£5m), Millennium Gloucester
Hotel London Kensington (£12m) and Millennium Hilton New York One UN Plaza (£3m)}.

ACQUISITIONS

On 1 February 2018, the Group acquired The Waterfront Hotel in New Plymouth, New Zealand. for a purchase
cohsideration of NZ$11m {£6m). The iconic 42-rogm hotel was rebranded a Millennium hote! in Q2 of 2018.

0On 27 November 2018 CDL Hospitality Trust (*CDLHT"} acquired 85 0% of the shares and voting interest in Event
Hospitakty Group (Il BV which wholly owns Event Hospitality Group [I( ftaly SRL. sole shareholder of NKS
Haspitality 1!l for a purchase consideration of €33m (£29m). NKS Hospitality Il SR is the legal owner of “Hotel
Cerretani Florence, MGallery by Sofitel’ and the fixtures, furniture and equipment theren.

There were no acquisihons dunng 2019
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DISPOSALS

Copthorne Hotel Birmingham

In December 2013 the Group entered into various commercial arrangements with Bimmingham City Council and
Paradise Circus Limited Partnership, the developer of Birmingham's Paradise Circus redevelopment scheme
("PCLP"), now known as Paradise Birmingham, as a result of a compulsory purchase order by Birmingham City
Council that covered the Copthorne Hotel Birmingham and other properties in its vicinity. Those arrangements
include put and call options that provide for the sale of the existing hotel to PCLP for £17.2m Currently, the Group
continues to own and operate the hotel until such time as one of those options is exercised The arrangements
also included a call option for the Group to acquire an alternate site in the scheme for the development of a new
250-room hotel. in December 2018, the Group exercised that option, subject to the parties agreemng to the
preliminary design and costing for the new hotel and the execution of a development agreement by the parties. As
the parties had not entered into the development agreement by the required deadline, on 2 Apnl 2020 the Group
terminated its option to acquire the alternative site and as a resuit, that option is no longer valid.

Millennium Hotel Glasgow

in March 2017 Scottish Ministers approved a compulsary purchase order impacting the Millennium Hotel Glasgow
pursuant to which Netwark Rall Infrastructure Limited ("Network Rail'} subsequently acguired and demaolished the
1970s-built, 51-room extension of the hotel as part of the redevelopment of Queen Street Station. In November
2018 Network Rail paid to the Group, on a without prejudice basis, an interim compensation payment of £2 52m
Negotiatons are ongoing with Network Rail regarding the full level of compensation payable to the Group 1n
connaction with the taking If the parties are unable to agree a value, the matter will be settled at the Lands
Tabunal  Meanwhile, the Group continues to consider its ophons with respect to the refurbishment and
repositioming of the existing hotel

Millennium Cincinnati

A previously announced by the Company, effective as of 1 July 2019 a subsidiary of the Company entered into a
purchase and sale agreement ("PSA") with a Cincinnati-based development company for the sale to the purchaser
or its designee of the Group's interest In the Millenmum Cincinnat hotel  The purchaser subsequeantly assigned its
interest in the PSA to The Port of Greater Cincinnati Development Authority and completion of the sale, which was
subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, completed on 14 February 2020 Refer to Note 36 of the financial
statements for further detal

CDLHT

During Q1 2018, CDLHT disposed of its investment in two botels in Australia, the Mercure Brisbane and Ibis
Brisbane for A$77m (£45m) generating a profit of £3m.

On 21 November 2019, COLHT announced its proposed disposal of Novotel Singapore Clarke Quay. Accordingly,
the propesty with a totat carrying value of S$160m (£91m) was classified as asset held for sale in the statement of
financial position as at 3t December 2019 The disposal 1s expected to be completaed in 2020.

COoviD-19

The novel corcnavirus, COVID-19, is having a material impact on the Group’s operations and, in particular, its
hospitality operations. The lockdowns and social distancing guidelines and requirements in Europe, the US, Asia
and Australasia, as well as the travel restrictions in various jurisdichons, have resulted in hotel closures and, where
hotels remain open, significantly low occupancy levels This has resuited in significantly lower revenue and profit
since the end of 2019 and continues to affect the Group's performance.

Whilst the full financial /mpact of the pandemic ¢n the current financial year ending 31 December 2020 is impossibie
to predict with @ high degree of certainty. we have considered a range of scenarios to understand the potential
impact on our business and have implemented appropriate mitigation measures, including the consideration of
alternative customer segments and revenue opportunities, such as housing patients and supporting healthcare and
ather essental workers, as well as the :/mplementation of robust cost control measures.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We Use a set of carefully selected key performance indicators ("KPIs") 1o momtor our success. These KPIs are

used to measure the Group's progress year-on-year against those strategic priorities, and are set out below:

GROWTH

To achieve profitable growth and improved asset returns for ocur hospitahty business
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The ES'Faup believes that the KPIs provide useful and necesﬁs_a_;y“ information on the underlying trends
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COST CONTROL

To ensure costs remain in ing with revenue movements through a decentrabised model, technological
enhancements to drive efficiencies and rigorous monitornng of spending

Operating Profit Profit before tax
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and are used by the Group for internal performance analysis. Given the decentralised model of the
Group, regional management focuses on operational KPis. These include customer feedback, hotel
gross operating profit and staff retention. General Managers report their operating KPis to Regionat

Managers on a regular basis with the comparison numbers for the local competitive set of each hotel.

The hotel performance numbers are then consclidated into regional and Group-wide figures.

: The Group has a flexible and robust business"ﬁ_%baéi_t_ﬁé"fééﬁé;a{és profit predominately through its

! engage third party operators on a selective basis to manage our brand assets that we own We also .

portfalic of owned and managed hospitality assets. These assets are diversified by brand, market,
geography and customer offering according to what we judge to be the most appropriate means of

optimising their earnings. We aim to hold our assets for the long term, especially those in key gateway |

cities. We employ complementary business models in centain circumstances. For example, we may

. may operate through a licensing mode}, through joint ventures or through arrangements where we .

manage hotels on behalf of other third party owners. We regard the flexibility of cur business models

. @s an essential strength in a varied and rapidly changing global hospitality market.

Qur strategy is lo maximise returns on shareholder’s capital through the ownership and operation of
hospitality assets in key gateway cities and other prime locations across the world that naturally attract
large numbers of business and leisure traveilers. Underpinning this strategy are the twin aims of
operational excellence and pruden! asset management. We seek to increase returns through quality
service and efficient operations—by developing our people, processes and technology—as well as
through investment in the material fabric of our hotel estate. We also look to grow the business through
asset acquisition in strategic locations.
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OUR RISKS

Funanc,al and operational nsks are an inherent part of conducting business in a challenging and dynamic business
envircnment. Many of our principal nsks will be the same risks faced by similar businesses in the hospitality
industry

In this section, we describe the principal risks and uncertainties that could affect the Group's ability to deliver
against its strategy together with the controls and nsk management framework (n place to mitgate such risks

Management of risk

The Group’s risk management framework has been developed o ahgn with the best practice risk management
standard ISO 31000. The framewaork consists of a group risk management process for standardized assessment,
reporting and momtoring of risks to ensure a robust and consistent standard in line with the Group's nsk appetite.
Under the Group's nsk management framework, there are three levels of risks. L evel 1 risks represent the principal
risks that are monitored closely at Beard leve! Level 2 risks are those within the areas of responsibility of the
regional and functional heads. Finally, Level 3 risks encompass hotel-level and praject-specific risks

The Board have established a clear organizational structure far the management of these nsks in the Group. with
well-defined roles and responsibilites The Board retains overall responsibility and accountability for the
effectiveness of the nsk management framework and internal contro! systems

Supporting the Board, the Group Management Risk Committee has accountability for ensuring effective risk
management at the operational level in line with the Board-approved risk appetite imits. The Group Management
Risk Committee 1s led by the Group Chief Operating Officer

To support this structure, a Global Director of Compliance and Risk Management was appointed to work with the
Group Management Risk Committee and the business to help strengthen and further embed the Group's regulatory
compliance ang enterprise nsk management framework As risks continue to evoive and grow in complexty, so
too do our risk management processes, ensuring continual imprevement, and growth in the organisation's risk
matunty. Work on these initiatives will continue over the course of 2020

Risk Management Framewaork

Board Risk

Level 1 Profile

Functional

Regional
Level 2 Risk Profiles

Y T LLLLLI T VetmssmsdassEmEvar PPPPePrT T PP I — P,

Risk Profilas

Project Risk Hotel Risk ProjectRisk
Profiles Profiles Profiles

11
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Governance Structure

City Developments Limited (CDL)
Audit & Risk Cominittee
Responable for assexssing and moniionng the principal rishs and resicwing
the cltectiveness ot the internal control, inancial reporting and risk
munagernent stems within the CDEL group of companics

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited

Board of Dircctors
Oneerall aceountabilits for steategic risk management and setiing risk appetite

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels 1imited
Management Risk Commitiee
Operationad accountability for the management and control of risks and the
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in the following table we have identified the key risks that are regarded as the most relevant for the Group The
principal risks should be viewed as the nsks that we see as being material to our business at this time.

The foliowing table includes a description of each risk and how it could impact the business. a summary of controis
and mitigating activities being undertaken and the ‘trend’ for the risk. This trend represents the forward-looking view
of the net nsk exposure for each risk, taking into account changes in the external risk envirenment and the Group's
internal mitigation activities. The risks have been loosely categorised as being strategic, tactical or operational in
nature

The order in which risks are presented below is not indicative of the relative potenta! wmpact to the Group. The
risks may, to varying degrees, impact the Group’s revenues, profits, net assets, operations, guests, employees,
partners and/or reputation.

Not all potential risks are Iisted below some nsks have been excluded because the Board does ncot consider them
to be material to the Group's long-tem strategy, performance or viability. In general, the diversity and geographicat
spread of the Group's assets provide natural hedges against many of the principal risks identified below and our
processes aim to provide reasonable, rot absolute, assurance that the prnincipal nisks that are significant to our
business have been identified and addressed Additionally, there may be nsks that are not reascnably foreseeable
as at the date of this report.

The outbreak of the novel coronavirus, COVID-19, in late 2019 and early 2020 has given nse to a senous global
health cnsis and this has impacted the travel and hospitality sectors and the Group in particular. We have taken
steps to help mitigate the risks associated with the outbreak, including updating the Group’s regionalised crisis
response plans in line with guidance issued by health authorities. such as the World Health Qrgamzation and local
governmental authorities, and developing new business continuity plans tailored to COVID-19

The well-being of our guests, colleagues and other stakeholders i1s our top prionty and we have implemented robust
precautionary measures, including an enhanced cleaning and sanitization programme, to help ensure that our
hoteis and corporate offices remain safe places to visit. The management team will continue to be vigilant and
closely monitor the latest developments and guidance about the outbreak, and implement further mitigating
measures as necessary.
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Risk | Potential Impact Mitigation Activities ] Trend
Strategic Risks
Revenue Keeping abreast of digital = The Group continues to refresh its 2>
channel transformation and online competition digital marketing strategy and invest in
optimisation is critical given the growing proportion Its e-commerce, customer relatonship
ang cost of of the Group's hotel rooms being management, revenue management
sale booked onling. Oniine travel and reservations systems in order to
agencies {"OTA”) tend to have higher help increase rates, retain existing
commission rates compared to customers and generate new
traditional travel agents and are taking business.
an increasing share of bookings = Fundamental to the Group’s
across the sector. Over kime, distribution strategy is growing brand
consumers may develop ioyaltes to recogrition and loyalty along with
the OTAs rather than to the Group’'s increasing direct channel baokings. In
brands These trends may impact the 2019, the Group continued to enhance
nsing cost of sale ultimately affecting its brand webstte and launched a
profitability Cther costs related to revamped loyalty programme
metasearch engines and tools that « The Group is aggressively managing
help direct online traffic towards our its portfolio of distribution channe)
own websites are increasing. On the partners, including established OTAs
supply side, shanng economy and new, niche or local players, to
ptatforms, such as Airbnb, may optimise revenue, gain access to new
expand theirr market share and customers and minimize commission
compete with more tradticnat costs
business and feisure « The Group selectively affiliates with
accommodatons international hotet chains with respect
to certain properties where It has been
determined that doing s¢ would help to
optimize management and/or
distribution capabilities. ]
Brand equity | Brand equity and customer loyalty >
and influence consumer choice « The Group has in place brand standards
customer Understanding customer needs, ciear that are designed to maintain a level of
loyalty and consistertt communication and the product consstency based on the brand
delvery of quality products and collection to which a particular hotel
services that meet those customer belongs whiist allowing flexibihty in order
' needs are all critical elements of to maintain the personality of the
. fostering brand equity and lcyalty. property The brand standards capture
the key messaging behind each of the
Further, the Group’s ability to protect its Group's brands.
intelliectual property nghts in its brands +  Toraise the profile of our brands and to
1s fundamental to delivering on these help build brand equity, marketing
endeavors. Competition is fierce, and campaigns are highly targeted and often
the Group's scale and marketing leverage strategic partnerships such as
expenditure cannot match those of Qur partnership with Chelsea Football
larger competitors. Generally, the Club A newly redesigned loyalty
Group operates propertes which it programme was launched in 2019
. owns and therefore is able to exerase « Investment continues to be made in
| control over the service and product protecting the Group's brands from
| quality of those hotels. Failure to create misuse and infrngement, by way of
brand equity and customer loyalty could trademark registrations, enforcement of
affect the pace of future revenue intellectual property rights and domain
growth as well as the pricing power, name protechon The Group utiises third
image and reputatian of the Group party online brand monitonng and
prolecton agencies ta assist with the
Group's enforcement activities.
Tactical Risks
tnvestment 7 The Group's hotels require « The Group continues to develop >
and asset investment, typically in cycles of minor property spectfic refurbishment plans,
management | and major refurbishments, ta maintain which focus on the ¢apital expenditure
their competitiveness Refurbishment requirements of each property in terms
projects invanably impact on of regular maintenance and product
revenues, particularly when major enhancement to help ensure the
L renovations require the hotel ta be products remain competitive These
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Risk | Potential Impact Mitigation Activities Trend
" closed for extended periods. Also, plans generally are developed by the
| refurbishment projects or other capital hotel management teams and reviewed
' projects may overrun on bme and and approved at the Group level
! costs or may not deliver the expected « Refurbishment projects typically are
retums on investment The size of phased in order to minimise their impact
investment and appropnate allocation on revenues Where it s justified, a
of hmited rescurces across a diverse decision to fully close and reopen a hotel
portfolio are also key considerations after renovation can be taken, in order to
The ability of the Group to make the help repostion the hotel for instance
right investment decisions at the nght * With regard to large-scale captal
time, and devote appropriate projects, such as the Sunnyvale
resources to its investment California mixed-use development, the
programme, 18 crucial to enabiing Yangdong development in Seoul
long-term, profitable growth dedicated project managers and cost
consultants are engaged to help oversee
the projects and track spending aganst
approved budgets
e A global head of capital projects and
technical services 1s supported by
reqgional asset management resources
and helps to oversee the Group's capital
investment and other asset
: management intiatives,
Competiticn, | The hotel industry operates within an s The diverse nature of the Group’s L)l
trading and inherently cyclical sector, where portfolio, both geographically and in
market . competition, both online and offine. respect of its breadth of brands, prowdes
factors "is ingreasing. The growth of room a natural hedge against vanous external
supply, without corresponding risks. Since the Group has a
, increases in demand, may lead to concentration of hotels in key gateway
- downward pressure on rates, which cites such as London, Singapore and
| in tum could negatively impact the New York, to benefit from comporate and
| Group's perfformance. The lersure travel, the management team
hospitality industry also is seeing a keeps a close watch on iocal events in
degree of consolidation in pursuit of those locations. Also, the Group
scale and the benefits associated maintains a flexible operating structure
with it. that aliows it to align its sales and
marketing activities and spend to target
In addition, trading can be directly relevant customer segments and adapt
affected by localised events—such to changing hosp+ality trends
as natural catastrophes, country or s« Colleagues in the Group’s Treasury
regional geo-political matters—as team monitor and address treasury
well as global. macro-economic matters, including investment and
trends wmpacting travel and hotel counterparty risks, in accordance with
stays. the Group's treasury policy.
= Foreign exchange exposure s pnmanly
Finalty, the Group operates n managed through the funding of
numerous junsdictions and trades in purchases and repayment of borrowings
{ vanous intemational curencies but from income generated in the same
' reporis its financial results in pounds cumency.
| sterling Fluctuations i currency * Interest rate hedges and fixed-rate
| exchange rates and inferest rates may lending facilites are used from time to
be either accretive or dilutive to the time to manage interest rate risks.
Group's reported trading results and
| net asset value Unhedged interest
rate exposures pose a risk, {oo. Rising
interest rates may result in increased
borrowing costs and impact the
Group's profits.
Operational Risks
Talent Hospitality is a people business. The « The Group has strong regiona! and local +»
management | Group's brands and ability to deliver management structures underpinned by
and consistent service quality are a common commitment to ensuring a
succession dependent onits ability to attract, rewarding and empowernng work

develop and retain employees with

environment. This is further supported by
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environments, present heightened risks
of attacks affecting the cpesation of
those systems and networks and/or a
potential loss or misuse of confidential

. or proprietary informaton The

occurrence of a cyber secunty event or
loss of data could disrupt business, the
ability of the Group to take or fulfil
bookings or lead to reputational and

Software systems are regularly updated
o allow for the latest security updates
and patches ta be installed

Where the Group outscurces cntical
information technology systems,
incluging its point of sale and property
management systems, the Group
utilises reputable suppliers that have

Risk | Potential impact Mitigation Activities Trend
! the appropriate skills, experience performance management and
. and aptitude Generally in the recognition systems, compensaton and
industry, fronttine employees are benefits programmes. e.g , bonus plans,
prone 1o higher ievels of turnover service reward programmes, share
Also. with the growth in room supply, plans, and intemal and extemal training
demand and consumer choice and development programmes.
globally it becomes increasingly The Group strives to provide intemal
important for aperators to be able to talent with opportunities for development
find and retain senior leaders who and advancement as a matter of pnority
inspire and motivate staff Failure of The Company’s Board of Directors and
the Group to properly plan for the Its executive management committee
recruitment and succession of key supported by the Group's Human
management roles may impact Resources function, are tasked with
service quality, consistency and/or ensunng that proper succession ptans
delay the execution of the Group's are in place for key members of the
strategies. senior management team.
The Group is keeping on top of
Not unigue to the Group, a developments relating to the UK's exit
considerable proportion of hotel staff from the European Union as they unfold,
N the UK, and particularly in London, and management are continuing to
originate from European Union rewview the potential impact of these
countries. The ability of the Group to developments. A 'Brexit Steenng Group’
retain appropriate staff. as well as has been established to ensure the
the cost of doing so, may be Group considers all potential matenai
impacted by the UK's exit from the nsks associated with an exit and that
Eurcpean Union appropriate mitigation strategies have
been developed This allows the Group
to remain nimble and ready to respond
‘ to different issues and scenarios
o]
Health. The healith, safety and securty of The Group has health, safety and 2>
safety and guests, wsitors and employees is a environmental management systems in
sacurity fundamental expectation and there is place. which include policies,
a breadth of regulatery requirements procedures, testing, self and third-party
acress different jurisdictions relating to audits, training and reporting. Wherg
health and safety matters. Failure to possible, these seek to align with the
implement and maintain sufficient requirements of best practice accredited
controts regarding health and safety systems {e.g . OHSAS 18001). By
issues could result in senous injury or following these standards, the Group
loss of ife, lead to regulatory sinves to work to the highest standards
mnvestigations and expose the Group of health and safety
te significant clams, sanctions or Management proactively monitors
fines. both ¢ivil and ¢cnminal, as well geopotitical developments and seeks to
as reputatonal damage identify emerging risks at the earliest
opportunity to ensure clear roles and
Whilst health and safety matters often responsibilites. intemal controls and
are local to a particutar venue or other steps 1o nunimize these exposures
location, security concems can be to the greatest extent possible
affected by global geopolitical events.
information Increasing reliance on online distribution The Group's regional Informaticn *
security, channeis and transactions over the Technolegy ('1T") teams conduct
vulnerability intermet and mobile applications, and periodic security and penetration testing,
o cyber- the aggregation and storage of guest often using external consultants, and
attacks ang and cther information electronically, any recommendations or
PCI-DSS both on company-controlied servers enhancements are iImplemented where
compliance | and networks and in cloud-based necossary.




Risk Potential Impact Mitigation Activities Trend |
monetary damages, litigation or industry-standard or best-in-class data
regulatory fines. securty protocols.
The regional IT t2ams have developed
in addition, various aspects of the disaster recovery plans and gukies with
Group’s operations are required to regard to their high-priority systems that
achieve compliance with the need tc be up-and-running, and tests are
payment card industry security conducted on select mission-critical
standardgs ("PCI-DSS"), and failure to systems annually to venfy their
do so could result in penaities and/or recoverability offsite.
withdrawal of credit card payment A new global information securty policy
facilities. was rolled out in 2019 and other {7
policies and procedures were updated
over the course of the year to reflect the
latest standards and requirements.
Legal and The Group operates in many The Group continues to monitor 4
regulatory jurisdictions and is expased to the risk regulatory changes in the jurisdictions in
compliance of noncompliance with increasingly which it oparates in order to identify its

complex statutory and regulatory
requirements, including compehtion
law, anti-bribery and corruption and
data privacy compliance regimes.
Non-compliance with such regulations,
which differ by jurisdiction and are
areas of increasing focus by
regulators, could result in fines and/or
other damages, including reputational
damage, being incurred, particularly in
the event a data breach should occur.

In addition, the Group has ¢ontractual
relationships in place with varicus
counterparties, including customers,
suppliers, employees and other
parties, and provides goods and
services to customers. As such, a
breakdown in any of these
retationships could lead to disputes
and ultimately litigation, which in tum
could give rise to reputational
damages, management distraction
andfor the Company having to incur
significant costs or damages,
particularly where claims are not
insured or are not fully insured

In certain countnes where the Group
operates, particularly in emerging
markets, local practices and the legal
environment may be such that
enforcement of the Group's legal rights
15 challenging.

obligations and implement appropnate
compliance and fraining programmes.
The Group has comprehensive global
and, where applicable, regional policies
and procedures in place to address
competition law, data privacy, ethical
business conduct, whistle-blowing, anti-
cormuption and bribery, gifts and
hospitality and charitable donations,
among others.

The Group maintains in place industry
standard insurance cover to mitigate
many potential kitigation risks, such as
employment practices liability, workers
compensation and general liability
policies.

The Group has controls in place o
manage and help mitigate the risks
associated with its various contractual
refationships, from execution through to
termination, insured and uninsured
litigation and other disputes. Regular
litigation reports are provided to the
Board.

A dedicated Global Director Risk and
Compliance is tasked with enhancing the
Group's compliance and nsk
management efforts.
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STATEMENT OF GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS’ REPORT

From the period between 1 January 2019 and 11 October 2019, when the Delisting occurred, the Company
operated as a public company with a premium histing on the London Stock Exchange

Prior to the Final Offer, the Company applied the principies of the UK Corporate Governance Code (July 2018
edition) (the "2018 Code”). However, ance the Final Offer was made in June 2019, many of the initiatives
commenced to enhance the Company’s corporate governance regime in order to comply with the 2018 Code were
put on hold by the Directors as the Company's ownership and governance structures would undergo significant
changes in the event the Final Offer were to complete  Following completion of the Final Offer as a result of the
Delisting, resignation of the Independent Non-Executive Directors and disbanding of the Board's committees, the
Company ceased to apply the principles of the 2018 Code and instead implemented a more-streamiined
governance structure as the Board worked on integrating the Company within the wider CDL group The Board
will continue to review and refine its governance arrangements, to betier align them with CDL’s structure, whilst
being mindful that a successfut gavernance regime must provide far an agile and empowered organization and
foster accountability to stakeholders and transparency.

Hong Leang Investment Holdings Pte Ltd ("HLIH") is considered to be the immediate and ultmate holding company
of COL. CDL, in turn, owns and controls 100% of the share capital of the Company through several of its subsidiary
companias.

Although the Group is not reporting against the 2018 Code for its 2019 financial year. the Board has decided to
report on its governance arrangements following the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private
Companies {December 2018 edition).

Purpose and Leadership

The strategy and business model for the Company are outlined in the Strategic Report on page 10. Our wision IS
to be the leading global hospitality reai estate ownership group for gateway cities, with effective, in-built and unigue
asset management skills Our commitment 18 {0 hospitality and creating memorable expenences 1n distinctive
environments. We strive to recognise not anly the faces of our guests, but also their indwvidual needs and desires.

To do this, we will need to deliver outstanding service, quality, onginality and value to our customers by employing
and developing the best people and by having a challenging and forward thinking business culture. Fundamentally,
we treat our guests, employees and other stakeholders with respect and integnty.

As part of the Group's integration within CDL following the Delisting, the Board has decided to adopt CDL's values,
set out below, as they are consistent with the ethos of the organization and the adoption of them within the Company
will hetp to ensure alignment of values across the wider CDL group.

Innovation — Because this 1s crucial 10 our success
Collaboration — Because this is the best way to achieve exponential results
integrity — Because this 15 at the core of everything that we do

In 2020, the Board intends to review the ways In which the purpose and values are embedded throughout the
organisation. As part of this review, the Board will examine the culture of the Company and will seek to reinforce
a culture of accountability where employees take into account the views of, and are responsible to, the Company’s
stakeholders, including our guests and customer, other employees, supplers, the communities in which we
operate.

Whilst the Company engages with its employees and other stakeholders, as outlined further in this Directors’ Report
and elsewhere, the Board also will lock for ways to improve its stakeholder engagement going forward This may
involve the mmplementation of a global intranet, for instance, and more frequent communications from the
management team

The Group has elected to participate in CDL's group-wide whistieblowing programme. This allows employees to
raise serous matters of concem—via email or a dedicated whistleblowing hothne—through an independent
channel, being CDL's Internal Audit function. This programme is, 1n turn, overseen by the Audit & Risk Committee
of CDL. In addition, the Group's Slavery and Human Trafficking statement, which is updated annually, includes a
method for suppliers to raise matters of concern for investigation by the company (via email to
supplychain@rmllenniumhoteis. co uk).

18
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Board Composition

The current governance structure of the Company, as at the date of this Directors’ Repost, includes a Board of
Directors comprised of six Directors Four of these, Kwek Leng Beng, Kwek Eik Sheng. Jonathan Grech and
Angela Ong, hold executive positions with the Company or a direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company and are
thus considered to be Executive Directors. Two Directors, Kwek Leng Peck and Tanya Chiaranussati, do not hold
executive positions within the Group although Mr Kwek does hold executive positions with HLIH and certain cfits
subsidiary companies.

The remit of the Board is ta oversee the running of the Group as stewards for the Company’s stakehalders. The
Board must ensure that there are adeguate resources in place 1o ensure effective and efficent operations,
underpinned by good governance, strong values and an ethical, safety -driven culture

It is anticipated that the Board will meet approximately three or four times per year, including, at a mmimum, one
meeting to approve the annual financial statements of the Group, one to approve the half-year results and one to
approve the annual budget and strategy or plan for the ensuing financial year, with the fourth meeting to be called
on an ad-hoc basis as required.

The Board is chared by Kwek Leng Beng, who served as the Non-Executive Chairman of the Company since its
fisting in 1996 through to its Delisting in October 2019. Given his experience and the fact that he also serves as
the Executive Chairman of CDL, his leadership helps to provide continuity to the Board as well as alignment of
decision making with CDL's strategic objectives. WWhilst there are no independent directors ¢n the Board, the
current mix of executive and non-executive roles, coupled with the diversity of the backgrounds and skillsets of the
Directars. 15 felt to promote constructive dialogue, and challenge when necessary, as well as effective decision
making

As noted in the Section 172(1) Statement, despite the Delisting of the Company, the Board cantinues to support
the aspiratons set out in the Hampton-Alexander Review, conducted by Sir Philip Hampton and the late Dame
Helen Atexander. which challenges FTSE 350 companies to achieve a target of one-third of Board positions to be
held by women by 2020 Currently, this standard is met as two out of the six Directors of the Company are female.
However, the Board not only believes that gender diversity is important, but the Directors recognise the benefils
and different perspectives that diversity in all of its forms—including diversity of age, ethnic origin, and culturat and
educational backgrounds—can bring to Board deliberations As such, these factors will be taken into account when
making future appointments or changes to the compaosition of the Board.

The day-to-day operation of the Group has been delegated 1o an Executive Committee, which includes Kwek Leng
Beng, Kwek Eik Sheng and Kieran Twomey. the Group Chief Operating Officer.  The regional and functional heads
repart into the Executive Committee members The Executive Committee provides regular reports to the Board,
including quarterly financial updates and updates on other significant matters, including material transactions,
significant igation, propasais to enter into new business tines or markets, strategic aliiances and s forth

A set of reserved matters, approved by the Board, governs what matters require approval by the Board versus
those that are delegated to the Executive Committee  The Executive Committee operates pursuant to formal terms
of reference.

The Board will continue to keep the composition and structure of the Board and its committees under review as we
progress with the CDL integration process.

Director Responsibilities

All Directors have access to the advice of the Company Secretary, whc is responsible for ensunng that proper
Board procedures and applicable corporate governance rules and regulations ara observed. In addihon, the
Directeors are able, if necessary, 10 take independent professional advice at the Company's expense.

Tha Chairman, in canjunction with the Company Secretary, is responsible for ensuring that Directors receive
appropriate training at the Company’s expense where specific expertise is required in the course of the exercise of
their duties All Directors receive a Board compendism detailing matters relating to Board procedures and their
duties as directors. A bespoke induction programme s established for any new Directors who are appointed, based
on their needs and expenence.

The Board has established agreed procedures for managing conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest
These procedures and any potential conflicts authorised in accordance with section 175 of the Companies Act
2006, as permitted by the Caompany’'s Articles of Association, are reviewed by the Board at least annually and other
potential conflicts are reviewed as they may anse from time to time The Board is satisfied that the procedures for
manageng potentiai conflicts remain effective
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As the Company integrates into the wider CDL group, the ways in which the Board and Executive Committee will
liaise with and report into CDL's decision-making bodies will be reviewed and refined, and the Directors intend to
develop and agree with COL a protocol governing these matters.

Opportunity and Risk

When assessing a potential business opportunity, 1n addition to assessing whether 1t 1s aligned with the strategic
priarities of the Group and its impact on the Group’s stakeholders, the Board also considers the risks associated
with the opportunity and whether 1t 15 lkely {0 create and preserve value over the long term  The Directors
understand that whilst the Group must remain nimbie and entrepreneunai tc tackle the challenges facing the
company and industry more generally, the Directors also are keenly aware that the Group must operate in a
sustainable manner in order to be successhul.

The areas over which the members of the Executive Commuttee have responsibility have been clearly defined
Kwek Eik Sheng, who also sits on the Board and serves as Group Chief Strategy Officer for COL, 15 tasked with
overseeing investments, special projects and development projects for the Group Mr Twomey, on the other hand,
focuses on the Group's operations, with the goals of driving organic top-line growth and implementing effective
cost control.

in terms of aversight, each year management prepares an annual strategic pian and budget for the Group for the
ensuing year These are submitted first the Executive Committee, for its review and approval, and then to the
Board for its consideration. Subseguently, the Executive Committee and Board review management’s progress in
executing against the strategic plan and budget. This process includes a gquartedy assessment of the Group's
performance and how it tracks against the pian and budget.

Additionally, a delegation of authority policy applies to the regional and functicnal heads and their reporting lines

This pahey includes different layers of approval for transactions and capital investments, such as the purchase or
sale of a hotel or a major refurbishment project, for instance, and other matters. In the case of capital investments,
the most material ones, invaolving an expenditure of $310m or more, must be escalated to the Executive Committee
of the Company Above this level, approval 1s required to be obtained at the CDL leve!

As noted above, decisions are not made in a vacuum. The Board is working on developing ‘risk appetite”
parameters to help guide its decision making and the decision making of the Executive Committee. A Management
Risk Committee, chaired by the Group Chief Operating Officer. sits below the Executive Committee and helps to
ensure that the Group has appropriate internal control and risk management systems in place to allow the
management team, and ultimately the Board, to monitor and assess the Group's principal risks and uncertainties
on a continual basis, to be informed about emerging risks, as and when appropnate, and to develop and institute
proporiionate measures and controls to mitigate these risks lo acceptable levels A Gilobal Director of Risk
Management & Compliance supperis the enterprise nsk management and globat compliance programme of the
Group and the Group's Internal Audit function, which has been merged into CEL's Internal Audit function and
reports to CDL's Audit & Risk Committee, regularly reviews the effectiveness of the Group's intemal control
environment, particularly in respect of the Group’s financial controls.

The operation of the Management Risk Cammittee 1s described further on page 11 of the Strategic Report.
Remuneration

The Group utilizes clear remuneration structures for its employees and Directors Positions are banded to provide
for consistency across similar-level positions whilst giving the management team sufficient flexibility to vary
remuneration arrangements in certain contexts in order attract or retain talent for key positions. To the extent
possible, the Company's incentive structures are aligned among the regions to provide for uniformity in the Group’s
performance management processes

Remuneration 1s based on personal performance and the performance of the Company, region, hotel and/or
business unit, depending on the role Generally, persona!l objectives and key financial performance targets are
agreed with an employee at the beginning of each year and are assessed by the employee’s supervisor at the end
of each year Objectives relating to achievement of satisfactory Internal Audit assessment scores have been added
to General Manager and Financial Controller bonus plans to incentivize the maintenance of adequate controls and
the management team is reviewing the addition of risk management and sustainability metrics to further strengthen
accountability to the Group's stakeholders. All historical share scheme awards include an element of vesting over
a period of at least three years and the Company's bonus plans and share scheme ruies include malus and
clawback provisions that can be utilized as necessary, all in an effort to align employee interests with the long-term
interests of the Company

in line with the Group's commitment to diversity, the management team is in the process of reviewing gender pay
gaps across the group and developing programmes, both in terms of recruiting and professionat development, to
heip close the gaps
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Prior to the Delisting of the Company, the Company had in place a shareholder approved remuneration poiicy in
accordance with the requirements of the Companes Act 2006  Pursuant to the 2018 Code and the new
requirement under the 2018 Code that remuneration committees should have responsibility for seting
remuneration for senior management, the Company's Remuneration Committee approved a separate
remuneration palicy for the direct reports to the Group Chief Executive Officer This policy was reviewed at the
time by the Company’s independent Remuneration Commiltee advisor, PricewaterhauseCoopers. Following the
Delisting of the Company, future awards will no longer be made under the Company's share schemes and the
schemes will be wound down However, CEL management are working with Company management to review the
Group's remuneration arrangements and replace the share scheme benefits with alternative remuneration
arrangements

Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement

The foliowing sections of this Annual Report and Accounts and the Group's 2019 Corporate Responsibility Reports,
published on its website (at hitps flinvestors millenniymhotels com/corporate-responsibility) describe how the
Company has engaged with its stakeholders over the course of the year and how it plans to continue to engage
with them in the future.

o Section | . Location
Section 172{1) Statement Pages 3 to 6 in the Strategic Report ]
Employee Involvement and Engagement with Empioyees | Page 23 of this Directors’ Report

Engagement with Suppliers, Customers and Othersin a
Business Relationship with the Company
Our Employees Corporate Responsibility Report

Page 24 of this Directors’ Report
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the Company. as well as the
independent auditor's report, for the year ended 31 December 2019,

Registered name and corporate status
(T)he Company is registered in England and Wales as a private limited company, under Company Number
3004377

During the course of the year, the Company was subject to a successful takeover offer by its controlling
shareholder, City Developments Limited {(“CDL"), and as a result, ceased operating as a public company. In June
2019, the Company, then operating as Millennium & Copthorne Hotets plc, and Agapier Investments Limited
{"Offeror"). a company indirectly and wholly-owned by CDL. announced a recommended pre-conditional final cash
offer by the Offercr ("Final Offer”) to acquire for 685 pence per share the entire issued and to be issued share
capial of the Company nct already held by CDL, its subsidiaries and persons acting in concert with them.

Following the successful completion of the Final Offer \n Septemper 2019, the listing of the Company's ordinary
shares on the premium sagment of the Official List and the admission to trading of the Company's shares on the
London Stock Exchange’'s main market for listed secunties were cancelied on 11 October 2019 (the “Deisting™).
As part of the Delisting, the independent Non-Executive Directors resigned and the Board's committees, including
its Audit & Risk Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nominations Committee were disbanded Subsequent
to the Delsting. the Company was then re-reqistered as a private imited company. under the name Millennium &
Copthorne Hotels Limited, on 4 November 2019 and by the end of November 2019, the Offeror completed the
procedure under the Companies Act 2006 to acquire compuisorily all remaiming shares in the Company such that
the Company became a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of CDL

Strategic report

The Strategic Report is found on pages 3 to 16. Pursuant to the Companies Act 2006, that report must provide a
fair review of the Company's business, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company. It includes an analysis of the development and performance of the Company's business during the year
and the position of its business at the end of the year, as well as a description of the Company's strategy and
business model

Board of Directors
The names of those who served as a Director of the Company during the course of the 2019 financial year include

Name Role Service Dates

Kwek Leng Beng

Non-Executive Ghairman | 1 January 2019 through 4 November 2019

Executive Chawrman 4 November 2019 through 31 December 2019

Kweak Leng Pack Non-Executive Director 1 January 2018 through 31 December 2019

Non-Executive Director 1 January 2019 through 11 October 2019

Alternate Non-Executive 11 October 2019 through 4 Navember 2019

Kwek Eik Sheng

Director

Executive Director

4 November 2019 through 31 December 2019

His Excellency Shaukat Aziz

Non-Executive Director

1 January 2019 through 11 October 2019

Martin Leitch

Non-Executive Director

1 January 2019 through 11 October 2019

Paola Bergamaschi Broyd

Non-Executive Director

21 March 2018 through 11 October 2019

Victoria Wilhams

Nan-Executive Director

10 May 2019 through 11 October 2019

Daniel Desbaillets

Non-Executive Director

1 January 2019 through 11 Qctober 2019

Christian de Charnacé

Non-Executive Director

1 January 2019 through 11 October 2019

Tanva Chiaranussati

Non-Executive Directar

4 November 2019 through 31 December 2019

Jonathon Grech

Executive Director

11 QOctober 2019 through 31 December 2018

David Hassan

Executive Diwector

11 Qctober 2019 through 4 November 2019

Angela Ong

Executive Director

11 QOctober 2019 through 31 December 2018

Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019.

Political donations and expenditure

No donations were made by the Group for political purposes and the Group did not incur any political expenditure
during the year (2018 f£rul). The Company operates a politically neutral policy with regard to any poltical donations
and expenditure it may elect to make. See the Group’s Corporate Responsibility Report, tocated at
htips //investors millenniumhotels com/corporate-responsibility, for details of the Company's non-palitical
charitable activities.
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Financial instruments

An indication of the Group's financial risk management objectives and policies in respect of the use of financial
instruments and exposure of the Company to price risk, credit risk, iquidity risk and cash flow risk are set out in
Note 22 to the Company's consolidated financial statements

Employment of disabled persons

We value highly the rich diversity of our colleagues around the world As of the end of 2018. the Group operated
in over 25 countries and employed gver 11,600 employees worldwide. The Company is an equal opportunities
empioyer and has an objective to ensure that ne employee or ather warker or job applicant recerves less favourabie
treatment. directly or indirectly. on the grounds of age, disability, gender reassignment, mantal or civl partner
status, pregnancy or maternity, race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national ongin, religion or belief. sex or sexual
orientation,

In 2018, a new diversity and inciusion policy was launched globally foliowing endorsement by the Group’s Directors.
This policy acknowledges the importance of fostenng an environment where colleagues are free to share different
perspectives and the view that greater diversity allows the Group to better understand and serve the communities
i which we operate Regional policies that address local requirements also are in place in varicus jurisdictions

Together these policies encourage the employment. training and advancement of disabled persons, having regard
to therr particular aptitudes and abiliies, provided that they can be employed in a safe warking environment.
Suitable employment would, if possible, be found for any employee who becomes disabled during the course of
employment. In 2019, training sessions on diversity and accommodating disabled persens—inclugding new mental
health awareness training in the UK-—were conducted regionally  This training will continue 1n 2020

Employee involvement and engagement with empioyees

The Beard considers employee engagement to be critical to the Company's success. Indeed, the ability of the
Group to successfully find, retain and develop talent was deemed by the Board to be a pnncipal risk in 2019, and
as such, was monitored not only by the management team, but aiso at the Audit & Risk Committee level

The Group endeavours to keep employees informed about matters of concern to them and the performance of the
Company, whether through management presentations, global and regonal intranet sites and other
communications. Likewise, the Group seeks to consult with employees through various means and on & regular
basis so that their views can be taken into account. Over the course of the year, these efforts ncluded reguiar
meetings at the regional. functional and hotel leveis as well as exit interwews with departing ¢olleagues. These
meetings allowed the management team to communicate important updates throughout the workforce, provide
training on existing and new policies and procedures and hear from colleagues around the world

Communications with employees was particutarly important in 2019 1n light af the completion of the Final Gffer and
subsequent Dehsting of the Company Regular employee communications were issued dunng this process,
together with “frequently asked question” documents. Chairman Kwek and Kwek Eik Sheng held severaf meetings
with members of the semor management team during this time, to hear their feedback and help to foster continuity
and stability during this period of change, and Chairman Kwek provided various Group-wide updates on the impact
of the integration of the Company within the wider COL Group

Prior to the Delisting, the Company operated four different share schemes for the benefit of the Group's eligible
employees These included the following plans

¢ Long Term Iincentive Plan - Under this plan, annual conditional share awards were made to ali Executive
Directors of the Company Veshng was subject o future performance conditions over a three-year
performance period followed by a two-year post-vesung holding period

. Executive Share Plan - Under this pian. conditional share awards were granted each year to members
of the Group's executive management team based on the historical performance of the Group. These
awards vested in tranches over a period of three yeaars, subject to the participant's continued employment
within the Group.

« Annual Bonus Plan — Under this plan. which applied to eligible senior managers globally (except for
certain jurisdictions). including hote! General Managers as well as Director-level and Vice Presdent-level
employees, a portion of each participant's annual cash bonus was converted into a deferred conditional
share award that would vest in tranches over a period of (hrae years, subject to the participant's continued
employment within the Group

= Sharesave scheme — Each year all eligible employees in the UK were invited to participate in the
Company's tax advantages Sharesave, or "Save As You Eam”, plan pursuant to which they were offered
the hght to save a portion of their salary for a set period of time—usually three or five years-—and use
those saving to purchase options to acquire shares of the Company at a pre-determined discounted price.
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The objectives of these plans differed, but in general they served to award strong performance—both at an
employee and Group level—over 2 reasonable period of tme, retain talent and better align the interests of
employees with the interests of shareholders

As a result of the Delisting, no further grants have been or witl be made under these share-based incentive schames
and the schemes wili be wound down once all existing awards have vested

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with the Company

As a company operating In the hospitality industry. the Directors are aware of the need for the Group to remain
competitive and for our hotels to address the wants and needs of our customers. To thus end, the Company is
continually laoking for ways to engage with and better understand our guests. These aims were considered by the
Board to be so important that several of the Group's principal risks in 2019—including the ability of the Group to
build brand equity and customer loyalty, optimise its revenue channels and invest in its assets—centred around
them

In 2819, the Group utiiseq a third-party agency tc send post-stay service quality emails to over 15% of the guests
who stayed at Millennium Hotels & Resorts branded hotels globatly In addiion, this agency regularly reviewed
popular onlingé hotel review sites to coflect guest feedback submitted through those forums  The regional
management and hotel teams used the feedback received to improve the Group's service, brand and product
offerings

In addtion. the Directors continued to support the strategy of investing 1n and repositioning the Group’s hotels
throughout the year. This resulted in, among other things, the September 2019 relaunch of the group's flagship
property in Mayfair, London, as the Biltmore, Mayfair, a five star deluxe hotel operating under Hilton's LXR Hotels
& Resorts brand The Board also considered the potential rebranding of ancther Ragship property owned by the
Group, the Millennium Times Square New Yark, and in Apnl 2019 the Board approved the execution by a subsidiary
of the company of an affiiation arrangement with Hilten in respect of that hotel  Various other capital expenditure
projects, including refurbishment works at the Orchard Hotel in Singapore and the Millennium Gloucester Hotel in
London and the Millennium Hotel Pans Opera in Pans, commenced and/or were compieted during the year.

Turming to its suppliers, the Group continued to focus on enhancing its procurement practices over the course of
the year. These efforts included greater engagement with our supply chain regarding ethical and sustainable
sourcing We worked with our suppliers to start sourcing cage-free eggs within the Company’s UK supply chain,
for instance, and to lessen the environmental impact of our sourcing activiies, Including intiatives to use of local
food suppliers where possible, and reduce the amount of packaging and single-use plastics used by the Group.
To help us with these objectives, a strategic decision was made 0 2019 to outsource elements of the Group's
procurement activities within certain regions to a large international hotel operator. This has allowed the Group to
leverage the operator's deep procurement experience and relationships with key suppliers, as well as their robust
processes ang systems. to improve our procurement practices.

For details on how the Group engaged with 1its communities, please refer to the Corporate Responsibility Report,
which can be found at https /investars millenniumhotels com/corporate-responsibility.

Share capital

As at the date of this Directors’ Report the Company's share capital consists of 324,950,812 ordinary shares of 30
pence each As noted above, all of these shares are owned by dwect or indirect subsidiaries of CDL. The Company
did not purchase or acquire any of its own shares during the year and no other disclosures are required pursuant
to Schedule 7, Part H of The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008.

Greanhouse gas emissions
All disclosures concerning the Group's greenhouse gas emissions can be found in the Corporate Responsibility
Report, located https://investors. millenniumhotels com/corporate-responsibility.

Qualifying indemnities

The Articles of Association of the Company permit it to indemnify the Directors of the Company against any hatnlity
incurred by or attaching to a Director in connection with any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust
in relation ta the Company or an associated company, any liability incurred by or attaching to the Director in
connection with the activities of the Company or an associated company in its capacity as a trustee of an
occupational pension scheme; and/or any other hability incurred by or attaching to the Director as an officer of the
Comgpany or an associated company

The Company has provided each of its Directors and centain Directors of its affiliated companies, including the
trustee of the Group's UK pension plan, with qualifying indemnities as permitted under Sections 234 and 235 of
the Companies Act 2006. The indemnities do not apply 1n circumstances where indemnification is prohibited by

24



the Companies Act 2006 or other applicable law, and these indemnities remain in force as at the date of this
Directors’ Report.

m 2019, the Company renewed its directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage, which is intended to be
renewed again in 2020. No ¢laim was made under any such indemnity or insurance pelicy during the year.

Future developments
A discussion of the likely future developments in the business of the Group can be found in the Strategic Report,
on page 7

Research and development

Whilst the management team continues to review ways to improve the Group's service, brand and product
offerings, and reguiarly invest in cur peopie and assets, the Company did not conduct significant research and
development activities during the year.

Company branches
The Company did not have any branches operating outside of the UK during the year.

Staternent of the Directors as to disclosure if information to the auditor
In accordance with Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006, each Director who held office at the date of approval
of thig Directors’ Repart confirmss that:

. s0 far as he or she is aware, thare is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is
unaware; and
. he or she has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a director in order to make

himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and 1o establish that the Company's auditor
is aware of that information.

Auditor
in accordance with Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006, a resalution for the re-appointment of KPMG LLP as
auditor of the company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

The Directors’ Report and Corporale Govemance Statement were approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company on 22 June 2020.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the group and parent company financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial
year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with intemational
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union {IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and applicable
law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Pracbce), including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that period.
In preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

+ select suitable accourting policies and then apply them consistently;
« make judgements and estimates thal are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent,

« for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accardance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU;

= for the parent company financial statements, state whether appiicable UK accounting standards have been
followed. subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financiat statements;

+ assess the group and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing. as applicable,
matters related to going concern; and

« use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent
company or {o cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
parent company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006
They are responsible for such internal contro! as they determine is necessary to anable the preparation of financial
statements thal are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the company's website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financiat
statements may differ from iegis/ation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statarnent of the directors in respect of the annual financial report
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

- the financial statements. prepared in accordance with the applicable set of accounting standards, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings
included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

« the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position
of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, tegether with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

We consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for shareholders tc assess the group's position and performance, business
mode! and strategy.

On pehaif of the Board

\Kwek Leng Beng
Chaiman




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statementis of Millennivm & Copithorne Hotels Limited (“the
company”) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss, the Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows, the Company Statement of Financial Position, the Company Statement of
Changes in Equity, and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2.2 of the Group
financial statements and note B of the Company financial statements.

In our opinion:

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent
company s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union;

the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK
accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (UK} (*15As (UK)™}
and applicable kaw. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities under, and are independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend
to liquidate the group or the company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that
the group and the company’s financial position means that this 1s realistic. They have also concluded
that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to
colltinue as a going concem for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements
{“the going concern period™).

We are required 1o report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of
accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial
statements. In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we consitdered the inherent risks to the
group’s business model and analysed how those risks might affect the group and company’s financial
resources or ability 10 continue operations over the going concern pertod. We have nothing to report
in these respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were rcasonable at the time they were made, the
absence of reference 10 a material uncertainly in this auditor's report is not a guaraniee that the group
or the company will continue in operation.




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MILLENNIUM &
COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED (continued)

Strategic report and directors’ report

The durectors are responsible for the strategic report and the duectors’ report. Our opimion on the
financial statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility 1s to read the strategic report and the duectors’ report and, 0 dosng sa_ consider
whether, based on our financial statements audst work, the information therein 15 matenally
misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that

work:

. we have not identified material masstatements 1n the strategic report and the directors’ report;

. 1n cur opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year ts consistent with
the financia) statements; and

. in ouf opinion those reports have been prepared 1n accordance with the Companies Act 2006

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you f, tn our opuson:

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company. or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

s the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns. or

¢  certain dis¢losures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
¢  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully 1n their statement set out on page 26, the directors are responsible for: the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view;
such intemal control as they determine 15 necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material musstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the group and
parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing. as applicable, matters related
to going concern; and using the poing concern basis of accounting unless they either atend to
liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, of have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

O objectives are 10 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatermnent, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opiion 1 an
auditor's report.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an
audit conducted 1n accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can anise from fraud or error and are considercd material if, individually or in
aggregate, thev could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities 15 provided on the FRC's website at
www fre org uk audstorsresponsibilities

The purpose of our andit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Thss report 1s made solely to the company s members. as a body. 1n accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to




. MILL ENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MILLENNIUM &
COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED (continued)

the company s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law. we do not accept or assume responsibitity
to anyone other than the company and the company s members, as a body. for our audit work. for
this report, or tor the opinions we have formed.

Jonathan Downer (Senior Statutory Auoditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountanis

15 Canada Square

London

El4 5GL

23 June 2020
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" MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
NOTES EM M
Revenue 5 1,025 997
Cost of sales {457) {436)
Gross profit 568 561
Administrative expenses 8 (439) (423)
Other operating incame 7 10 30
Other operating expense 7 (41) (63)
Operating profit 98 105
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 15 36 29
Finance income 7 g
Finance expense (39) {37)
Net finance expense 9 (32) (28}
Profit before tax 5 102 106
Income tax expense 10 {8) (13)
Profit for the year 94 93
Attributable to.
Equity holders of the parent 62 43
Non-controlling interests 32 50
94 83
Basic earnings per share (pence} i - 13.1p
Diluted earnings per share (pence) 11 - 13.1p

The financial results above derive from continuing activities

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
NOTE £EM £M
Profit for the year 94 a3
Other comprehensive (expense)/income:
ltems that are not reciassified subsequently to income statement:
Remeasurement of defined benefit pian actuarial net gains, net of tax 23 (1} 4
Net changs in fair valug of equity investment 1 5
- 9
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement:
Foreign currency transiation differences — foreign operations (61) 72
Foreign currency translation differences — equity accounted investees {2} 9
Net gain/{loss) on hedge of net investments in foreign operations 4 (3}
(59) 78
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year, net of tax {59) 87
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 35 180
Total comprehensive income attributable to;
Equity holders of the parent 13 112
Non-controtting interests 22 68
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 35 180

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,

32



" MILLENNIUM 8 COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2019

2019 2018
NOTES EM EM
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12, 37 3,194 31563
Lease premium prepayment 13 - 103
Investment properties 14 680 668
Investment in joint ventures and assaciates 15 414 358
Other financial assets 16 40 a3
4,328 4,325
Current assets
Inventories 17 7 5
Development properties 18 115 115
Lease premum prepayment 13 - 2
Trade and other receivables 19 91 102
Cash and cash equivalents 20 409 375
622 539
Assets held for sale 36 103 —
725 599
Total assets 5,053 4924
Non-current liabilities .
Interest-beanng loans, bonds and borrowings 21 (853) (789)
Employee benefits 23 {15} (14}
Provisions 24 (9) (9)
Other non-current kiabilities 25 (17) (15)
Lease liabilities 37 (108) -
Deferred tax liablites 26 (147) (172)
{1,149) (999)
Current liabilities
Interest-bearng lcans. bonds and borrowings 21 (315) (313)
Trade and other payables 27 (220) (220}
Provisions 24 {3} {2)
Lease liabilities 37 (8) -
Income taxes payable (13) (27)
{556) {562)
Total tiabilities {1,705) (1.561)
Net assets 3,348

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

3,363
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

NOTES
Equity
Issued share capital 29
Share premium
Translation reserve 30
Treasury share reserve 30
Fair value reserve 30

Retained earnings

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

2019

27
843
443

4

1,402

2,782
566

3,348

2018

97

491
(4)

1,338

2,770
583

3,383

These financial staternents were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 June 2020 and were signed on its

behalf by:

- LT T T T——
Kwek Leng Beng t 3

Chairman

Registered No: 3004377
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2019

TOTAL
EXC_UDNG
TREASURY FAIR NON- NON-
SHARE SHARE TRANSLATION SHARE VA_JE RETANED CONTROL_NG CONTROLLING TOTAL
CAP|TAL IREMIUM RESERVE RESERVE RESERVE  EARNINGS INTERESTS INTERESTS EQUITY
EM £M £ EM &M ™ £M ja) £M
Baiance at 1 Junuary 2019 97 B43 491 4) [ 1,338 2,710 593 3,382
IFR C 23 agustment - - - - - 4 4 . 4
Restated balance at 1 January
2019 a7 843 491 (4) 5 1,342 2,774 593 3,367
Proft - - - - - 82 52 32 94
Qther comprenensive income - - (48) - (€3] 3 {49} {10) (59)
Total comprehensive incoms - - (48) - {4) 65 13 22 35
Transactions with owners,
recorded directly 1n equity
Contributions by and
distributions to owners
Divdends — equity holders - - - - - (7) t4] - )
Dwgends — non conyolkng
interests - - - - - - - (41} {41}
Changes in ownership interesta
Change in (~ierests i subsidianes.
withoul lass of contra) - - - - - 2 ? {2} -
Retura of capital to non-contraling
Intarests - - - - - - - [{2)] &)
Total transactions with awners - - - - - {5) (%) {48} (54)
Balance at 3t December 2019 57 843 443 {4) 1 1,402 2,782 566 3,148
TOTAL
EXCLJD NG
TREASURY FAIR NON- NON-
SHARE SHARE T3RANSLATION SHARE VALLE RETAINED CONTROLI{ING CONTROLUING TOTAL
CAPITAL SREMIUW RESERVE RESERVE RESERVE EARNINGS INTERESTS INTERESTS EQUITY
£M EM M £ EM £M £ fat] £M
Balance at 1 January 2018 97 843 431 (4) - t.309 2,676 573 3,249
Profit - - - - - 43 43 50 83
Qiker compreher give incomea - - =14} - 5 4 69 18 87
Total comprehensive income - - 60 - 5 47 112 68 180
Transactiona with owners,
recorded direclly in equity
Contributions by and
distributions to owners
Dwidends — egurty holders - - - - - (21) 21 - (21}
Dividends — 1on: cantrolhng mnlerests - - - - - - - (43) (43)
Changes in ownership interests
Change i merests i1 subsidianes
withow! oss of control - - - - - 3 3 {3) -
Return of captat 1o non controling
interests - - - - - - - (2 2)
Total transactions with owners - - - - - {18) (18} (48) {66}
Balance at 31 December 2018 97 843 491 (4) 5 1,338 2770 3,363

593

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
NOTES £M £M

Cash flows from coperating activities
Profit for the year 94 93
Adjustments for.
Depreciation and amortisation 12,13 80 68
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 15 (36) {29)
Other operating iIncome 7 (10) {30)
Other operating expense 7 41 63
Finance income 9 (7) {9)
Finance expense 9 39 37
Income tax expense 10 8 13
Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 209 207
Movement in inventones, trade and other receivables 9 (15)
Movement in development properties {5) (22)
Movement in trade and other payables 9 7
Cash generated from operations 222 177
Interest paid (27) (24)
Interest received [ 5
Income tax paid (38) (31)
Not cash generated from operating activities 163 127
Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends received from jcint ventures and associates 5 4
Proceeds from sale of investment properties - 45
Acguisition of property, ptant and equipment, lease premium prepayment and
investment propertes {120} {109}
Subscription of Perpetual Convertible Capital Securities of associate {30} (32)
Net cash used in investing activities {145) (92)
Balance carried forward 18 35

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

2019 2018
NOTES £M £M
Balance brought forward 18 35
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings (304) (145}
Crawdown of borrowings 391 189
Payment of lease liabilities {(9) -
Dwidends paid to non-controling interests (41) (43)
Returmn of capital to non-controliing interests (6) (2)
Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent 28 (7) {21)
Net cash generated from/{used in) financing activities 24 {22
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 42 13
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 375 354
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (8) 8
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 409 375

Reconcitiation of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position 409 375

Bank overdrafts included in borrowings - -

Cash and cash equivaients for consolidated statement of cash flows 20 409 375

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 REPORTING ENTITY

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited (the “Company”) is a private company incorporated in England and
Wales The registered office 1s focated at Corporate Headquarters, Scarsdale Place, Kensington. London W8
53Y. These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group™). The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 were
authonsed for issue in accordance with a resclution of the Directors on 22 June 2020.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consohdated financial statements are prepared on the histonicat cost basis except for investment properties,
derivative financial instruments, equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI")
and equity investments at fair value through profit and loss ("FVTPL") which are stated at their farr values. Hotel
properties are stated at cost or deemed cost. Deemed cost is calcuiated based on the hotel's frozen valuation
as at 1 January 2004 Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and farr value
less costs to sell. The Group's income statement and segmental analysis separately identifies operating profit
and other operating income and expense This is in accordance with IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial
Statements’ and is consistent with the way that financial perfonmance is measured by management and assists
in providing a meaningful analysis of the trading results of the Group. The financial statements are presented in
the Company's functional currency of sterling, rounded to the nearest million.

The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial statements in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standard 101 '‘Reduced Disclosure Framework'.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

These consolidated financial statements have been preparad in accordance with IFRS as required by EU faw
(IAS Regulation EC 1606/2002). Details of the Group's accounting policies, inciuding changes during the year,
are Included below

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS
The Group has adopted and applied the following standard issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) that is relevant to its operations for the first time in the year commencing 1 January 2019:

- |IFRS 16 'Leases’

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 'Leases' and IFRIC 4 'Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’ and is
mandatorily effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 The Group has applied IFRS
16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of the initial application is
recognised in retained earnings at 1 January 2019. Comparative informaton has therefore not been restated
and 1s reported under the previous accounting policies The details of the changes in accounting policies are
described in Note 2 2F

— IFRIC 23 "Uncertainty over income Tax Treatments’

The International Accounting Standarcs Board's Interpretations Committee issued IFRIC 23 effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 The interpretation provides guidance on how 1o
account for uncertainty over income tax treatments under |AS 12 'income Taxes' The new Interpretation has had
an impact on the Group's existing positions with respect to uncertain tax treatments and financial staterment
disclosures, the quantum of which can be found on page 35.

BASIS OF CONSCOLIDATION

i SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

({1)] INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES
The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in joint ventures and associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence but not contral or joint control, over the
financial and operating policies A joint venture is an arrangemant in which the Group has joint control, and
where the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than nights to its assets and obligations
for its liabikties
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Interests in joint ventures and asscciates are accounted for using the equity method They are utially
recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs Subsequent to initial recognition, the consalidated financial
statements include the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted
investees, untif the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases

[{}} TRANSACTIONS ELIMINATED ON CONSOLIDATION

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unreahsed income and expenses ansing from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated Unrealised gains ansing fram transactions with equity-accounted investees are
elminated against the investiment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are
eliminated In the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no ewidence of impairment.

GOING CONCERN

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and
position are set out in the Strategic Report on page 7 to 8. Nate 22 of the financial statements includes the
Group's objectives. policies and processes for managing its capitai, its financial nsk management objectives,
details of #s financial instruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to credit risk and liguidity risk

Uncertainty due to the recent COVID-19 outbreak has been considered as part of the Group's adoption of the
going concern basis. Trading over recent months has been impacted by COVID-19 with the Group temporarily
shutting or reducing operations at a number of hatels, pnmanly in Europe and New Zealand In response, the
Directors have taken immediate and significant actions, all within management's cantrol, to reduce costs and
optimise the Group's cash flow and hquidity Amongst these are the following mitigating actions. reducing capital
expenditure through postponing or pausing refurbishment and property development activities, ight monitoring of
manpower planning, monitoring of controllable variable expenses and negotiation of discounts with suppliers, and
maximising of government assistance and reliet programs. It 1s noted the Group has a limited fixed cost base due
to awning the majonty of its hote! properhes

Cash flow forecasts have been prepared for a period of twelve months from the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements The directors have reviewed these cash flow farecasts in light of the COVID-
19 pandemic, including a severe but plausible downside scenario consisting of significant revenue reductions
through to Q3 2020 with a cautious pick up in trading from this date through 2021, and the non-renewal of
matunng debt instruments throughout the review penod. This severe but plausible downside scenaria, whilst
considared by the Directors to be extremely prudent, has a significant impact on sales, margin, and cash flow,
however it shows that the Group will be able to operate within the current committed debt facilities with continued
financial covenant compliance.

Having reviewed the forecasts and the available committed debt facdities, the Directors have a reasanable
expectation that the Group and Company have adequate resources including external cradit facilities to continue
in operational existence for at least 12 months from the signing of this annual report. Accordingly, they continue
to adopt the going concern basis in prepanng the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

In assessing whether the Graup is a going concern, the Directors follow a review process which i1s consistent
with the principles set out in the "Guidance on Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and
Business Reporting 2014” published by the Financial Reporting Council.

2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Group has consistently applied the foliowing accounting policies to all periods presented in these
consalidated financial statements.

A BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business comiinations are accounted for using the acguisition method The ¢ost of an acquisition 1s measured
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acqussition date fair value and the amount of any
nen-controlting interest in the acquiree For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-
controling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and 1dentifiable net assets acquired are measured at the
acquisibon date fair value

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for approprate
classtfication and designatien in accardance with the contractual terms. econgrmc crgumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fa:r value of the acquirer's previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at that date through the mcome statement.

Any cantingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition If an obligation to pay
contingent consideratian that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it 1s not
remeasured and setttement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is intially measured at cost, being the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the
Group's net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, and is aliocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generaling units that are expected to benefit from the combination. If the consideration is lower than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired. the difference is recognised in the income statement.

After initial recognition, goodwill 15 measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses For the purpose
of mpairment testing. goodwill acquired in a business combination is. from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group's cash.genrerating units that are expected to benefit from the combinaton, irespective cf
whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit1s
disposed of, the goodwil! associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwifll disposed in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained

B FOREIGN CURRENCY
The financial statements of each of the Group’s businesses are prepared in the functional currency applicable to
that business

(1} FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Transactions in foreign currencies other than the functional currency are translated at the foreign exchange rate
ruling at the date of the transaction

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated into
sterling at the foreign exchange rate at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognised in the incorne statement Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of histoncal
cost in a foreign currency are transiated at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and habilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into sterling at foreign sxchange
rates ruling at the date the fair value was determined

(i) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF FOREIGN OPERATIONS

On consolidation, the assets and liabilites of foreign operations, including fair value adjustments arising on
consolidation, are trans/ated to sterling at fareign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues
and expenses of foreign operations are translated to sterling at rates approximating to the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are
recognised directly i equity in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation 1s disposed of,
in part or in full, the relevant amount in the translation reserve s transferred to the income statement

(th) NET INVESTMENT IN FOREIGN OPERATIONS

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of related
hedges are taken to translation reserve They are released into the income statement upon disposal or partial
disposal of the foreign operation.

C DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate nisk exposures.

Derivatives are initally measured at fair value, any directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit
or loss as incurred Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes
theren are generally recognised in profit or loss

D HEDGES

() CASH FLOW HEDGES

VWhen a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash fiows of a recogmsed
asset or liability, cr a highly probable transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

instrument is recognised directly in equity. When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recogrution
of a non-financiai asset or non-financial habiity, the assuciated cumulative gain or ioss ¢ removed from equity
and ncluded in the intial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or hability If a hedge of a
forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, then the
assoclated gains and Iesses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified to the income statement in
the same period or periods duning which the asset acquired or hability assumed affects the income statement

(i e when interest income or expense IS recognised).

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the above policy. the associated cumulative gan or loss 15
removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss 1n the same pencd or periods dunng which the hedged
forecast transaction affects profit or loss The ineffective part of any gan or loss is recognised immediately in the
income statement

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the
hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transacton is still expected to occur, the cumulative gamn or loss at
that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs
If the hedged transaction is ng tonger expected to take place, then the cumulative unreahsed gain or loss
recognised in equity 1s recognised immediately in the income statement

()] HEDGE OF MONETARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

When a derivative financial instrument is used as an economic hedge of the foreign exchange exposure of a
recegnised monetary asset or liability, hedge accounting is not applied and any gamn or loss on the hedging
instrument i1s recognised In the income statement.

) HEDGE OF NET INVESTMENT IN FOREIGN OPERATIONS

The portion of the gain or loss on an instrument used to hedge a net nvestment in a foreign operaticn that is
determined to be an effective hedge 1s recognised directly in equity within the translation reserve. The ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

E PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

{1 RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Land and buildings (other than investment properties) are stated at cost, except as allowed under IFRS 1
transition rules, less depreciation and any provision for impairment All other property, plant and equipment 1s
stated at cost less depreciation and any provision for impairment Any smpairment of such properties below
depreciated histerical cost is charged to the iIncome statement.

Under the transition provisions of IFRS 1. land and bulldings which were previously revalued under UK GAAP
were measured on the basis of their deemed cost, being their UK GAAP carrying value, including revaluations,
as at 1 January 2004 being the effective date of the Group’s conversian to IFRS.

{1y DEPRECIATION
Freehold land 1s not depreciated All other assets are depreciated to their residual values on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives as foliows

8uiiging care 50 years or lgase term 1f shorter
Building surface, finishes and services 30 years or lease term if shorter
Piant and machinery 15 — 20 years

Furmture and equipment 10 years

Soft furnishings 5~ 7 years

Computer equipment 5 years

Software up to § years

Motor vehicles 4 years

No residual vaiues are ascribed to building surface finishes and services. Residual values ascribed to building
core depend on the nature, location and tenure of each property.

[{11}] SUBSEQUENT COSTS

Capital expenditure on major projects is recorded separately within property, plant and equipment as capual
work in progress Once the project 1s complete the balance is transferred to the appropriate fixed asset
categories Capital work in progress s not depreciated.
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Interest attributable to funds used to finance the construction or acquisition of new hotels or major extensions to
existing hotels is capitalised net of tax relief and added to the cost of the hotel core.

Operating supphes, which include china, linen, glass and silverware, were slated at their deemed cos!s as at 1
January 2008 and subsumed into the costs of the hotel buildings. Subsequent renewals and replacements of
such stocks and new supplies upon initial hotel opening are written off as incurred to the income statement

F LEASES

Effective 1 January 2019, the Group adopted IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ using the modified retrospective approach
allowed under which the cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in accumulated profits as at 1
January 2019 Comparative information presented for 2018 1s not restated and continues to be reported under
IAS 17 'Leases’ and IFR(C 4 'Determining Whether an Arrangemert Contains a Lease’. The details of the

current and prior years accounting policies are disclosed separately below Further information on the adoption
and initial application of IFRS 16 can be found in Note 37

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

Rentals payable under operating leases were charged to the income statement on a straight-ine basis over the
term of the relevant iease Benefits receved and receivable (and costs paid and payable) as an incentive to
enter into an operating lease were also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Poircy applicable from 1 January 2019

For contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019, the Group assesses at inception whether the contract is,
or contains, a lease. A lease exists if the contract conveys the right ta contral the use of an identified asset for a
period of ime in exchange for consideration. The Group assessment includes whether.

— the contract involves the use of an Identified asset;

- the Group has the nght to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset
throughout the contract period; and

— the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset

(1) THE GROUP AS A LESSEE
At the commencement of a lease, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset along with a corresponding lease
liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the applicable mcremental borrowing rate {single discount rate applied to a portfolio of leases with similar
characteristics) The laase term comprises the non-cancellable period of the contract, together with periods
covered by an option to extend the lease where the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option based on
operational needs and contractual terms. Subsequently, the lease hability 1s measured at amortised cost by
Increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease hability, and reducing it by the lease payments
made. The lease lability is remeasured either when the Group changes its assessment of whether it wilt
exercise an extension or termination option (if expected to be terminated early then any applicable penalties due
will also be factored in the remeasurement) or if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under the residual value guarantee

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the initial measurement of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, estimated asset retirement
obligations, lease incentives received and initial direct costs. Subsequently, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, 1ess any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, and are adjusted for certain
remeasurements of the lease liabiity. Depreciation 1s calculated on a straight-line basis over the length of the
lease.

The Group has elected to apply exemptions for short-term leases (less than 12 months) and leases for which
the underlying asset is of low vatue (£5 000 or less) For these leases, payments are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis aver the term of the relevant lease.

Right-of-use assefs are presented within non-current assets on the face of the balance sheet, and lease
liabilities are shown separately on the balance sheet in current liabilities and non-current liabifities depending on
the length of the lease term.

Leases where the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. The leased asset is initially recorded at the lower of fair value and the present value of minimum lease
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payments. The equivalent hability, categonsed as appropnate, is mnciuded within current or non-current liabilities
Assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful economic lives. Finance charges are
allocated 1o accounting periods over the period of the lease to produce constant rates of return on the
outstanding balance

(1) THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or
operating lease. Rents receivable by the Group as lessor under operating leases, including the subJetting of
retail outlets within hotel properties, are credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease
term aven if the receipts are not made on such basts Costs, including depreciation incurred n earning the lease
income, are recognised as an expense Rents recevable under a finance lease are recognised on the staternent
of financiai position as a finance iease receivable and the comesponding asset is subsequently disposed of with
a profit or loss if applicable recognised in the income statement.

1) LEASE PREMIUM
The Group makes and receives initiai payments on entenng into both long and short leases of 1and and
buildings. Pricr to the adoption of IFRS 16 'Leases’, where payment for leased tand was equivalent to the

purchase of the freehold interest, the lease was classified as a finance lease. Al other payments for leases of
land were classified as operating leases

Subsequent to the adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019, on the statement of financial position, finance lease
payments attnbutable to land are stifi recorded as property, plant and equipment and for operating leases, the
finance lease payments attributable to land have been reclassified as a right-of-use asset where it had
previously been recognised as a lease premium prepayment befare the adoption of IFRS 16 Both [ease types
are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease Interest attributable to
funds to finance the purchase or lease of land is capitalised gross of tax relief and added to the cost of lease

In the case of lease premiums received, these are reflected on the statement of financial position as deferred
income, appropriately classified between current and nen-current kabilities and are credited to the income
stalement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease

G IMPAIRMENT

The carrying amounts of the Group's assets, other than investment properties, inventaries, employee benefit
assets and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment is recognised 10 the income statement whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amaunt impaimment losses are reversed if there has been a change i
the estimates used tc determine the recoverable amount. Where permissible under IFRS, an impairment l0ss 15
reversed only {o the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment had been recognised

in the case of equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the asset below its cost is
considered in determining whether the asset 1s impaired If any such evidence exists for these assets, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference betwasen acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment |oss on that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement — is removed from equity
and recognised in the income staternent.
The Group recogruses lass allowances for expected credit losses (EGL) on:

+« financial assets measured at amortised cost,

« debtinvestments measured at FVOC| or FVTPL; and

L] contract assets.
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Loss allowances of the Group are measured on either of the following bases.

» 12.month ECL these are ECL that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date {or far a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12
months}, or

= Lifetime ECL' these are ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument or contract asset

Simplified approach

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL for all trade receivables and contract assets. The
simplified approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.

General approach

The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECL on all other financial instruments. Under the general
approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amaunt equal to 12-month ECL at initial recognition At each
reporting date. the Group assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recogniton When credit risk has increased significantly since inibal recognition, |0ss allowance 1s
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL

When determining whether the credit risk of a financiai asset has increased significantly since initiai recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis,
based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment and includes forward-looking
information

If credit risk has not increased signficantly since inthial recognition or if the credit quality of the financial
instruments improves such that there is no ionger a significant increase in credit nsk since imitial recognition,
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay 11s credit obligations
to the Group in fuli, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held) The
Group considers a contract asset to be in default when the customer 1s unlikely to pay its contractual obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs 1s the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed 1o credit risk

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are measured at the present value of all
cash shortfalls (i.e the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the
financial asset
Credit-impaifred financial assels
At each reporing date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
investments at FVQCI or FVTPL are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have accurred
Evidence that a financial asset 1s credit-impaired includes the following observable data.

e significant financial difficulty of the borrower or Issuer;

« abreach of contract such as a default;

« the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;
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« itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. or
+ the disappearance of an active market for a secunty because of financial difficulties.
Presentation of ECL ip the stafement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract assets are deducted from the
gross carrying amount of these assets

Wirite-Off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset 1s written off (esther partially or in full} to the extent that there s
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the

write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to
comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

H INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
investment properties held by the Group are properties which are held either to earn rental ingome or for capital
appreciation or both. Investment properties are stated at fair value Any increase or decrease in the fasr value on

annual revaluaton is recognised in the income statement in accerdance with IAS 40 Investment Property. In
limited circumstances, the determination of fair value 15 uncertain, and these properties are carned at cost.
Impairment analysis over these properties 15 carried put annually.

An external independent valuer, having an appropnate recognised professional qualfication and recent
experience in the location and category of the property being valued, values the portfolic annually. The fair
values are based on market vatues, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on
the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length transaction after proper
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

1 INVENTORIES
Inventones are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated ¢osts of completion and selling expenses.

J DEVELQOPMENT PROPERTIES

Development properties are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. They are held for sale in the
short term and are therefore classified as current assets. The cost of development properties includes interest
and other related expanditure incurred in order to get the asset ready for its intended use Borrowing costs
payable on loans funding a development property are also capitalised, on a specific identification basis. as par
of the cost of the development property until the completion of development Payments received from
purchasers arising from pre-sales of the property units prior to the completion are included as deferred income
under other financial habihties in the staterment of financial position.

K CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less.

Bank overdratts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management are
included as a component of ¢cash and cash equivalents

L BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognised initially at far value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost' any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
15 recognised In the income statement over the pericd of the borrowings using the effective interest methed.

M TAXATION

Income tax on profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax Income tax is recognised in the income
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised
n equity
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Current tax I1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years

Deferred tax is provided for using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilihes for financia! reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for. (i) the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxaple profit; and (i} differences relating to investments in
subsidianes to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future The amount of deferred
tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisaton or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilites. using tax rates enacted or substanbvely enacted at the balance sheet date

A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that t1s no longer
probabie that the benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset anly to the extent that: (i) the Group has a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities; (i) the Group intends to setile net; and (i) the deferred
tax assets and the deferred tax liabilites relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authornty

N EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Obtigations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recegrised as an expense in the income
statement.

[1]3] DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension plans. As set out in Note 23, the caiculation of the
present value of the Group's defined benefit obligations at each period end is subject to significant estimation.
An appropriately qualified, independent actuary is used to undertake this calculation. The assumptions made by
the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possibie actuarial assumptions. which due to the
tmescale covered may not necessarily be barne out in practice. The valuation of scheme assets is based on
their fair value at the balance sheet date. As these assets are not intended to be sold in the short term, therr
values may be subject to significant change before they are realised in reviewing the work of the independent
actuary, management is required to exercise jJudgement to satisfy themselves that appropriate weight has been
afforded to macro-economic factors Details of the assumptions used are set out in Note 23.

The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit post-employment plans, including pension plans, is
calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in
return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit 1s discounted to determine its present value,
and the fair value of any plan assets 1s deducted The calculation 1s performed by a qualified actuary using the
projected unit credit method

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by
employees is recognised immediately as an expense In the income statement

The Group recognises remeasurement gains and losses within the consolidated statement of comprehensive
inccme in the penod in which they occur.

The Group determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit iabilities (asset) for the
period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the
annual period 1o the net defined benefit liability (asset) taking into account any changes in the net defined
benefit lability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments Net interest expense
and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in the income statement.

)] LONG-TERM SERVICE BENEFITS

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits, other than post-employment pians. 1s the
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods
The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method and i1s discounted to its present value and the
fair value of any plan assets is deducted.

(V) SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
The share-based incentive schemes allow the Group's employees to acquire shares of Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels Limited.
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The cost of equity-setited transactions with employees for awards granted after 7 November 2002 15 measured
by reference to the fauwr value at the date on which they are granted. The fair value 15 determined by using an
approprate pricing model. further details of which are given in Note 23

The cost of equity-settied transactions 1s recognised, together with a cormesponding increase in equity. over the
penod in which the performance and/or service conditions are fuffiied. The cumuiative expense recogmised far
equity-settied transactians at each reporting date untit the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
penod has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that wil) ultmately vest.
The income statement expense or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense
recoqgnised as at the beginning and end of that penod.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimateiy vest, except for equity-settied transactions where
vesting 1s condr:onal upon a market or nan-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition 13 satisfied, prowvided tnat all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled transaction award are modified, the rmimmum expense recegnised is the
expense as If the terms had not been modified, 1f the oniginal terms of the award are met. An additional expense
is recagnised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification

Where an equity-settie¢ award 1s cancelled, it 1s treated as If it vested on the date of cancellaton. and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is racognised immediatety. This includes any award where non-
vasting conditions within the control of either the entity ar the employee are not met. However, if a new award 1s
substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settled transaction awards are treated equally

o PROVISIONS

A grovision Is recognised on the batance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive gbhgation as
a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic penefits will be required 10 settle the
obligation. If the: effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the tirme value of money and, when appropriate. the
rsks specific to the liability. Further details on provisions are given in Note 24

P REVENUE AND ITS RECOGNITION
Revenue comprises:

« Incoma from the ownership and operation of hotels — recognised at the point at which the accommaodation ang
related services are provided,

+ Management fees — earned from hotels managed by the Group. usually under long-term contracts with the
Hotei owner. Management fees include a base fee, which is generally a percentage of hotel revenue, and/or an

incentive fee, which is generally based on the hotel's profitabilty; recognised when eamed on an accrual basis
under the terms of the contract

Franchise fees — received in connection with licensing of the Group's brand names, usually under long-term

contracts with the hotel owner. The Group charges franchise royalty fees as a percentage of rocom revenue,

recognised when earned on an accrual basis under the terms of the agreement,

= Income from property rental ~ recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. lease incentives granted
are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income. and

- Development property sales — recognised when the transfer of control of the property has passed to the buyer,

which 15 usually when egal title {ransfers depending on jurisdictions The trigger for revenue recognition

depends on the laws within each jurisdiction.

Q DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the sharehalders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are appropriately authonsed and approved for payment and are no longer at the
discretion of the Company Unpaid dividends that do not meet these cntena are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statemeants.
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R OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Disclosure of segmental information is principally presented in respect of the Group’'s geographical segments.
The segments reported reflect the operating infformaton inctuded in internal reports that the Chief Operating
Decision Maker {"CODM"), which is the Board, regularly reviews. Further detaiis are given in Note 5.

An operating segment is 8 component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may eam
revenues and incur expenses, Including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
Group's other components, Discrete financial information is reported to and is reviewed by the CODM on a
geographical basis. Operating segments have Chief Operating Officers ("COOs”) or equivalent who are directly
accountable for the functioning of their segments and maintain reguiar contact with the Group Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of the CODM to discuss the operational and financial performance. The CODM rmakes
decisions about allocation of resources to the regions managed by the COOs No operating segments have
been aggregated to form the reportable operating segments.

Segment results that are reported to the CODM include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unaliocated items prnncipally comprise interest-bearing loans,
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents. net finance expense, taxation balances and corporate expenses

L) NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE

Non-current assets {(or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered
pnmarnly through sale rather than through continuing use are classified as held-for-sale Generaliy the assets (or
disposal group) are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any
impairment loss on a disposal group Is first atlocated to property, ptant and equipment and lease premwum
prepayment, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets and investment property, which
contnue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies Impairment losses on nitial
classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in the income
statement Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

T OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Trade investments are classified as either equity instruments at FVOCI or fair value through profit and loss
(“FVTPL"} and are included under non-current assets within ‘other financial assets’. They are recarded at market
value with movements in value taken to equity. Any impairment {0 value is recorded in the income statement.

Trade and other receivables are stated at their nominal amount (discounted if material) less any impairment
Trade and other payables are stated at their nominal amount (discounted if material).

v RELATED PARTIES

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has
the abulity, directly or indirectly, (o control the party or exercise significant influence over the party making
financial and operating decisions. or vice versa. or where the Group and the party are subject to common
control or common significant influence Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

3 ACCOLINTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements under IFRS requires the Group to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilites and the disclosure of contingencies and the reported amount
of revenue and expenses during the year The Group evaluates its estimates and assumptions an an ongoing
basis. Such estimates and judgements are based upon historical experience and other facters it believes to be
reasonable under the circumstances, which form the basis for making judgements about the carrying value of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

Certain critical accounting policies, among others, affect the Group's more significant estimates and
assumptions used in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from the
Group's estimates and assumptions.
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3.1 JUDGEMENTS
The key judgements are

CLASSIFICATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group holds a number of investment properties and accounts for such properties in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2 2H The Group owns assets which are leased to external third parties with
lease rentals ang related charges varying according to the agreement invoived The Group accounts for such
assets in its financial statements 1in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2 2H

Where the indicators are such that on batance the Group 1s shown to be a passive investor, the relevant
property 15 accounted for in accordance with IAS 40 and the Group accaunts for the fair value change through
tha income statement as other operating income or expense indicators considerad inciude (1) party that has the
power to make the significant operating and financing decisions regarding the operations of the property in a
management contract, {2) calcutation of the lessor's return, (3) lessor's power of intervention under the
management contract, and (4} duration of the contract.

CONSOLIDATION OF ENTITIES IN WHICH THE GROUP HOLDS LESS THAN A MAJORITY OF VOTING
RIGHTS (DE FACTO CONTROL)

In 2014, the new consolidation accounting standard, IFRS 10 introduced a new control modei that focuses on
whether the Group has power over an investee, exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and ability tc use its power 10 affect those returns.

This required the Group 16 consider whether it has de facto control over its investees, particularly when it owned
less than 50% of the vating rights. In 2014, in accordance with the transitional provisions of (FRS 10, the Group
reassessed the control conclusion for its investees and changed its control conclusion in respect of its
mvestment in CDLHT, which was previously accounted for as an associate using the equity method. Althocugh
the Group owns less than half of the voting power of the investee, management determined that, under IFRS
10, the Group has had control over the investee since its mnception This is because a 100% cwned subsidiary of
the Group, M&C REIT Management Limited acts as REIT Manager with its fees having a performance-based
element and therefare the Group has exposure to vanable returns from its involvement with the investee.
Accordingly, in 2014, the Group applied acguisition accounting to the investment from the year 1t was first
established in 2006, and restated the relevant amounts as if the investee had been consolidated from that year.
This judgement was reconsidered this year and continues to be appropriate.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

For each acquisiticn the Group has to make a judgement whether to account the transaction as an asset
purchase or a business combination, which results in a different accounting treatment in parbcular, under
business combination accounting. goodwill and additionat intangible assets may anse and the valuation of
acquired assets is complex. In addition, transaction costs can be capitalised in an asset acquisition, but have to
be charged through the income statement for a business combination. The classification of each acquisition and
related accounting is highty judgemental Details of acquisitions undertaken by the Group during 2018, inciuding
the specific judgements, are set out in Notes 12 and 14 There were no acquisitons undertaken by the Group
during 2018

LAND LEASES CLASSIFICATION

The Group holds a2 number of hotels with ieases af land that are determined to have an indefinite economic life.
The judgement pror to 1 January 2019 was that these were classified as a finance lease even if at the end of
the fease term titie does not pass to the lessee. Subsequent to 1 January 2019 and the adoption of IFRS 16
‘Leases’, these assets have been reclassified as right-of-use assets

3.2 ESTIMATES
The key estimates are:

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group determines whether tangible fixed assets are impaired when indicaters of impanments exist or based
on the annual impairment assessment. The annual assessment reguires an estimate of the recoverable value of
the cash generating units to which the tangible fixed assets are allocated, which is predominantly at the
individual hotel site level. Where appropnate, external valuations are also undertaken Estimation of the
recoverable value of the hotel assets is done with the reference to fair value less cost to sell, using income
approach, which requires estimation of future cash flows of a third-party efficient operator, the time periad over
which they will occur, an appropriate discount rates, terminal capitalization rates and growth rates The Directors
consider that the assumptions made represent their best estimate, and that the discount rate and terminal
capitalsation rate used are approprate given the nsks associated with the specific cash flows. A sensitivity
analysis has been performed over the estimates (see Note 12)
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4 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED
The following standards and interpretations which have been issued by the IASB. become effective after the
current year end and have not been early adopted by the Group

= Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards (effective date 1 January 2020},
« Amendments to IFRS 3. Definition of a Business (effective date 1 January 2020),
» Amendments to FAS 1 and 1AS 8 Definition of Matenal (effective date 1 January 2020).

« Amendments to IFRS 9 |1AS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (effective date 1 January
2020), and

= IFRS 17 insurance Cantracts (effective date 1 January 2021)

The Group is In the process of assessing the impact of these new standards, amendments and interpretations
on the financial statements.

§ OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
Disclosure of segmental information is principally presented in respact of the Group’s geographical segments.

Segment results. assets and habilities include dems directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items principally comprise interest-bearing loans, borrowings,
cash and cash equivalents net financial expense, taxation balances and corporate expenses

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
The hotel and property operations are managed on a worldwide basis and operate in seven principal
geographical areas as follows

= New York

» Regional US

= Lendon

» Rest of Europe
« Singapore

- Rest of Asia

» Australasia

The segments reported reflect the operating segment informaton included in the internal reports that the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM"), which is the Board, regularly reviews,

The reportable segments are aligned with the structure of the Group's internal organisation which is based
according to geographical region. Discrete financial information is reported to and is reviewed by the CODM on
a geographical basis OQperating segments have Chief Operating Officers ("COOs") or equivalent who are
dicectly accountable for the functioning of their segments and who maintain regular contact with the Group Chuef
Executive Officer and Chairman of the CODM to discuss the operational and financial performance. The CODM
makes decisions about allocation of resources to the regions managed by the COOQs.

The results of COLMT have been ncorporated within the existing geographical regions In addition, COLHT
operations are reviewed separately by its board on a monthly basis
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SEGMENT RESULTS

NEW REG.ONAL

LONDON
£M

109

108

42
(23)

19

-

YORK us
£M £M

Revenue
Hotel 166 146
Rroperty operations - ]
REIT* - -
Total revenue 166 151
Hotel gross operating
profit 18 27
Hotel f xed charges’ {32) (20)
Hotel aperating
profit{loss) {14) 7
Propey operating proft - 1
REIT operating
profit{loss) -— -
Centra, costs - -
Cither gperating income’ - -
Qther coerating
expense’ (17 )
Other operatng expense
—RETT - -
QOperating profiv{lass)  (31) 5
Share of |oint ventures
and associates protit -
Acd™ Depreciaton and
amathsaton 11 13
Add Net revaiuation
gan/deficit & impairment 17 3
EBITDA® {3) 21

Less Depreciation,
amortisation, net
revaluator gain/deficit &
impairment

Net hnance expense

Profit before tax

26

2019
REST OF REST OF
EURQPE  SINGAPORE ASIA
M €M £M
66 134 182
- 3 10
33 17 11
a9 154 203
11 53 61
(11} (6) (29)
- 47 32
- 3 ]
" 4 3
- 3 7
(1} - {S)
(2) 3}] (11)
8 48 29
19 - 17
6 15 21
3 1 9
38 64 76

CENTRAL  TOTAL
AUSTRALASIA  COSTS GROUP
M £M M
85 - 888
53 - 71
5 - 66
143 - 1,028
41 - 253
(6) ~  (2m
35 - 126
26 - 39
4 - 8

- (44) (s4)

- - 10

- - (26)
(1} - {15}
64 (44) 98
- - 36

4 3 80

t - 34
69 (41) 248
(114)

32)

102

1 rHotel fixed charges include depreciation, property rent, taxes and insurance, and managemarit fees
2 See Note 7 for getails of olher Bperating income and expense

3 EBITDA 5 eamings before ntergst tax deprecation and amonisation
4

COLHT operaies the REIT business
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YORK
£EM

Revenue
Hotel 159
Property operations -
REIT! -—
Total revenue 159

Hotel gross operating profit 25
Hotel fixed charges' (33)

Hotel operating profit{loss) {8)
Property operating profit -
REIT operating profit’{loss) -
Central costs -
Other cperating income” -
Qther operating expense” 31

Other operating income —
REIT? -

Other operating expense —

REIT? -

Operating profit/{ioss) {39)

Share of joint vertures and
associates profit -

Add Depreciation and

NEW REGIONAL REST OF
US LONDON EURQPE
£M £M £M

139 106 71
5 _ -

- - 31
144 106 102
27 43 16
(25) 23) {an
2 20 5

2 - -

- - 11
(19) - 3y
- - 10
(15) 20 23
- - 13

amorisation 9 12 6 4

Add Net revaluation

gain/defial & mpairmant 3 19 - (7)

EBITDA® 1 16 26 33

Less Depreciaton,
amertisgtton net revaluation
gain/deficat & impairmant

Net inance expense

Profit before tax

2018

SINGAPORE
EM

130

16
149

51
4)
47

(2

(12}
60

REST OF
ASIA
£M

177

13
199

60
(33

27

(6)

(4}
N

16

20

72

ALUSTRALASIA
£M

72

CENTRAL
COSTS
EM

41

TOTAL
GROQUP
EM

867
65

65
997

264
(135}

129
37
15

{43)

(59}
22
4

105
29

69

36

239

{105)
(28)

106

1 Hotel fixed charges inciude gepreciahon, arorusalion of lease premum prepayments property rent, taxes and insurance, operating lease rentals and

management fees.

2 See “ote 7 for details of other operating income and expense
3 EBITDA s earnings before nterest. tax. depreciation and amorkisahon

4 CDLHTY ogperates the REIT business
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SEGMENTAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2019
NEW REGIONAL REST QF REST TOTAL
YORK USs LONDON EUROPE SINGARORE OF ASIA AUSTRALASIA  GROUP
£M EM £M £M £M EM £M EM
Huolel operaling assets 601 310 559 227 62 653 189 2,601
RE!T operating assets - - - 258 625 136 144 1,163
Hotel operating habihities (58) {58) (37) (41) (30} {80} (19) {323)
REIT operating '1abiities - - - (14) (12) (18) 3 (47)
Investment ih joint ventures and
associates - - - 9 - 141 - 180
Total hotel operating net assets 543 252 522 439 645 832 311 3,544
Property operaling assets - 61 - - 89 200 116 486
Praperty operating | abiites - (2) - - (1} 3} 1} {7)
Mvastment in joint venlures and
associates - - - 95 - 169 - 264
Total property operating net assets - 59 - 95 as 3ise 115 723
Deferred tax hablities {147}
Income taxes payable (13)
Net debt (758}
Net assetis 3,348
2018
NEW REG ONAL REST OF REST TOTAL
YORK US LONDON EURORPE SINGAPORE OF ASIA AUSTRALASIA GROUZ
EM M £M s £M EM EM EM
Hate! operating assets 614 308 514 228 24 659 188 2,536
REIT operating assets - - - 258 626 130 155 1,169
Hotel gperating iabites (31) (48} (13) (34} {23) {56) (1M (228)
REIT aperating iiabilibes - - - 7 (7} (2] {3} (24)
Investment in joint ventures and
associales - — - 1 - 181 - 162
Total hotel opecating net assets 583 261 501 446 618 877 329 3615
Property operaling assels -~ 48 - 39 89 195 115 486
Property operating habdities - M - - (2) (3) (2) (8}
Investment in jont ventures and
associales - - - 36 - 160 - 186
Tatal property operating net assets - 47 - 75 87 352 113 674
Deferred lax habiihes {172}
Income taxes payadle 27}
Net debt (727)
Net assots
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Geographic information

2019
£EM

Revenue from external customers
United States 317
United Kingdom 183
Singapore 154
New Zealand 133
Taiwan 77
South Korea 49
Ching 25
Malaysia 14
France 1
Australia 11
Philppines 7
Italy 7
Maldives =
tndonesia 5
Cther 26
Total revenue per consolidated income statement 1,025

268
£\

303
183
149
129
73
48
26
14
13

g~ 3o

26

997

The revenue information above is based on the location of the business. The £1.025m {2018: £997m) revenue is constituted

of £888m (2018 £867m) of hotel revenue £71m (2018° £65m) of property operations revenue and £65m (2018° £65m) of
REIT revenue. The property operalions revenue comprises £53m (2018: £48m) from Australasia. £3m (2018: £3m) from

Singapore and £15m (2018: £ 14m) from other countries
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2019 2018
£m £M
Non-current assets
United States 930 938
United Kingdom 808 756
Singapore 673 728
China 274 290
Taiwan 291 276
New Zealand 239 238
Japan 239 235
South Korea 176 191
Hong Kaong 124 121
Germany 100 106
Australia 81 85
Maldives 91 84
ltaly 78 83
Netherlands 103 73
Malaysia 65 66
France 36 35
Indonesia 13 12
Phifippines 7 7
Total non-current assets per consolidated statement of financial position 4,328 4325

Naon-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and equipment, investment properties. investment i joint
veniures and associates and pther non-current finanoca! assels

6 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
The following items are included within administrative expenses.

201% 2018
£M £M
Included in admmistrative expenses is the auditor's remuneration, for audit and non-audit
services as follows
Auditor's remuneration
Statutory audit services
— Annuai audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements 1 1
— Audit of subsidiary companies 2 2
3 3
Non-audit related services:
— Tax advisory 1 1

Total 4 4
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2019 2c18
£M EM

Repairs and maintenance 80 54

Depreciation

— property. plant and equipment 72 66

- nght-of-use assets 8 -

Lease premium amortisation - 3

Rental paid/payable under operating leases”

~ land and buitdings 1 4

- plant and machinery 1 3

* Under IFRS 16 Leates winich the Group adopted in the current year, paymenis under operaling leases are not charged 1o the income siaterent except
for trose whefe a recognition exemption has been apphed

7 OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSE

2019 2018
NOTES £ EM

Revaluation gam/(deficit) of tnvestment properties (A}
- REIT properties (4) 16
— Milennium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo 6 5
— Biltmore Court & Tower (3) (1)
— Tanglin Shopping Centre 1 3
Impairment of property, plant & equipment (B} (34} (59)
(34) {36)
Gain on disposal of investment properties (C) - 3
Fair value gain from FSGL's warrant (D) 3 -
{(31) (33}

(A} REVALUATION GAIN/(DEFICIT) OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At the end of the financial year, in accordance with the Group's paolicy its investment properties were subject to
externat professional valuation on an open-market existing use basis. Based on these valuations, the
revaluation gain or deficit was recorded as considered appropnate by the Directors Further details on these
valuations are provided in Note 14

(B) IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

The Directors undertook their annual raview of the carrying value of hoteis and property assets for indication of
impairment and where appropriate, external valuations were also obtained As a result of this review, the total
impairment charge for the year ended 31 December 2019 was £34m consisting of £17m in New York, £3m in
Rest of Europe and £14m in Rest of Asia. For 2018, a total mpairment charge of £59m was recognised in
relation to £31m in New York, £3m in Rest of Europe. £6m in Rest of Asia and £19m for Regwnal US. Further
information is given in Note 12.

(C) GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
On 11 January 2018, CDLHT completed the divestment of two hotels in Australia. the Mercure Brisbane and Ibis
Brisbane for A377m (E45m) and a gain of £3m was recognised by the Group.
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(D) FAIR VALUE GAIN FROM FSGL'S WARRANT

On 3 June 20189, the Group took up its full entittement of First Sponsor Group Limited's ("FSGL") nghts 1ssue of
new Perpetual Convertible Capital Securities ("PCCS") for a total cost of S353m (E30m). As part of the capital

funding exercise, 1 new free warrant was issued for every 1 new PCCS subscribed for; in addition, 1 new bonus
warrant was issued for every 10 existing ordinary shares held in FSGL For the year ended 31 Dacember 2019,

a fair value gain of £3m was recorded by the Group from the holding of new warrants.

8 PERSONNEL EXPENSES
2019

£m

Wages and salaries 322
Compulsory social secunity contnbutions 50
Contributions to defined contributton schemes 22
Defined benefit pension (gain)/cost — recorded in the statement of comprehensive income 4
Defined benefit pension cost —~ recorded in the income statement Fd
397

The number of employees employed by the Group as at year end analysed by category was as follows

2018
£ar

309
49
19
(5)

374

2018
NUMBER

8853
1,478
492
681

11,504

2018
&M

2019
NUMBER
Hotel operating staff 9,023
Management/administration 1,497
Sales and marketing 519
Repairs and maintenance 648
11.687
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
2018
EM
Remuneration 1
Received by the Directors under
~ Long-term incentive schemes -
- Pensions -
1
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9 NET FINANCE EXPENSE

2014 20°8

EM EM
Interest income 5 5
Foreign exchange gan 2 4
Finance income 7 9
Interest expense
— Overdrafts, bank and cther loans (25) (28)
— Recogrised under IFRS 16 Leases’ (5} -
Foreign exchange loss (9} (9
Finance expense (39) (37)
Net finance expense (32) (28)
10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2019 2018

£M £M
Current tax
Corporation tax charge for the year 30 34
Adjustment in respect of prior years {2} 1
Total current tax expense 28 35
Deferred tax (Note 26)
Origination and reversal of ttming differences (10} (14)
Benefits of tax losses recognised 1) (9)
{Over)funder provision in respect of prior years 1 1
Total deferred tax credit (20} (22)
Total income tax charge in the consolidated income statement 8 13
UK 1 2
QOverseas 7 11
Total income tax charge in the consolidated income statement 8 13

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has a tax charge of £8m (2018 £13m) excluding the tax relating
to joint ventures and associates

The effective tax rate relating to the tax charge of £8m is 12.4% (2018: 16.9%). The Graup's underlying effective
tax rate is 17 5% (2018: 20.4%). The effective tax rate has been affacted primarily by the mix of Group regional
profits and tax adjustments in respect of previous years (finalisation of exposures in Philippines).

For the year ended 31 December 2019, a charge of £7m (2018 £7m) relating to joint ventures and associates is
included in the profit before tax.
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ADJUSTMENTS IN RESPECT OF SETTLEMENT OF PRIOR YEARS’ TAX LIABILITIES

The Group’'s tax charge on ordinary activities is the sum of the total current and deferred tax charges. The
calculation of the Group's total tax charge necessarily involves a degree of estimation and judgement in respect
of certain items whaose tax treatment cannot be finally determined until resclution has been reached with the
relevant tax authority or, as appropriate, through a formal legal process. The final resoluton of some of these
iterns may give rnise to material profit and loss and/or cash flow vanances The geographical complexity of the
Group's structure makes the degree of estmation and judgement mare challenging. The resolution of issues I1s
not always within the control of the Group and 1t s often dependent on the efficacy of the legal processes in the
relevant tax jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

INCOME TAX RECONCILIATION

2019 2018
£M £M
Profit before income tax in consolidated income statement 102 106
Less share of profits of joint ventures and associates {36} (29)
Profit on ordinary activities excluding share of joint ventures and associates 86 77
Income tax on ordinary activities at the standard rate of UK tax of 19 00% (2018 19 00%);) 13 15
Tax exempt Income {29) {22)
Non-geductible expensas 17 10
Unrecognised tax iosses arising during the year 3 3
Other effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 4
Cther adjustments to tax charge n respect of prior years -
income tax expense per consoiidated income statement 8 13

11  EARNINGS PER SHARE

Subsequent 1o the Final Offer and Delisting of the Group, earnings per share is no longer applicable Refer to
the Directors Report on page 22 for further detail regarding the Final Offer and Delisting.

2019 2me
(a) Basic
Profit for the year attributable to holders of the parent (Em} 62 43
Weighted average number of shares in 1ssue (m) 325 325
Basic earnings per share {(pence) - 13.1p
(») Diluted
Profit for the year attnbutable to holders of the parent (Em) 62 a3
!Weighted average number of shares in issue {m) 325 325
‘Potentiaily dilutive share options under the Group’s share ogtion schemes (m) - -
Weighted average number of shares in issue (diluted) (m} 325 325
Diluted earnings per share {pence) - 131p
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

FIXTURES,
CAPITAL ATTINGS AND RIGHT-
LAND AND WORK N £ ANT AND EQUIPMENT QF .Ust
BUI_INGS PROGRESS MACHINERY AND VEHICLES ASSETS TOTAL
£M £M £M _EM £M £M

Cost
Baance at 1 anuary 2C18 3297 36 349 3 - 4,063
Addit Crs - Azquisitions & - - 1 - 8
ADNI 0N - Dthers 2 43 D 15 - 70
Rectassficanon between asset categones 3 8} - 3 - -
T-ansfe’ 10 |rvestment properties - 3 - - - 3
Disposals - - - 2) - {2;
Wrihar off SF - (3} 4 - ®
Foreigr excrange adjustrerts 8z z "2 12 - ica
Balanca at 31 December 2078 3388 72 368 406 - 4234
Baiance 3l 1 _anuary 2019 3,383 T2 368 406 - 4,234
Adagror ¢f IFRS 16 on 1 Jauary 2019 - - - - 207 wr
Aggd:tions - Others 1 45 14 29 8 107
Rec'assdicalipn between asset categores R H (51} 12 14 - -
T-ans‘er 1 assats nela for sake (am m (39) 1] 2 (150)
Disposas - - - {1} - (1)
Writtan off - m (8) (1¢) - (19)
Foreign exchange adjusiments {55) (1} (5} i8) 4) (L6
Balance at 31 December 2019 3262 47 343 424 209 4,305
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 Janua~y 2018 &20 1 135 27a - 934
Charge for the year 19 - t4 a3 - 56
IrMpaiment H8 - 1 - - 59
Cisposals - - - 2) - 12)
wyntten off - - 2y (4) - 8]
Foregn exchange adustiv ents 16 - 5 9 - 30
Balance at 31 Decarber 2048 813 ‘ *53 314 - 1.081
Salance al 1 January 209 513 1 153 314 - 1,081
Charge for 'ne year Fal - 15 16 8 80
Moz e 9 - 5 - - k)
Disposals - - - 1 - m
Reciassfoator between asset calegores - - mn 1 - =
Transfer ¢ assets heid for sale [4E ] - {z7) (6} - (48)
wWhniten off - 4} {7) [E2] - 17
Fore gn exchange adjustments (1Q) - {7} n {1} [EL]
Balance at 31 December 2019 &40 - 138 328 7 1.1
Carrying amaunts N B
At 31 December 2019 2,842 47 207 96 202 3,184
AL 31 December 2018 2778 71 215 92 - 3,152

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment held under finance leases at 31 December 2019 was £miE {2018, £nil).
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A IMPAIRMENT

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for mpairment based on each cash generating unit {*CGU"). The
CGUs are individual hotels. The carrying value of individual hotels was compared to the recoverable amount of
the hotels, which was derived with the reference to fair value through creation of discount cash flow models
Under this methodology, the fair value measurement reflects current market expectations about the third-party
efficient operator's is future cash flows, discounted to their present value The underlying basis for the
impairment model involves each hotel's projected cash flow for the financial year ending 31 December 2020,
extrapolated to incorporate individual assumptions 10 respect of revenue growth (pnncipally factoring in room
rate and accupancy growth) and major expense lines. The future cash flows are based on assumptions about
competitive growth rates for hotels in that area, as well as internal business plans. These pfans and forecasts
include management's most recent view of trading prospects for the hotel in the relevant market Where
appropriate, the Directors sought guidance on value from a registered independent appraiser with an
appropriately recogrised professional qualification and recent experience in the jocation and category of the
hotel being valued

On the basis of external valuations in 2018, the Group recorded an impairment charge of £34m consisting of
£17m in New York, £14m in Rast of Asia and £3m in Rest of Europe. For 2018, a total impairmeant charge of
£59m was recogmsed in relation to £31m in New York, £3m in Rest of Europe, £6m in Rest of Asia and £19m
for Regional US. Further information is given in Note 12

Circumstances and events that led to impairment are largely due to the performance of the hotels. The farr
values assumed through the impaiment assessment are considered to fall within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. Refer o Note 22d for more gdetail

B KEY ASSUMPTIONS USED BY THE EXTERNAL APPRAISERS
The key assumptions used were as follows

Pre-tax discount rate — The discount rate is based on the country it which the hotel is located and is adjusted for
risks associated with the hotel. Discount rates ranged from 7 76% w1 the US. 5.90% to 11.50% in Europe, 7 25%
to 12.00% in Asia and 7.25% 1o 10.25% in New Zealand.

Occupancy rate ~ The oceupancy growth rates ranged up to 1.00% in the US, up to 1 00% in Europe, an
increase of 10% to a decrease of 2 00% in Asia and up to 3 00% in New Zealand

Average room rate — The average room rate growth ranged from 4.60% in the US, 1 70% to 2 60% in Europe,
2.40% to 6 80% in Asia and 2 50% to 5.80% in New Zealand

Terminal rate — These rates ranged from 5.50% in the US, 4 00% to 9 50% in Europe, 5.50% to 9.00% in Asia
and 6.50% ta 9.25% in New Zealand

The forecasts cover a five to ten year period. and cash flows beyond this penod are extrapofated using a growth
rate ranging between 1 50% and 3.00%, which i1s based upon the expected trading growth for each hotel and
inflation in the country

c SENSITIVITIES

The Group’s impairment review is sensitive to changes in key assumptions used, most notably the discount and
terminal rates. Based on the Group's sensitivity analysis performed on the property in New York (which
regresants 50% of the total impairment recognised), assuming that all other variables were to remam constant,
the increase/(decrease) in the Group's total impairment recognised would be as follows:

£M
Terminal rate decreased by 0 25% {5}
Terminal rate \ncreased by 0 25% 4
Discount rate decreased by 0.25% 3
Discount rate increased by 0.25% 3
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D LAND AND BUILDINGS
Interest of £2m (2018 £nil) was capitalised within land and buildings during the year. The cumulative capitalised
interest withun tand and buildings is £7m (2018 £5m).

E PLEDGED ASSETS
Al year-end. the net book value of assets pledged as collaterat for secured loans was £529m (2018 £477m).
The security for the loans is by way of charges on the properties of the Group companies concerned

13 LEASE PREMIUM PREPAYMENT
2019

£Mm
Cost
Balange at 1 January 2019 129
Adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 (129}
Balance at 31 December 2019 -
Amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2019 24
Adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 (24)

Balance at 31 December 2019 -

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 -
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Completed investment properties comprise Tanglin Shopping Centre, Biltmore Court & Tower, COLHT

properties and Millennium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo. Investment properlies under construction represents the
site at Sunnyvale

Maovements in the year analysed as

INVESTMENT
SWESTHERT  CUUNDER  GhuSE
PROPERTIES CGNSTRUCTION  ASSETS TaTAl
£M £M £M £M
Balance at 1 January 2018 568 9 - 577
Transfer from property, plant and equipment — 3 - 3
Additions - 8 - 5
Acquisition of property 38 — - 38
Adjustment to farr value 22 - — 22
Foreign exchange adyustment 22 - - 22
Balance at 31 December 2018 650 18 - 668
Balance at 1 January 2019 650 18 - 668
Adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 - - 7 7
Additions 5 16 - 21
Foreign exchange adiustment {15) ¥ - (16)
Baiance at 31 December 2019 640 33 7 680

In general, the carrying amount of investment property other than those under construction is the fair value of
the property as determined by a registered independent appraiser having an appropriate recognised
professional qualification and recent experience in the locabion and category of the property being valued. Fair
values were determined having regard to recent market transactions for stmilar properties in the same location
as the Group's investment property

Consistent with the prior year, only the land site at Sunnyvale, Califorma, is classified as investment properties
under construction as the project of building a hotet and an apartment complex is still in progress This asset is
carried at cost on the balance sheet.
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The Group's investment properties were subject to external professional valuation on an open market existing
use basis by the following accredited independent valuers.

PROPERTIES VALUERS
Tanglin Shopping Centre, Singapore Edmund Tie & Company (SEA) Pte Lid
Biltmore Court & Tower, Los Angeles Sequoia Hotel Advisors. LLC
Land site at Sunnyvale, Calfornia Sequoia Hotel Advisors. LLC
Millennium Mitsu, Garden Hotel Tokya Jones Lang LaSalle KK
CDOLHT - Singapore Knight Frank Pte Ltd
CDLHT - Australia CBRE Pte Ltd and Jones Lang LaSalle Advisory Services Pty Limited
CDLHT — Maldives Jones Lang LaSalle Property Consultants Ple Ltd
CDLHT - Germany Cushman & Wakefield
COLHT = ltaly Cushman & Wakefield

Based on these valuations together with such considerations as the Directors consider appropnate, Millennium
Mitsui Garden Hote! Tokyo Biltmore Court & Tower and Tanglin Shopping Centre recorded a revaluation gain of
£6m (2018. revaluation gain £5m), a revaluation deficit of £3m (2018. revaluation deficit £1m) and a revaluation
gain of £1m (2018 revaluation gain £3m) respectively. In addition. the REIT properties recorded a net
revaluation deficit of £4m (2018 net revaluation gain of £16m). Al the other investment properties recorded no
change and no impairment was identified

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The farr value measurement for investment properties not under construction of £640m (2018: £650m) has been
categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on inputs to the valuation technique used
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VALUATION TECHNIQUE AND SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS
The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment property, as
well as significant uncbservable inputs used.

INTER-RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN KEY
UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS AND FAIR VALUE

VALUATION TECHNIQJE SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE iINPUTS MEASUREMENT

The techrique applied n the valuation of the  Tanglin Shopping Centre The estimated fair value would increase/

Tanglin Shopping Centre is based on marxet  Qpen market values for other propertes (decrease) if

companson of sales of similar properiies in

the vicsnity Further adjustments are Made to  Biltmors Court 8 Tower Expected marke! rental growth were

this value to account for differences in Discount rate of between 8 25% to 10 50% higher/(lower), and

HOcation, size, enure. wew, accessibity, and captahsation rate of 7 75% 10§ 0C%

cond tion and other factors Risk agjusted discount rate was lower/ (higher)
Milignnium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo capitahisation rate was higher! (lower) and

Bitmaore Court & Tower and Millennium Mitsul Discount rate of 3 7% and capiahsation rate of  terminal yield was lower/ (higher)

Garden Hotei Tokyo were vaued using a 4 1%

discounted cash flow technigue based on

expected rental income and discount rate CDLHT invastment properties Ciscount rate

appropnate for the property of between 4 75% and 12.00% capitahsauon

rate of 4 25% to 6 00% and terminal yield of
Investment propertes held by the RE!T were 4 25% to 9 00%
valued using the discounted cash flow,
capitalisaton or companson techrnaues

Further details in respect of iInvestment property rentals are given in Note 37

ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY

On 27 November 2018, the H-REIT Group acquired 35 0% of the shares and vohing interest in Event Hospitality
Group Ul B.V.. which whaolly-owns Event Hospitality Group I ltaly SRL, sole shareholder of NKS Hospitality Il
(collectively, the “ltaly Acquisition”) for a total consideration of €33m (£29m). NKS Hospitality 11l SRL is the legal
owner of Hotel Cerretani Florence, MGallery by Sofitel and the fixtures, furniture and equipment therein
{collectively, the “italy Property”). The acquisition was accounted for as an acquisition of assets.

IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS ACQUIRED AND LIABILITIES ASSUMED
The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and habilites assumed at the date
of acquisition

€M M
Investment property 43 38
Trade and other receivables 1 1
Cash at bank 3 3
Current liabilities (1} (1)
Borrawings {11 (10)
Total identifiable net assets 35 31
Less' Non-controlling interest, based on their proportionate interest in the recognised
amounts of the assets and liabilities of the acquiree {2) (2)
identifiable net assets acquired 33 29
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CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

Total consideration for 95 0% equdy interest acquired
Add Acqguisition related costs

Less Cash at bank of subsidiaries acquired

Less: Acquisiton related costs not yet paid

Net cash outflow on acquisition’

€M
33

(3)
2)
30

1 Included n cash flows from nvesting actvibes

15 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
The Group has the following investments in joint ventures and associates

PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUS NESS

Joint ventures
New tinity Holdings Limited (“New Urity") Hong Kong
Fergurson Hotel Management Limited Hong Kong
New York Sign LLC New Yark
Associate People's Republic of
First Sponsor Group Limited {"First Sponsor’) China
Prestons Road Limited New Zealand
CDL Hotels Japan Pte Ltd Singapore

FAIR VALUE
OF
OWNERSHIP
NTEREST
EM

226

EFFECTIVE GRQUP

INTEREST

2018

50%
50%
50%

36%
17%
40%

2048

50%
50%
50%

36%
17%
40%

The Group has 50% in New Unity which operates the Group’s hotel business in Hong Kong. First Sponsor is a
property company which 1s listed on the Singapore Exchange and has interests in China, the Netherlands and
Germany It is also involved in the Chinese property financing business which carries additional nsk of

recoverability of certain assets

Share of net assets/cost

Balance at 1 January 2018
Share of profit for the year
Dividends received

Foreign exchange adjustments

Balance at 31 December 2018

Balance at 1 January 2019
Share of profit for the year
Additions

Dividends received

Foresgn exchange adjustments

Balance at 31 December 2019

VENTURES

JOINT

M

108

121

121

(3}
121

ASSOCIATES
£

216
22
(4)

237

237
33
37
(5
(9)

293

TOTAL
£M

324
29
(4)

358

358
36
a7
(5)

(12)

414
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The following is summarnsed financial information fer First Sponsor and New Unity based on their respective
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS These are considered to be the most significant
investments in joint ventures and associates

FIRST SPONSQR NEW UNITY

2019 2018 2019 2018

£M £EM EM £M

Non-current assets 951 749 349 361
Current assets 618 624 91 mm
Nan-current liabilities (367) {476) (84) (104)
Current habilbes (377} {224) (34) (38)
Total assets less total liabilities 825 670 322 320
Less' Nonr-controliing interest {(17) 7 {82) (79)
Net assets (100%) 808 663 240 241
Group's share 291 237 120 121
Revenue 183 154 118 134
Qperating profit 108 76 13 28
Interest income/(expense) - 4 (k)] (2}
Income tax expense {16) (15} (2) {4)
Profit for the year 92 65 10 22
Non-controlling interests 1 (3 (5) (9
Profit for the year after non-controiling interests 93 62 5 13
Other comprehensive income {19) (13) - -
Profit and total comprehensive income (100%) 74 49 5 13
Group's share of profit and total comprehensive income 27 18 2 7

Dividends received by the Group 4 4 - -

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s share of the total capital commitments of joint ventures and associates
amaunted to £58m (2018 £15m) At 31 December 2019, the Group's jeint ventures and associates had no
contingent habilities (2018: £nil)
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16 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2019

20°8

£M £EM
Eguity investments 34 39
Denvative financial assets 4 2
Deposits receiwvable 2 2
40 43
17 INVENTORIES
2019 2018
£M £M
Consumables 7 5
18 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES
2019 2018
£M £M
Development properties comprise:
Development land for resale
- New Zealand residential sections 93 80
Bevelopment properties
- Zenith Residences 22 25
115 115
19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2019 2018
£M EM
Trade receivables 4C 45
Other receivables 24 27
Prepayments and accrued income 26 29
Trade receivables due from holding and associate companies 1 1
91 102

Trade receivables are shown net of an impairment allowance of £7m (2018 £4m) relating to the likely

insclvencies of certain customers and non-recoverability of debts.

The Group's exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables

are disclosed in Note 22
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20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2019 2018

£M ™

Cash at bank and in hand 254 228
Short-term deposits 240 225
Cash pool overdrafts (85) (78)
Cash and cash equivalents on the statement of financial position 409 375
Overdrafts included in borrowings - -
Cash and cash equivalents shown in the cash flow statement 409 375

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets are disclosed in Note 22,
As at 31 December 2018 £3m (2018 £1m) of the cash balance was restricted.

21 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS, BONDS AND BORROWINGS

2018 2018
£ £M

Included within non-current liabilities
Bank loans 776 614
Bonds payable 77 175
853 789

included within ¢urrent (iabilities

Bank loans and overdrafts 219 234
Bonds payable 96 79

3156 312

Net debt of £759m (2018 £727m) is the total of the interest-bearing loans, bonds and borrowings of £1,168m
(2018 £1.102m) less cash and cash equivalents of £409m {2018: £375m) Further details in respect of financial
liabilities are given in Note 22

22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
OVERVIEW
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

= credd nsk;
= hiqudity risk: and
= market risk

This nate presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above nisks, and the Group’'s policies
and processes for measunng and managing risk

(A) CREDIT RISK

Credil nsk is the risk of financal foss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financiaf instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligatians, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers and
investment securities.

Exposure to credit nsk ;s monitored on an ongoing basis, with credit checks performed on all clients requirng
credit over cerfain amounts Credit is not extended beyond authorised Imits, established where appropriate
through consuitation with a professional credit vetting organisation. Credit granted is subject to regular review, to
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ensure it remains consistent with the chent's current creditworthiness and appropriate to the anticipated volume

of business.

Investments are allowed only in iguid short-term instruments within approved hmits, with investment
counterparties approved by the Board, such that the exposure to a single counterparty 1s minimised

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of each financial asset on the balance

sheet, these being spread across the various currencies and jurisdictions in which the Group cperates.

The maximum exposure 1o credit risk at the reporting date was

CARRYING VALUE

2019
M

Cash at bank and in hand (see Note 20) 254
Short-term deposits (see Note 20) 240
Cash pool overdrafts (see Note 20) (85)
Trade recelvables (see Note 19) 40
Other recaivables (see Note 19) 24
Equity investments (see Note 16) 34
Deposits receivable (see Note 16} 2
Trade receivables due from holding and associate companies (see Note 19) 1
510

2c18
£M

228
225
(78)
45
27
39
2

1

489

The maximum exposure ta credit nsk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was’

New York
Regional US
Rest of Europe
Singapore
Rest of Asia
Australasia

CARRYING VALUE

2019
£M

7

oM W W

40

2018
EM

7
4
10
7
10
7

45
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The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

IMPAIRMENT
GROSS RECE!VABLE AL_CWANCE CARRYING VALUE

2018 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
11 EM £M M EM £M
Not past due 24 28 - - 24 28
Past due 0 — 30 days 9 11 - - 9 11
Past due 31 — 60 days 3 3 - - 3 3

Past due 61 — 90 days 2 1 - - 2
More than 90 days 9 ] (7 (4} 2 2
47 49 (7) {4) 40 45

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade recewvabies during the year was as follows:

2019 2018

M EM

Balance at 1 January 4 3
Impairment losses recognised 4 2
Bad debts written off (1) %)
Balance at 31 December 7 4
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CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

2019
MORE
6 MONTHS 8 MONTHS 1-5 THAN
TOTAL OR LESS -1 YEAR YEARS 5 YEARS
£M £M £M £M £M
Financial Assets
Fixed Rate
US dollar 5 5 - - -
Korean Won 8 8 - - -
Singapore doliar 60 26 - 34 -
New Taiwan dollar 35 31 - - 4
Australian dollar 41 a1 - - _
New Zealand dollar 77 77 - - -
Malaysian Ringgst 22 22 - - -
Euro 2 - - 2 -
Chinese Renmunbi 7 7 - - -
Others 1 1 - - -
Non-Interest Bearing
Sterling 50 50 - - -
US dollar 48 48 - - -
Singapore dollar 75 75 — - -
Austrahan dollar 6 6 - - -
New Zealand dollar 4 4 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 1 1 -~ - -
Euro 17 17 - - -
Japanese Yen 18 18 - - -
Others 7 7 - - -
Interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Singapore dollar 49 49 - - -
Non-Interest Bearing Cash Poo! deposits
Sterling 1 1 - - -
Total cash and other financial assets 534 494 - 36 4
Interest Bearing Cash Poo! Overdrafts
Sterling (24) (24) - - -
Hong Kong dallar (17} N - - -
Non-interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
Sterling (38) (38) - - -
Euro (6) (8) - - -
Total overdrafts (Note 20) (85) (85) - - -
449 409 - 36 4
Representad by; o )
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) 409
Financial assets (Ncte 18) 40
449
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CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIA_ ASSETS

2018
MORE
6 MONTHS 6 MONTHS 1-5 THAN
TOTAL OR LESS -1 YEAR YEARS 5 YEARS
EM £ £M M EM
Financial Assets
Fixed Rate
US dotlar 4 4 - - -
Korean Won 8 8 - - -
Singapore dollar 108 59 - 39 -
New Taiwan doflar 24 22 - - 2
Australian dollar 38 38 — - -
New Zealand dollar 62 62 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 21 21 - - -
Euro 2 - - 2 -
Chinese Renminb: 20 20 - - -
Non-Interest Bearing
Sterhng 9 9 - - -
US dollar 34 34 - - -
Singapore dollar 29 29 - - -
Australian doHar 5 5 - - -
New Zealand dollar 5 5 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 1 1 - - -
Euro 22 22 - ~ -
Japanese Yen 17 17 - — -
Others 4 4 - - -
Interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Singapore dollar 53 53 — - -
Non-Interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Sterling 30 30 — - -
Total cash and other financial assets 496 453 - 41 2
interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
Sterling (24) (24} - - -
Hong Kong dollar (19) (19) - - -
Non-Interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
Sterling (28) (28) - - -
Euro (7) (7} - - _
Total overdrafts (Note 20) {78) (78} - - -
418 375 - 41 2
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents {Note 20) 375
Financial assets {Note 18) 43
418
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(B) LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity nsk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet s financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’'s approach to managing liguidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilites when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or nsking damage to the Group's reputation.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial habiities. including estimated interest payments using
the interest rates prevailing as at the reporting date

CARRYING CONTRACTUAL

AMOUNT
31 DECEMBER 2013 £
Floating rate financial
liabilities
Secured loans 44
Unsecured loang 602
Secured bonds 20
Fixed rate financial
liabilities
Unsecured loans 311
Secured loans 38
Secured bands 76
Unsecured bonds 77
Trade and other payables
Trade payables 32
Other creditors 55
Non-current liabilities
Other nan-current habilities 17

1,272

CASH FLOWS
EM

47
636
20

340
41
76
81

32
55

17

1,345

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LLABILITIES

& MONTHS
OR LESS
EM

58
20

54

32
55

225

6-12
MONTHS
£

109

66

22

203

12
YEARS
£M

259

349

2-5
YEARS
EM

518

MCRE
THAN

5 YEARS
£M

38

12
50
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CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

CARRYING CONTRACTUAL 6 MONTHS 612 1-2 2.5 "?3?5
AMOUNT  CASHFLOWS  ORLESS MONTHS YEARS YEARS  5YEARS
31 DECEMBER 2038 £M £M &M €M £M £M £m
Floating rate financia?
liabilities
Secured lpans B1 84 28 - 1 35 -
Unsecured loans 451 475 52 75 157 191 -
Secured bonds 20 20 - - 20 - -
Unsecured bonds 157 167 3 80 3 81 -
Fixed rate financial
liabilities
Unsecured loans 296 321 4 95 29 193 -
Secured loans 40 a4 - - 1 2 41
Secured bonds 77 78 - - 78 - -
Trade and other payables
Trade payables 32 32 32 ~ - - -
Other creditors 53 53 53 - - - -
Non-current liabilities
Other non-cwirent habiities 15 15 - - 2 3 10
1,202 1,269 172 250 291 505 51

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities

At 31 December 2019, the Group had £595m (2018 £539m} of undrawn and committed facilities available,
comprising committed revolving credit facilities which provide the Group with finanaal flexibilty Maturities of
these facilities are set out in the following tabie.

The conditions precedent to the availability of these facilities are all satisfied at the balance sheet daie

2019 2048

EM EM

Expiring in one year or less 423 223
Expirng after more than one year but not more than two years 95 165
Expiring after more than two years but not maore than five years 77 151
Expiring after mere than five years - -
Total undrawn committed borrowing facilities 595 539
Total undrawn uncommitted borrowing faciliies 12 173
Total undrawn borrowing facilities 707 712

SECURITY

Included within the Group's total bank lcans and overdrafts of £996m (2018 £849m) are £82m (2018 £100m) of
secured loans and overdrafts. Total bonds anc notes payable of £173m (2018 £254m) consist of £77m
unsecured.

Loans, bonds and notes are secured on land and buiidings with a carrying value of £529m (2018: £477m) and
an assignment of insurance proceeds in respect of Insurances over the mortgaged properties
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Of the Group's total facilities of £1,879m, £846m matures within 12 months comprising £96m secured bonds
and notes, £277m commutted revolving credit faciities, £150m uncommitted facilibes and overdrafts subject to
annual renewal. £323m unsecured term Ioans and no secured term loans. Plans for refinancing the faciities are
underway

(C) MARKET RiSK
Market risk 1s the nsk that changes in market prnces, such as foreign exchange rates. interest rates and equity
prices will affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

The prmary objectives of the treasury function are to provide secure and caompetitively priced funding for the
activities of the Group and to identify and manage financial risks, including exposure to movements in interest
and fere:gn exchange rates arnsing from those actvities If appropriate, the Group uses financial instruments and
derivatives to manage these risks, as set out below

()] FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group is exposed te foreign currency risk on revenue. purchases, borrowings and cash deposits
denommated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective Group entities The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily US dollars, Singagpore doliars, New Zealand doliars, New Taiwan dollars,
Korean wort, Chinese renminbi, Japanese yen and Euro

The Group's principal policy, wherever possible, is to maintain a natural hedge whereby liabhities are matched
with assets denominated in the same currency Foreign currency investment exposure 15 also minimised by
borrowing «n the currency of the investment.

To mitigate foreign currency transtation exposure, an appropriate proportion of net assets are designated as
hedged agamst corresponding financial tiabilities in the same currency.

NET INVESTMENT HEDGING

The Group has US$302m {2C18. US%161m) US dollar loans and €7m (2018: €/m) Euro lcans designated as
hedges of corresponding respective proportions of its net investment in foreign operations whose functional
currencies are US dollars and Euros The risk being hedged is the foreign currency exposure aon the carrying
amount of the net assets of the foreign operation upon consclidation. The fair value of the hedging instruments
as at 31 December 2019 was £292m (2018: £133m)

An analysis of borrowings by currency and their fair values as at 31 December is given below.

31 DECEMBER 2019 31 DECEMBER 2018

BOOK FAIR BOOK
VALUE VALUE VALUE FAIR VALUE
£M Y] EM £M
Sterling 166 166 146 146
Singapore dollar 237 237 223 223
US dotlar 549 549 468 468
New Zealand dollar 34 34 34 34
Chinese renminbi 10 10 27 27
Japanese yen 119 119 120 120
Korean Won 13 13 14 14
Euro 40 40 70 70
1,168 1,168 1,102 1,102

Exchange differences arising on foretgn currency loans during each accounting period are recogrised as a
component of equity, to the extent that the hedge is effective. The foreign exchange exposure arising on the
Group's net investment in its subsidiaries 1s expected to be highly effective in offsetting the exposure arising on
the Group’s foreign currency borrowings. However during the year an immatenial amount (2018: £2m credit) was
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recognised in the consclidated iIncome statement that arose frem hedges of net investments in foreign

operations that were considered to be ineffective

Foreign currency transaction exposure 1s prmarily managed through funding of purchases from operating

income streams arising in the same currency

Hedging of transacticn exposure is undertaken with approved counterparties and within desighated imits, using
spaot or short-term forward contracts to buy or sell the currency concermed, once the timing and the underlying
amount of exposure have been determined. Foreign exchange derivatives may also be used to hedge specific

transaction exposure where appropriate.

The following significant exchange rates appired duning the year:

US dollar
Singapore dollar
New Tawan dollar
New Zealand doliar
Malaysian nnggit
Korean won
Chinese renminbi
Euro

Japanese yen

AVERAGE RATE

2019

1.276
1.743
39.432
1.932
§.296
1,482.06
8.820
1.141
139.432

2018

1.334
1.799
10 237
1.927
5.390
1,465 8BS
8.825
1129
147 426

CLOSING RATE

2018

1.299
1.758
38.070
1953
5.367
1,507.54
9.092
117
142.223

2018

1.270
1.741
36.152
1885
5306
1.428 30
8736
1.115
140.298
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

With respect to the Group's foreign currency expesure, and assuming that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant, it is estimated that a 10% strengthening of sterling against the following
currencies at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2018. 10%) would have increased/{decreased) equity and profit
before tax by the amounts shown below’

31 DECEMBER 2019 31 DECEMBER 2018
PROFIT PROFIT
BEFORE BEFORE
EQUITY TAX EQUITY TAX
EM £M EM EM
US dotlar 31 6 28 7
Australian doltar (8) M (8) (1)
Singapore dollar 7 4 6 {4)
New Taiwan dollar - 4 - {1
New Zealand dollar - 5) - {5)
Euro 4 {(2) 4 {2)
Chinese renminbi (3} (2) (4) (1)
Japanese Yen 2 (1) 2 (2)
33 {10} 28 (8

A 10% weakening of steriing against the above currencies at 31 December 2019 {31 December 2018 10%)
would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown abave, on the
basis that all other variables remain constant

(U)) INTEREST RATE RISK AND INTEREST RATE SWAPS

The Group adopts a policy of ongoing review of its exposure to changes in interest rates on its borrowings,
taking into account market expectations with regard to the perceived level of risk associated with each currency,
the maturity profile and cash flows of the underlying debt, and the extent to which debt may potentially be either
prepaid prior to its maturity or refinanced at reduced cost

The Group's policy 1s to maintain a mixture of its financial liabilties on a fixed and floating-rate basis with a
greater emphasis on floating rates presently as this flexibility is considered to be appropriate in the context of
the Group's overall geographical diversity, investment and business cycle and the stability of the income
streams cash balances and loan covenants.

Interest rate derivatives are used to manage interest rate risk, to the extent that the perceived cost is considered
to outweigh the benefit from the flexibility of variable rate borrowings, and the Group actively monitors the need
and tming for such derivatives. Where used, interest rate derivatives are classified as cash flow hedges and
stated at fair value within the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. Further details of interest rate
derivatives in place at 31 December 2019 are provided hereafter
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CASH FLOW SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR VARIABLE RATE INSTRUMENTS

Assuming that all other variabies, i particutar foreign currency rates, remain constant, a change of one
percerntage pairtt in the average interest rates applicabie to variabile rate instruments for the year would have
increased/{decreased) the Group’s profit before tax for the year as shown below

11 DECEMBER 2019 31 DECEMBER 2018
1% 1% 1% 1%
INCREASE OECREASE iNCREASE OECREASE
£Mm ™ M £M
Variabie rate financial assets 2 {2} 2 (2)
Variab'e rate financial liabiihes {13) 13 (1N 11
Cash flow sensitivity {net) (11 11 (9) g

(D) FAIR VALUE

Set out below is a comparison of the fair and book vaiues of all the Group's financial instruments by category.
Fair values are determined by reference to market values, where available, or calculated by discounting cash
flows at prevailing interest rates.

2018 2019 2018
HBOOK FAIR BOOX 2018
VALUE VALUE VALUE FAIR VALUE
™ £M M M
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand 254 254 228 228
Shori-term deposits 240 240 225 225
Cash pool overdrafts (85) {85) (783 (78)
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables 40 40 45 45
Trade receivables due from holding and associate companies 1 1 1 1
Other recaivabies 24 24 27 27
Other financial assets
Equity investments 34 34 39 39
Deposits receivable 2 2 2 2
510 510 489 489
Financial liabilities
Overdrafts and borrowings {1.168) (1,168) (1,102) {1,102}
Trade payables {32} {32 {32) {32}
Other creditors (55) {55) (53) (53)
Other non-current liabilities (17} (17 {15) (15}

(1,272)  {4,272)  (1,202)  (1,202)
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ESTIMATION OF FAIR VALUES
The following summarnses the major methods and assumptions used (n estimating the fair values of financial
instruments reflected In the table

DERIVATIVES
Forward exchange contracts are either marked to market using hsted market prices or by discounting the
contractual forward price and deducting the current spot rate. For interest rate swaps. bank valuations are used

INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Fair value 1s calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES
The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash fiows, discounted at market interest rates for
similar lease agreements. The estimated fair values reflect changes in interest rates

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES
For receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount 1s deemed to reflect
the fair value. All other receivables/payables are discounted to determine the fair value

INTEREST RATES USED FOR DETERMINING FAIR VALUE
Prevailing market interest rates are used to discount cash flows to determine the fair value of financial assets
and liabilities.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
As at 31 Decermber 2019, the Group held certain financial instruments measured at fair vaiue.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded farr value are
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3- technigues that use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based
on observable market data

The table below provides a hierarchy analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value

2019 2018

LEVEL1 LEVEL2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOAL

EM £™ £ £M £M £M £M £M

Equity investment at FyQCI - 30 - 30 - 38 - 39

Equity investment at FVTPL - 4 - 4 - - - -

Currency derivative assets - 4 - 4 - 2 - 2

Assets - s - 38 - 41 - 41
Interest rate derivative

habihties - - - - - 1 - 1

Liabilities - - - - - 1 - 1

During the year ended 31 December 2019 there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements, and no transfers intc and out of Level 3 fair value measures

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Company's objective for managing its capital
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18 to ensure that Group entities will be able to continue as a going concern while masamising the return to
shareholders, as well as sustaining the future development of its business |n order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may alter the total amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares, draw down additional debt or reduce debt

The Group's capital structure consists of debt, which includes the foans and borrowings disciosed in Note 21,
cash and cash equivalents disclosed in Note 20 and the equity attnbutable to the parent, compnsing share
capital, reserves and retained earnings, as disciosed In the consolidated statement of changes in equity The
Group seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

One of the Group’s subsidiaries CDLHT which is a stapled group comprising CDL Hospitality Reasl Estate
Investment Trust ("H-REIT") and CDL Hospitality Business Trust (“HBT"), a business trust, 1s required ta
maintain certain mirvmum base capital and financial resources.

H-REIT 1s subject to the aggregate leverage limit as defined in the Property Fund Appendix of the Code on
Coltective Investment Schemes (“CIS Code”) issued by Monetary Authority of Singapore. The CIS Code
stipulates that the total borrowings and deferred payments (together the "Aggregate Leverage”) of a property
fund should not exceed 45.0% of its Deposited Property except that the Aggregate Leverage of a property fund
may axceed 45.0% of its Deposited Property (up to a maximum of 60 0%) if a credit rating of the property fund
from Fitch inc., Moody’s or Standard and Poor's is obtained and disclosed to the public. The property fund
should continue to maintain and disclose a credit rating sc long as its Aggregate Leverage exceeds 45 0% of its
Deposited Property.

For this inancial year, H-REIT has a credit ratng of BBB- from Fitch Inc The Aggregate Leverage of H-REIT as
at 31 December 2019 was 35.4% (2018 34.2%) of H-REIT's Depaosited Property. This complied with the
aggregate leverage limit as described above

HBT, H-REIT and CDLHT have complied with the barrowing imit requirements imposed by the relevant Trust
Deeds and all externally imposed capital requirements for the financial years ended 31 December 2016 and
2018

Except for the above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS

The Group operates various funtded pension schemes which are established in accordance with local conditions
and practices within the countnes concerned. The most significant funds are described below

UNITED KINGDOM

The pension arrangements in the United Kingdom operate under the 'Miliennium & Copthorne Pension Plan’,
which was set up in 1993 The plan operates a funded defined benefit arrangement together with a defined
contnbution plan, both with different categories of membership The defined benefit section of the plan was
closed to new entrants in 2001 and at the same time rights to a Guaranteed Minimumn Pensicn ("GMPs") under
the defined contribution s¢heme alse ceased. The plan entitles a retired employee to receive an annual pension
payment

The contnbutions required are determined by a quaiified actuary on the basis of trienmal valuations using the
projected unit credit method The last full actuarial valuation of this scheme was carried out by a qualified
independent actuary as at 5 April 2017 and this has been updated on an approximate basis to 31 December
2318 The contributions of the Group during the year were about 11% (2018. 11%} of pensionable salary

As the defined benefit secton is closed to new entrants, the cufrent service cost, as a percentage of
pensicnable payroll 1s likely to Increase as the membership ages, although it will be applied to a decreasing
pensionable payroll The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results of the valuation are
those relating to the discount rate and the rates of increase in salaries and pensions

SOUTH KOREA
The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan for its employees in South Korea. The contributions required
are determined by an external qualified actuary using the projected urit credit method. The most recent

31



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

valuation was carried out on 31 December 2019. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the
results of the valuations are those relating to the discount rate and rate of increase in salanes

TAIWAN

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan for its employees in Taiwan. The contrnibutions required are
detarmined by an external gualfied actuary using the projected unit credit method The most recent valuation
was cafnied out on 31 December 2019 The contributions of the Group were no less than 6% (2018. 6%) of the
employees’ eamings. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results of the valuations
are those relating to the discount rate and rate of increase (n salanes.

The defined benefit plans are administered by pension funds that are legally separated from the Group The
boards of the pension funds are required by taw to act in the best interests of the plan participants

These defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuanal risks. such as longevity risk. currency risk, interest
rate risk and market investment risk.

The above plans are substantially funded by the Group's subsidiaries The funding requirements are based on
the pension funds' actuanal measurement framework set out in the funding policies of the plans

The assets of each scheme have been taken at market value and the liabiities have been calculated using the
fallowing principal assumptions:

2019 2018
2019 SOUTH 2019 2018 SOQUTH 2018
UK KOREA TAIWAN LK KCREA TAIWAN
inflation rate 3.0% 2.0% - 3 5% 2.0% -
Discount rate 1.9% 2.0% 0.75% 29% 2.5% 1.0%
Rate of salary increase 3.5% 3.0% 3.0% 4 0% 3.0% 3.0%
Rate of pension increases 2.9% - - 33% - -
Rate of revaluation 2.2% - - 2 5% -_ -

The methodology for computing the discount rate is the yield range method

The assumptions used by the actuaries are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial
assumptions, which due to the timescale covered, may not necessarily be bome out in practice The present
values of the schemes’ liabilities are denved from cash flow projections over long periods and are inherently
uncertain

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other
assumptions consistent, would have altered the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below’

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

2019 2019 2018 2018
INCREASE DECREASE INCREASE OECREASE

EM M EM

Discount rate (1% movement) (13} 13 (12) 14
Rate of saiary increase (1% movement) 1 (1) 1 (1}

Although the analysis does not take acccunt of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plans, it
does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown
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Amounts recognised on the balance sheet are as foflows:

2019 208
2019 SOUTH 201% 2019 2019 2018 SOUTH 2018 2018 2018
UK KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL UK KOREA TAIWAN OTRER TOTAL
M £M £M £M £m EM £M £M £M £EM
Present value of funded
obligations T4 4 9 2 89 86 4 10 2 82
Fair value of plan assets  (64) (4) (6) - (74) (58) {4) (6) - (68)

Pian deficit 10 - 3 2 15 8 - 4 2 14

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows.

2019 2018

2019 SOUTH 2019 2019 2019 2018 SOUTH 2018 2018 2018
UK KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL UK KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL
£M EM £ M £M EM £M M ] £M
Balance at 1 January 66 4 10 2 82 74 5 11 2 92
Current service cost - 1 - - 1 — — - - -

Past service cost - - - - - 1 - - -
Interest cost 2 - - - 2 2 - - - 2

Benefits paid, death in

service insurance

premiums and expenses (2) (1) (1) - (4) (2) {1) () - 4}
Remeasurement losses/

(qains) arising from

— Financial assumptions 10 - - - 10 {9) - - - {9)
-- Demographic

assumptions (2) - - - {2) - - - - -
Batance at 31 December 74 4 9 2 89 66 4 10 2 82

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as foliows

2019 2018
2019 SOUTH 2019 2019 2018 SOUTH 2018 2018
UK KOREA TAMWAN TOTAL UK KOREA TAIWAN  TOTAL
£M EM EM EM M EM £M EM
Balance at 1 January 58 4 & 68 63 5 5 73
Interest income 2 - - 2 2 - - 2
Group contributions - - 1 1 - - 2 2
Benefits paid {2} {1 1 4) (2) M (1 (4]
Remeasurement gains ansing from
- Return/(loss) on ptan assets excluding
interest income 6 1 - 7 (5} - - (5)
Balance at 31 December 64 4 6 74 58 4 & 68
Actual return/{loss} on plan assets 8 - ~ 8 3) - - (3)
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The fair values of plan assets in each category are as follows:

Quoted equities

Bonds

Property

Cash and cash equivalents

2019
£M

24

34

2019
SOUTH
KOREA

£M

4

2019 2019
TAIWAN TOTAL
£M M

- 24

- 9

- 1

3 40

6 74

2018
971
EM

18

34
58

208
SOUTH
KOREA

£M

2018
TAIMNAN
£M

2018
TOTAL
£M

18

40
68

The Group values plan assets in accordance with AS 19 as follows

- Quoted equities listed on recognised stock exchanges are valued at closing bid prices,
« Bonds are measured using pricing models making assumptions for credit risk. market risk and market yield

curves; and

« Properties are valued on the basis of the open market value.

The expense recognised in the income statement is as follows:

2019
uK
£M

Current service cost -
Past service cost * -
Interest cost 2
Interest income (2)

2019
SOUTH
KOREA
£M

1

1

2019
TAIWAN
£

2019
OTHER
£M

2019 2018
TOTAL UK
£M £M

1 -

- 1

2 2

(2) {2)

1 1

2018
SOUTH
KOREA

£/a

2018
TAIWAN
[ ]

2018
OTHER
£/

2018
TOTAL
£

1
2
(2)
1

* “he English High Court rultng in | loyds Rankmng Group Pension Trustees | mited v Lloyds Bark plc and others was published on 26 Octoper 2018, and
held that UK pens:on schemes with GMPS accrued from 17 May 1990 must equabse for the different affects of these GMPs between men and women The
estimated GMP equaiisaton wnpact far the UK screme s an increase of 1 83% of the tolal vaiue of scheme habviies on tre 1AS19 basis as st 31 December

2018 or £1m

Total cost is recognisad within the following items in the income statement

Administrative expenses

2019
£M

2018
£M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The gains or losses recogmsed In the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

2019 2018
2013 SOUTH 2019 2019 2019 2018 SOLTH 2018 2018 2018
UK  KOREA TAMWAN OTHER TOTAL UK  KOREA TAIWAN QTHER TOTAL
£m | £m £m £M EM £M £M £M £M

Actual return less
expected return on plan
assets 6 1 - - 7 (5) - - - {5}

Remeasurement (losses)
gains ansing from

— Financial assumptions (10} - - - {10) 9 - - - 9
— Demographic
assumptions 2 - - - 2 - - - - —
Defined benefit plan
remeasurement
gains/(losseas) (2) 1 - - {1 4 - - - 4
Actuarial losses recognised directly in equity are as follows.

2019 2018

M £M

Cumulative as at 1 January 19 23
Remeasurement gams recoghised during the year 1 (4]
Cumulative as at 31 December 20 19

The hfe expectancies underlying the value of the accrued habilities for the UK Plan, based on retirement age of
65, are as follows.

2019 2018
YEARS YEARS
Males 22 22

Females 24 24

The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligations as at 31 December 2019 was 18 years (2018
18). The Group expects about £2m in contributions to be paid to the defined benefit plans in 2020

The Group monitors the deficit of the fund and believes any risk associated with the deficit is mitigated by the
Group's strang balance sheet position.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group operates a number of share option schemes, a majority being designed to link remuneration to the
future performance of the Group. In accordance with the Group's accounting policy 2.2N{iv) on share-based
payment transactions, the fair value of share optiens and leng-term incentive awards is recognised as an
employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread
over the period durning which the empioyees pecome unconditionally entited to the share options and long-term
incentive awards. The charge to the income statement for the year was £nif (2018 £nil)

The Group has applied IFRS 2 to its active employee share-based payment arrangements from 1 January 2005
except for arrangements granted before 7 November 2002

All grants made during 2019 were before the Delisting took place, refar to page 23 for more detail and the
impact this had on the share option schemes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(1) MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED 2006 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (“LTIP")
Performance Share Awards under this scheme are awarded to Executive Directors and senor management of
the Group

AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS

AWARDS AWARBDED VESTED FORFEITED EXPIRED AWARDS CREDITED CREDITED
OUTSTANDING DURING DURING DURING DURING OUTSTANDING TO SHARE TO SHARE
DATE CF AS AT THE THE THE THE AS AT CAPITAL PREMIUM VESTING
AWARDS 1JAN 2018 YEAR YEAR YEAR YEAR 31 DEC 2019 £M £M DATE
0398 2015 36,761 - - (36,761) - - — - 03.08 2018
29 93 2016 37,128 - (4,401) (32.727) - - - - 28.03201%
73,889 - (4401 (59 488) - - - -
{in MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED 2006 AND 2016 SHARESAVE SCHEMES
Share ophonrs under this scheme are granted to UK based employees
EXERCISE
PRICE AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS CREDITED CREDITED
PER OUTSTANDING AWARDED VESTED FORFEITED  OUTSTANDING TO SHARE TO SHARE
DATE CF SHARE AS AT  DURING DURING DURING AS AT CAPITAL PREMIUM EXERCISE
AWARDS £ 1JAN 2018 THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR 31 DEC 2019 EM £M PERIOD
0108 2018—
1904 2013 4430 2 008 - - (2,008) - - - 3101.2019
0108 2019—
06 05 2014 4 450 94 1 - (672} (269) - - - 31.01 2020
0108 2018-
1404 2015 4 830 1,456 - (383) (1,073) - - - 31.01 2019
01 08.2020-
14 04 2015 4680 4732 - {3.547) (1,185) - - - 31 01 2024
01.08.2018—
1204 2018 3 300 101,374 - {99,794} (1.580) - - - 3101 20260
01 08 2021—
12 04.2016 3360 909 - (8086) {303) - - - 31012022
01 08 2020~
1104.2017 3660 37,704 - (24,218) (13 486) - - - 3101 2021
01 08 2022—
1104 2017 3.660 2.458 - (382 (2076) - - - 31012023
0108 2021~=
05.06 2018 4350 56.180 - (21.654) {34 ,526) - - - 31.01 2022
04 08 2023—
05 06 2018 4360 1582 - (238) (1.344) - - - 31 01 2024
0108 2022~
09.04 2018 3 750 - 93 436 {9.886) (83,550) - - - 31012023
0128 2024—
09.04 2079 3750 _ 1.040 (53) (987) - - - 31.01 2025

209,344 94 476 (161433} (142,387} - - -

There are no options autstanding at the end of the year therefore there 1s no current exercise price (2018
exercise price ranged from £3.30 to £4 69) with no weighted average contractual life remaining (2018 1 88
years).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

[{L1})

ANNUAL BONUS PLAN (“ABP™)

Under the ABP_ deferred share awards are granted annually to selected employeas of the Group Shares in
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited are transferred to participants as follows if they continue to be employed

by the Group:

= 2015 awards, at the end of three years; and
« 2018, 2017, 2018 and 2019 awards. 25% after years one and two and 50% after three years

CRECTED
T0
SHARE
PREMIUM
M

VESTING DATES

08 08 2018

13 05 2017/8/9
12 08 2017/8/9
Q9 11 2017/8/9
14 0B 2018/9/20
14 12 2018/20/21
13 08 20200142

AWARDS CRECITED
AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS EXFPIRED AWARDS TO
QUTSTANDING AWARDED VESTED FORFEITED DURING QUTSTANDING SHARE
DATE OF AS AT  DURING THE  DURING THE  DURING THE THE AS AT DEC CAPITAL
AWARDS 1 JAN 2019 YEAR YEAR YEAR YEAR 2019 £M
08,09 2015 1,530 - {1.530) - ~ - -
13 05206 17.009 - {15.346) (1.467) - 196 -
12 08 2016 1188 - {1.188) - - - -
09 11 2016 488 - {488) - - - -
14 Q6 2017 27 122 - (20.G30) (3,255} - 3,337 —
14 12 2018 57 358 - (25,409) 18,048} - 23,901 -
13 08 20+9 - 35724 (2,800} (1,110} 31,814 -
104 695 35724 {65,791) (14.380) - 59,248 -

{v) EXECUTIVE SHARE PLAN ("ESP")

The ESP was approved by the Company on 18 February 2016 to replace participation in the LTIP by senior
executive management. These awards will vest over a three-year period (25% after years one and two, 50%
ahtar three years), subject to the rules of the ESP

AWARDS AWARDS

AWARDS AWARDS  VESTED AWARDS EXPIRFD

OUTSTANOING AWARDED DYRING FORFEITED DURING

DATE OF AS AT DURING THE DURING THC
AWARDS 1 JAN 2019 THE YEAR YEAR THE YEAR YEAR
29.03 206 16,310 - {16.310) -~ -
1508.20°7 42827 —  (25.804) (13 570) -
04 12 2018 65 649 - (20103) {33.874) -
08 0B.20"9 - 30.151 (1,577} {12,790 -
124 586 30 151 (63.684) {60 234} -

AWARDS CREDITED
QUTSTANDING TO SHARE

AS AT
3 DEC 2019

3,363
11,672
15.784

30,819

CREDITED

10 SHARE

CAPITAL PREMIUM
£M £M

VESTING DATES

29 03 2C1//8/9
15 08 2018/9/20
04.12 2019/20/21
09 08 202071/2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

AWARDSI/OPTIONS GRANTED
The following awards/options were granted in the ¢urrent and comparative years,

AWARDS/IOPTIONS

GRANTED SHARE
PRICE
PREVAILING RISK-
ONDATE OF EXERCISE FAIR EXPECTED EXPECTED FREE
DATE OF NON- GRANT PRICE VALUE TERM EXPECTED DIVIDEND INTEREST
2019 AWARDS GRANT DIREC1OR DIRECICR £ £ £ (YEARS) WVOLATILITY YIELD RATES
Exgcutive Share
Plan 0908 2019 - 7 538 B 80 - 6 B5S 100 - - -
Executive Share
Plan 09.08 2019 - 7,538 6 80 - 685 200 - - -
Fxecutive Share
Plan 09 08 2019 - 15075 6 80 - 685 300 - - -
Sharesave
Scheme (2 year) 09 04 2019 — 93,436 4 44 375 111 KBk 26 0% 095% 0 72%
Sharesave
Scheme (S year) 0904 2019 - 1,040 4 44 375 128 531 26 0% 095% 0 82%
Deferred Share
Awards 1308 2019 - B a3 680 - 5.85% 100 - - -
Deterred Share
Awards 1308 2049 - B 931 6.80 - 685 200 - - -
Deferred Share
Awards *3 08 2019 - 17 882 6 BO - € 85 300 — - -
AWARDS/OPTIONS
GRANTED SHARE
PRICE
PREVAILING RIGK-
ON DATE QF EXERCISE FAIR EXPECTED EXPECTED FREE
DATE OF NON- GRANT PRICE VALJE TERM EXPECTED  DIVIDEND INTEREST
2018 AWARDS GRANT DIRECTOR DIRECTOR £ £ £ (YEARS) VOLATILITY YIEL D) RATES
Executive Share
Ptan 04 12 2048 - 16,412 4 66 - 4 60 100 - 139% -
Executive Share
Plan 04 12 2018 - 16,412 486 - 453 2.00 - 139% -
Executive Share
Pian 04 12 2078 - 32,825 4686 - 447 3oc - 139% -
Sharesave
Scheme (3 year) 0506 2018 - 57 582 532 4236 135 316 26 0% 122% C75%
Sharesave
Scheme (5 year) 0506 2018 - *.582 532 436 * 54 576 26 Q% 122% 0 97%
Deferred Share
Awards 14 12 2018 - 14 340 468 - 461 100 - 1 39% -
Defered Share
Awards 1412 2018 - 14,340 468 - 4,55 200 - 139% -
Detarrad Shara

Awards 14122018 - 28,678 458 - 448 300 - 139% -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE
The Sharesave awards were valued using the Black-Scholes valuation method

The ESP and ABP will be cash setiled for a fixed price of £6 85 in line with the Final Offer executed by CDL
The fair vaiues of these awards are therefore equal to the offer price.

24 PROVISIONS

BELING
LEGAL  INDEMNITY TOTAL
£M £M £M
Balance at 1 January 2019 2 9 11
Recognised during the year 3 - 3
Released during the year 2) - (2)
Fereign exchange adjustments - - —
Balance at 31 December 2019 3 9 12
Analysed as.
Non-current provision - 9 9
Current provision 3 - 3
Total provision 3 9 12

Provision for legal fees as at 31 December 2019 of £3m (2018° £2m) relates to disputes in several hotels The
Beijing indemnity of £9m (2018- £9m) relates to the tax indemnity to the former sharenolders of Grand
Millennium Hotel Beijing in which the Group acguired an additionat 40% interest in 2007

25 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

2019 2018
EM £M
Cther habilities 17 15
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOL!IDATED FINANCJAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26 DEFERRED TAXATION

Movements in deferred tax liabihties and assets (pror to offsetting balances} during the year are as follows.

Chargedf{credited) to income statemenrt

AT AT
1 JANUARY CHANGEIN  CURRENT YEAR EXCHANGE ON 31 DECEMBER
2019 TAX RATE MOVEMENT  TRANSLATION 2019
£ EM £M EM £M

Deferred tax liabilities
Property assets’ 234 - (8) {4) 222
234 - (8) {4) 222

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses (58) - (11} )] {70)
Others (4) - (N - (5)
{62} - (12} (1) (75)
Net deferred tax liabilities 172 - {20} (5) 147

1 Properly assets cormprise pladal, property and equipment and investmeni properties

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilites and wnen deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items because It is not probable that
future taxable profit will be avalable against which the Group can utilise the benefits.

Tax losses
Adjustments due to.
— Deductible temporary differences in respect of prior year

- Tax losses in respect of prior year

2019 2018
£EM £m
4 3
(1) -
21 18
24 21

The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax legisiation. The tax losses are subject to
agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the respective countres in which certain

subsidianes operate
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The gross tax losses with expiry dates are as foilows

2019 2018
™ EM

Expiry dates:

~ within 1 to 5 years 27 25

— after 5 years 14 8

— no expiry date B4 81

126 114

At 31 December 2019, a deferred tax liability of E8m (2018° £8m) relating to undistributed reserves of overseas
subsidiaries and joint ventures of £1,600m (2018 £1,000m) has not been recognised because the Group
getermined that the distnbutions will not be made and the habity will not be incurred in the foreseeable future.

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2018 2018
£M M
Trade payables 32 32
Other creditors including taxation and social security’
— Social security and other taxes 13 13
— Value added tax and similar sales taxes 1 12
— Other creditors 29 26
Accruals 104 111
Deferred income 5 4
Contract iiabiities 24 20
Rental and other deposits 2 2
220 220

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risks related to trade and other payables are disclosed in Note
22

28 DIVIDENDS

2019 2018 2018 2018

PENCE PENCE £m £EM
Final ordinary dividend paid 215 442 7 14
Interim ordinary dividend paid - 208 - 7

Total dividends paid 215 6.50 7 21

All dividends paid during 2018 and 2018 were 1n cash
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Subsequent to 31 December 2019, the Directors declared the following final dividends which have not been
provided for

2019 2018 2019 2018
PENCE PENCE £M £n
Final ordinary dividend - 215 - 7

* The Board of Drectors of the Corrpany, after initially approving h panciple the payment Ey the Company of a final dividend 1n the amount of six
pence per nrdinary share 1n respect of the 2019 financial year, subject ta the resulls for the year being finalised and signed. subsequenty approved
the cancellaugn of that dividend payment it order to conserve cash following the impact an the Company's busitess of the global health crisis
brought abgut by the novel cororavirus, COVID-19 i eany 2020

29 SHARE CAPITAL

NUMBER OF
30P SHARES
ALLOTTED,
CALLED UP
AND FULLY
PAID

Balance at 1 January 2019 324,791,486
Issue of ordinary shares on exercise of share options 159 326

Balance at 31 Decomber 2019 324,950,812

All of the share capital s equity share capital. Holders of these shares are entitled to dvidends as declared from
time to ttme and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company All nghts attached to
the Company's shares held by the Group are suspended until those shares are reissued.

At the year end, options aver 59,248 and 30.819 ordinary shares remain outstanding under the ABP and ESP
respectively Holders of these options will receive a cash payment on the date of exercise, as such no shares
will be awarded.

30 RESERVES

CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow
instruments related to the hedged transactions that have not yet occurred (net of tax).

TRANSLATION RESERVE

The trans(ation reserve comprises ali foreign exchange differences ansing from the translation of the financial
statements of fareign operations, as well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the Group’s net
investment in foreign operations (net of tax)

TREASURY SHARE RESERVE
No shares were held by the employee benefit trust at 31 December 2019 (2018 2 483)

FAIR VALUE RESERVE
The fair value reserve inciudes the cumulative change in the fair value of equity investments at FVOCI.

31 FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

2019 2018
£m £M

(a) Capital commitments at the end of the financial year which are contracted but not
provided for 53 84
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
The Group’'s share of the capital commitments of joint ventures and associates 1s shown in Note 15.
(b} Total commitments under non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable by the Group as follows {from

1 January 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use assets for these leases. except for short term and low-
value leases - refer to Note 37 for further detail).

2019 2018

M M

—less than one year 3 15
— between one and five years - 45
- more than five years - 188
2 258

(c) The Group leases out certain of its properties under operating leases. The future minmum lease rentals
receivable by the Group under nhon-cancellable leases are as foliows

2049 2018

£M £M

— less than one year 34 38
~ between one and five years - 98
- one to two vears 15 -
— two to three years 9 -
— three to four years 10 -
— four to five years 37 -
— mare than five years 77 122
182 258

Future minimum lease rentals receivable under nan-cancellable leases includes all future rentals recervable up
to the period when those leases expire or become cancellable

Ouring the year ended 31 December 2019, £53m (2018 £51m) was recognised as rental income in the income
statement and £2m (2018 £3m) in respect of repairs and maintenance was recognised as an expense n the
incame statement retating to investment properties.

32 CONTINGENCIES AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In the course of its operations the Group is routinely exposed to potential iiabilities for claims made by
employees and contractual or tortious claims made by third parties No matenal losses are anticipated from
such exposures. There were no centingent liabilites or guarantees other than those arising in the crdinary
course of business and on these no material losses are anticipated. The Group has msurance cover up to
certain limits for major risks on property and major claims in connection with legal liabilihes ansing in the course
of its operations. Otherwise the Group generally carries its own nsk. The Group believes that the accruals and
provisiohs carried on the balance sheet are sufficient 1o cover these risks.

Other than the above transactions, there are no events subsequent to the balance sheet date which require
adjustments to or disclosure within these consalidated financial statements except for those stated below

*»  Millenmum Cincinnati was disposed of effective 14 February 2020 with a gross sales price of US$386m
(E28m) The property was classified as asset held for sale in the stalement of financial position as at 31
December 2019 Refer to Note 36 for further detal

s  The COVID-19 pandemic, which started at the end of 2018 in Asia and then later spread to other
regions worldwide, has had a significant impact on the Group's revenue and profit due to gquarantines,
social distancing measures and travel restnctions implemented in various junsdictions More
information has been provided in the Business Review on page 8 and Strategic Report on page 12
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33 RELATED PARTIES

IDENTITY OF RELATED PARTIES

Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes have been eliminated on consclidation and are not
disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below
All transactions with related parties were entered into in the normal course of business and at amm's length.

The Group has a related party relationship with its joint ventures, associates and with its Directors and executive
officers

TRANSACTIONS WITH ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY AND OTHER RELATED COMPANIES

The Group has a related party relationstip with certain subsidiaries of Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd
("Hong Leong”) which is the ultimate holding and centrolling company of Mitlennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited
and holds 100.0% (2018: 65.2%) of the Company's shares via COL, the intermediate holding company of the
Group During the year ended 31 Decembar 2019, the Group had the following transactions with those
subsidianes

The Group deposited certain surplus cash with Hong Leong Finance Limited a subsidiary of Hong Leong, on
normal commercial terms As at 31 December 2019, £2m (2018 £2m) of cash was depasited with Hong Leong
Finance Limited

Fees pad/payable by the Group to CDL and its other subsidiaries were £1m {2018: £3m) which included rentals
paid for the Grand Shanghai restaurant and King’s Centre; property management fees for Tangln Shopping
Centre; charges for car parking, leasing commission and professional services

TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

In addition to their saiaries, the Group ajso provides non-cash benefits to Directors and executive officers and
contributes to a post-employment defined contribution plan depending con the date of commencement of
employment The defined contribution plan does not have a specified pension payable on retirement and
benefits are determined by the extent to which the individual's fund can buy an annuity in the market at
retirement.

The key management personnel compensation is as follows-

2019 2018
£M £

Short-term employee benafits 5 7
Directors 1 1
Executives 4 6
5 7
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34 RELATED UNDERTAKINGS
The full hst of the Company's related undertakings as at 31 December 2018 are set out below:

FULL NAME

Aircoa Equity interests |nC

Aircoa GP Corporation

Aircoa. LLC

Al Seasors Hotels & Resons
Limited

Ancherage-Lakefront Lymited
Partnership

Archyield Lirrited

ATOS Holding Gmbk

Aurora inn Operating
Partnership L P

Aven Wynkfeld inn, tid

Avon Wynfielg LLC

Beying Fortyne Hote, Cu L1d

Biltmore Place Cperatons
Corp

Birkenhead Holdings Pty Lid

Birkenhead Investments Pty
Ltd

Bostoran Hotel Limted
Partnershig

Buffaio Operatng Partnership
Lp

Buffaio RHM Operating LLC

COL (New York) LLC

SHAREHOLDING
PERCENTAGE

100%

100%

100%

76%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

70%

100%

16%

76%

100%

100%

100%

100%

TYPE

Indirect subsiary

Indirect subs«dary

Indirect subsikchary

Indirect subsidiary

Indrrect subsidiary

Indirect subsidary

Direct subsichary

-ndirect subsdiary

Indrect sudsihary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Ingirgct subsidvary

Indirect subsidiary

Ind:rect subsidiary

Indirect subs.diary

ndirect subsidiary

\ndirect subsidiary

indirect subsidiary

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

USA

USA

USA

Mew Zealand

USA

Urited Kingdom

Austna

LSA

USA

UsA

People’'s Republic
of China

USA

Australia

Austraia

USA

usa

USA

SA

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRFS3

PRINCIPAL
ACTIVITIES

7900 Easl Unmon Avenue,
Sute 500, Derwer. Colorado
80237

7500 East Union Avenue.
Suite 360, Denvar, Colorado
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Cenver, Colorada,
80237

Leve! 13, 280 Queen Street, Dormant
Auckland 101¢,
New Zealand

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Derver  Colorado
BO237

Corporate Headgquarters,
Scarsdale Place
Kensington, London W8 §8Y

Schulhof 6/1stfl, 1010
Vienna,
Austna

Halding Company

hotel ownership

Holding Company

Hotel owner

Hotel owner and
operator

investment halding
7500 East Union Avenue

Suite 500, Denver, Colorade,
80237

Hote ownership

7900 East Union Avenue.
Suite 500, Denver, Colorade.
80237

7900 East Unian Avenue.
Sute 500, Denver, Colgrado,

Hotel ownershp

Hotel owner

80237

Buillding No 5.7 Hotel owner and
DongSanHuan operator

Middle Road. Chaoyang

Distnct,

Beyng P R China 10002¢

7900 East Union Avenue,  Lkquor i cence
Suite 500 Denver. Colorade. hoider
802237

Suite 7B. Zenth Residences Holaing company
82.94 Darlinghurst Road,

Patts Point,

Syaney 2011, Austraia

Suite 7B, Zenith Resigences Property Investment
82-94 Daringhurst Road,

Potts Point, Management
Sydney 2G*1, Austraha
7800 East Union Avenue, Hotel owner

Suitte 500, Denver, Calarado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500. Denver. Colorado.
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Sutte 500, Denver, Colorado.
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver. Colorado
80237

Hotel cwnarship

Hotel owner

Hetel owner
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FULL NAME

CDL (NYL) bimited

CDL Enterta nment & Leisure
Pte Ltd

COL Hospitality Trusts'

CDL Hotels (Cnelsea) Limited

CDL Hoteis (Korea) Lta

CDL Hotels (Labuan} Lymited

CDL Hotels {Malaysia) Sdn
Bhd

COL Hotels {U K ) Limited
CDL Hotels Holdings Japan

Limitec

CODL Hotels Holdings New
Zealand Limiteg

CDL Hotels Japan Pte. Ltd

CDL Hotels USA, Inc

CODL Investments New Zealand
Limited

COL Land Mew Zealand Limited

CDL West 45th Street LLC

Chicage Hotel Holdings, (nc

Cincinnat S 1 Co

City Century Pte Ltd

City Ete Pta Ltd

City Hoteis Pte Lid

SHAREHOLDING
PERCENTAGE

100%

100%

A7%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

40%

100%

50%

50%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

TYPE

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsiiary

Associated
uncenakngs

Inrdirect subsidary

Ingirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subskiary

Indirect subsiciary

Indirect su bsidiary

Indirect subsid-ary

Associated

underiak.ngs

Indirect subsidary

indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidia~y

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indwect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

USA

Republic of
Singapore

Republic of
Singapoare

Jnited Kingdom

Repubiic of Korea

Malaysia

Malaysia

Umited Kingdom

Hong Kong

New Zealand

Repubic of

Singapore

usa

New Zealand

New Zealand

USA

Usa

USA

Republic of
Singapare

Republic of
Singapore

Republic of
Singapore

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRESS

PRINC PAL
ACTIVITIES

7900 East Umon Avenue,
Surte 500, Denver Colorado,
80237

investment holding

9 Raffles Place Provision of

#12-01 Repubhc Plaza management

S.ngapore 04B619 services and
investrment
holding

See note below’ See note befow'

Hotel owner and
operator

Coporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London WB 58Y

Jung-gu Sowolro 50, Seoul. Hotel owner and
South worea 04637 operator

Tiara Labuan Jalan Tanjung Hote! owner and
Batu, operator

87000 F T Labuan,

Malaysia

Hotel owner and
operator

Level B, Symphory House,
Pusat Dagangan Dana 1,
Jalan PJU 1A/46,

47301 Petaling Jaya.
Selangor Dana Ehsan

Hotel owner and
operator

Corporate Headqguarters.
Scarsdate Place,
Kensington London VW8 55Y

2803 Great Fagle Centre,
23 Harbour Road, Warchar,
Hong Kang

Investrnent nolding

Level 13, 280 Quean Street, Investiment holding
Auckland 1010, New
Zealand

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Rlaza
Singapore 048619

7900 East Union Avenue,  Hote: investment
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado, holding

Investment holding

80237 company

Level 13, 280 Queen Jtreet, Investment and

Auckland t310, New property

Zealand management
company

Level 13, 280 Queenr Street, Property invesiment

Auckland 1010. New ard

Zealand developrrent

7800 East Unwon Avenue, totel owrar
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,

80237

7800 €ast Urion Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7900 East Urion Avenug,  Previously hotel
Suite 500, Denrver, Colorado, owner
80237

9 Raffles Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Hotel ownership

Restaurateur

Restaurateur

Hotel operator
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ITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FULL NAMEZ

Context Securines Limited

Coptharne {(Nominees) Limited

Copthorne Aberdeen Limrted

Copthorne Haotel (Birrmingham)
Limited

Copthorre Hotel (Caraiff)
Limited

Copthorne Rotel (Effingham
Park) Limited

Copthome Hotel {Gatwick)
Limted

Copthorne Hotel (Manchester}
Limited

Copthorne Hotel (Merry Hill)
Construction Limited

Copthorne Hotel (Merry Hill)
Limited

Copthorne Hotel (Newcaste}
Lrmited

Copthorne Hotel {P.ymouth)
Limited

Copthorne Hotel (Slough)
Limited

Coothorne Hotel Hold ngs
Limited

Cootherne Hotefs Limited

Copthorne Orchid Hotel
Singapare Pte (iG

Caopthorne Orchid Penang Sdn
Bhd

Diplomat Hotel Holding Limited

Durham Operating Partnership
L=

Elite Hote| Management
Services Pte Lwd

Fergurson Hotet Management
Limited

S+AREHOLDING

PERCENTAGE

6%

100%

83%

100%

100%

10056

100%

100%

100%

100%

96%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

50%

TYPE

Indirect subsigiary

indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsichary

Indirect subsdiary

Indirect subsidiary

indiract subsidacy

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidary

indiract subsidiary

Indirect subsidary

Indirect subskhiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Oirect subsidiary

Indirect subysichary

Ind rect subsidiary

ind-rect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

indirect subsidiary

‘ndirect subsidiary

Associated
urdertakings

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

New Zealand

Unded Kingdom

Uruted Kingdom

United Kingdom

Lnited Kingdom

United Kingadom

United Kingdom

United Kingdam

United <ingdom

Urited Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kinggom

Republ< of

Singapore

Malaysia

Jnited Kingdem
JSA

Republic of
Singapore

hang Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
AQDRESS

Level 13. 280 Queen Street,
Auckland 1010, New
Zeatand

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place
Kensington, London W8 55Y

Corporate Headquarters.
Scarsdale Place,
Kensmngton, (ondon Wa §5Y

Corporate Headquarters.
Scarscale Place,
Kensington, London W8 5SY

Corporate Headguartars,
Scarsdale Place,
Kersington, London W8 5SY

Corporate Headquarters
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London We 55Y

Corporate Headquarters
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 §SY

Corporate Headquariers,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 5SY

Carporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, Londoen W8 58

Corporate Headquarters
Scarsdaie Piace,
Kensington, Londor W8 53Y

Corporate Headquarters
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington London WE §5Y

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 55Y

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Piace,
Kensinglon, London W8 53Y

Corporate Headquarters.
Scarsdale Place,
Kensinglon, London W8 58Y

Corporale Headquarfers,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 58Y

9 Raffles Place
#12.01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Level 8. Symphony House,
Pusat Dagangan Dana 1.
Jalan PJU 1A/46

47201 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor Daryl Ehsan

Corporate Headquarters
Scarsdale Place,
Kensingtun London W8 5SY

7900 East Union Avenue
Suite 500 Denver, Colorada.
BD237

9 Raffies Place

#1201 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Urit 806 Bth Floor, Alhance
Building,

133 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL
ACTIVITIES

[nvestment nolding

Investment holding

Hote! management

Hotel owner and
oparator

Hotel owner and
operator

Hatel owner and
operator

Hotel owner and
aperatar

Hotel owner ard
operator

Hotel owner anag
operator

Hotel owner and
operator

Hntel owner and
operator

Haotel ownrer and
operator

Hotel owner and
oparator

Investment hoiding

Hotel investment
holding

Property owner and
deveioper

Hotel owner

Investment holding

Hotel ownershin

Hotel management
cgnsuttancy
services

Investment bolding
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FULL NAME

First 2000 Lirmited

First Sponsor Group Lirnited

Five Star Assurance, .nc

Four Peaks Managemenrt
Company

Gateway Holdings Corporalion |
Gateway Hotei Holdings. Inc

Gateway Regai Holdings LLO

Grand Plaza Hotel Carporatidon

Harbaur Land Corparation

Harbour View Hotel Pte Ltd

Harrow Entertainment Pte Ltd

Hong Leong Ginza TMX

Hong Leong Hotet

Development L.mited

Hong Leong Hotels Pie Lid

Hong Leong International Hotel

(Singapore) Pte Lid

Hospitaltty Group Limited

Hospitality Holdings Pte Ltd

Hospitality Leases Limited

Hospialry Services Limited

Hospitalty Vantures Ple Ltd

SHAREHCLDING
PERCENTAGE

100%

6%

100%

160%

100%

100%

100%

66%

41%

100%

10C%

7%

84%

100%

$7%

76%

100%

76%

76%

1€0%

TYPE

Indirect subsidiary

Associated
undertakings

Irdirect supsidiary

Irdirect subsichary

Irdiract subsidiary

Indirect subsichary

Indsrect subsidiary

Indirget subgsidiary

Assaciated
undertakings

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subisidiary

Indirect subsiiary

Indirect subsidiary

Ind rect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsiciary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsichary

Indirect subs diary

COUNTRY OF
INCORPCRATION

Hong Kong

Cayman Islands

usa

USA

usa

USA

UusAa

Prulippines

Phrilippines

Republic of
Sinpapore

Republic of
Singapore

Japan

Tawan

Cayman islands

Republic of

Singapore

New Zealand

Repubhe of

Singapore

New Zealand

New Zeaiand

Republhc of
Singapore

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRESS

PRINCIPAL
ACTIVITIES
2803 Great Eagie Centre, investment nold:ng
23 Harbour Roag Wanchal

Hong Kong

190 Elgn Avenue. Gearge
Town

KY1-900% Grand Cayman.
Cayman Islards

1401 Eye 5t NW., Suite Captive insurance
604, cormpany
Washington 2 C 20005

7900 East Uninn Avenue Aszona
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado.condomimium
80237 management

79030 East Uman Avenua,
Suite 500. Denver, Colorado,
80237

7900 Fast Unmion Avenue,
Swite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,  Hotel owner and
Suite 500, Denver. Colorado. operator
80237

10 Floor, Heritage Hotel

Inwestment Hofding

Halding company

Hoiel ownership

Hotel owner and

Manila, operator
EDSA corner Roxas and investment
Boulevard, holding

Pasay City, Philippines 1300 company

10 Flaor, Heritage Hotel Land owner
Manila.

EDSA comer Roxas

Boulevard,

Pasay City, Phiippines 1300

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republc Plaza
Singapore 048619

9 Raffles Place
#1201 Repubihc Plazs
Singapore 048619

Hotel operator

Invastment holding

4-1 Nwhonbashi 1-chome,
Chuo-ku.
Tokyo. Japan

Property owner

Hotel owner and
operator

2 Song Shou Road, Xyt
Distnet
Taiper 116517, Taiwan

PO Box 309 Ugland House, Investrment holding
Grand Cayman KY1-1104 company
Cayman Islands

9 Raffles Place
#32-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 0486°9

Level 13, 280 Queen Sireet. Holding company
Auckland 1010, New and property owrer
Zealand

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Investment holding

Investment holding
company

Level 13, 280 Queen Street, Lessee company
Auckland 1010, New
Zealand

Level 13, 280 Queen Street, Hotel operation/
Auckland 1010, New management
Zealand

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Repubdic Plaza
Singapore 048619

investment holding
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

SHAREHQLDING

FULL NAME PERCENTAGE TYPE

Hatei Liverpoo Limited 100% Increct subsichary

Hotel iverpop Management Limteg 100% lndirect suosidiary
Hotelcorp New Zealand Pty 76% Indirect subsid ary
uid

KIN Hodings Limitec 76% Indirect subs:diary
King's Tangiin Shopping Pte. 100% indirect subsidary
Lid

Kingsgate Holdings Pty Lta 76% indirect subsidiary
“ingsgate Hote. Pty Ltg 76% Indirect subsidiary
Kingsgate Hotels and Resorts 76% Indirect subsidiary
—irrited

Kingsgate Hotels Lim-ted 76% Indirect subsiciary
Kingsgate International 76% Indirect subsidiary
Corporation Limited

Kingsgate invesiments Pty Ltd 76% indirect subsidiary
Lakeside Gperaling Partverstig 130% tndirect subsidiary
L=

Londor: Brtanmia Hotel Limted 120% Indirect subsidvary
Londor Tara Hotel Limjted 100% Indirect subsdiary
M&C Asia Finance {UK) L.mited 100% Direct subsidiary
M&C Asia Holdings (UK) 100% Direct subsidiary
Lirted

M & C (CB) Limited 100% Indirect subsidiary
M & C (CD) Limited 100% Indirect subskhary

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

United Xingdom

Jnted Kingdom

Austraha

New Zealand
Republic of
Singapore

Austrahia

Australia

New Zeaiand

New Zea:ana

New Zealand

Austraha

usa

United Kingdam

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

Unitea Kingdom

United Kingdom

REGISTERED QFFICE PRINCIPAL
ADDRESS ACTWITIES

‘
Comorate Headquarers, Property ietting

Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8
55Y !

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensinglon, Londan W8
55Y

Suite 7B, Zenith Residences Hold'ng company !
82-94 Dadinghurst Road,

Potts Point,

Sydney 2011, Australia

Level 13, 280 Queen Street, Holding company
Auckland 1010, New
Zealand

9 Raffles Piace

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048519

Onperating company

Property owner

Sune 78, Zenith Residences, Holding company
82-94 Cantingnurst Road,

Potts Paint,

Sydney 2011, Austraha

Suite 78 Zenith Residences, Dormant i
82-94 Dadinghurst Road,

Polts Point,

Sydney 2011, Austraha

Level *3 280 Queen Street, Franchise holder
Auckland 1010, New {Kingsgate}
Zealand

Leval 13, 280 Queen Street, Daorrmant
Auckland 1010, New
Zeaiand

Level 13, 280 Queen Street, Invesiment holding
Auckiand 1010, New
Zealand

Suite 7B, Zenith Residences Investmen:
B82-94 Darnghurst Road,  company
Potts Point,

Sydney 2011, Austratia

7900 East Unior Avenue.
Suite 500, Denver, Colarado
80237

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place.
Kengington, London W8 58Y

Hotel ownership

Hotel ownar

Corporate Headquarters
Scarsdale Place,
Kensingfon Londen W8 58Y

Hotel owner and
operator

Cotporate Headquarters,
Scarsdala Place,
Kensington. —ondan W8 55Y

Finance company

Corporata Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington London W8 5SY

investment hoiding

Corporate Heaaquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington Londan W8 535

Investment
campany

Corporate Headguarters,
Scarsdaie Pace.
Kensinglen londan W8 55Y

Investment haiding
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FULL NAME

M & C Management Seruices
{USA] lrc.

M & CNZ umited

M & C Reservaions Services
L.mited

M&C Business Trust
Maragement Lim ted

MA&C Colarada Hotel
Corparation

MEC Crescent Corporat an

M&C Crescent Interests LLC

M&C Firance (1) Limited

M&C Holdings (Thailand) Ltd

MA&C Holdings Delaware
Partnership

M&C Holdings, LLC

M&C Hotel Enterprises (Asa)
Limited

MAC Hotal Interests inc

MBC Hotel investments Pte
Lid

M&C Hotels France
Management SARL
M&C Hotels France SAS

M&C Hotels Holdings Japan
Pte Lid

M&C Hotels Holdings Limited

M&C Hotels Haldings USA
Limited

M&C Hotels Japan Ple Ltd

SHAREHOLDING

PERCENTAGE

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

t30%

100%

100%

100%

T¥YPE

indirect sunsidary

Inchrect subs:diary

Indirect subsiary

Indirect subsidhary

Indirect subsichary

Irdirect subsichary

Indirect subsidhary

Indirect subsidary

indirect subsgichary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsichiary

Indirect subsid ary

Indirect subsichary

tndirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Direct subsidiary

Cirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

CQUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

usa

LUnited Kingdom

United Kingdom

Republc of
Singapore

USA

UsaA

JUSA

Umted Kingdom

Thailand

USA

UsSA

Hong Kong

UsA

Repubiic of
Singapore

France
France

Republc of
Singapore

Uneted Kingdom

Cayman Islands

Republic of
Singapore

REGISTERED OFFICE PRINC .PAL
ADDRESS ACTIV'TIES
7900 East Union Avenue. Maragement

Surte 500 Denver. Colorado. senvices
80237 company

Corporate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 35Y

Corporate Headquarters, Provider of
Scarsdale Place. reservation
Kensingien, Londen VW8 5SY services to hotel
owners
and operators

Halding company

9 Raffles Place Provision of

#12-01 Repubiic Plaza property fund

Singapore 048819 management
services

7900 East Union Averue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue
Suite 500, Denver, Colarado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue
Suite 500, Denver, Colgrado,
80237

Corporate Headguarters,
Scargdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 55Y

75 Wnite Group Tower I, Investment holding
11th Floor, So Rubia and

Sukhumvit 42 Road. Kwaenghotel management
Phrakanong Khet

Klongtosy Bangkok 10110

Thailand

7900 East Union Averue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado.
80237

7900 East Union Avenua,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorade.
BOZ37

2803 Great Eagle Centre,
23 Harbour Road, Wanchar,
Hong Kong

7900 East Unon Avenue, Hotel management
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado. servces company
80237

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Holding company

Investment holding

Property owner

Finance company

Property investment

Holding company

Investment Folding

Investment holding

12 Boulevard Haussmann,
75009 Pans, France

Management
company

12 Boulevard Haussmann, Hotel owner

75009 Pans, France

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Repubiic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Investment holding

Comorate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensingion London W8 53Y

investmenrt hoiding

PO Box 309 Ugland House. Investment holding
Grand Cayman,
K¥ 1-1104 Cayman Islands

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

investmeant holding
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

TULL NAME

MAC Hotets Partnership France
SNC

M&C Hospita.ity Holdings {Asia)
Limited

M&C Hospitality tnternationat
Limited

M&C Management Holdings
Limited

M&C REIT Management
Limited

M&C New York (Times
Sguare). LLC

M&C New York =inance (UK}
Limited

M&C New York (Times Square)
EAI Il LLC

M&C Singapore Fmance (UK)
Limited

M&C Singapore Holdings (UK)
Limited

MEC Sponsorship Limited

McComnick Rangk Operating
Partnership L.P

MHM, Inc

Mitenmum Bostorman, Inc

Millenmum & Coptharne
{Austrian Holdings) Limited

Millennium & Capthome
{Jersey Holdings) Limited

Miliennium & Copiherre Hotel
Holdirgs
{Hong Kong) Limited

Millennium & Copthorme Hotels
{Hong Korg) Linited

Milennium & Copthome NZ
Limited

Millennium & Capthome Hatels
Management (Shanghai}
Limuead

SHAREHOLDING

PERCENTAGE

100%

10G%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

106%

76%

100%

TYPE

indirect subskiary

Ingirect subskd ary

Indirect subswd:ary

Oirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Incirect subsiciary

indirect subsidiary

Indirect sabsidiary

Cirect subsidiary

Direct subsidiary

Indirect subsichary

tndirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidary

indirect subsidiary

Direct subsidiary

tndirect subsidiary

Indirect subsichary

Ind rect subsidiary

ind.rect subsidiary

Indirect subs dary

COJNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

France

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

United Kingdom

Repubiic of

Singapore

USA

United Kingdom

USA

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

USA

UsA

USA

Jnited Kingdom

United Kingdam

Hong <ong

Hong Aong

New Zealand

People's Rapublc
of Ghina

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRESS

12 Boulevard Haussmann,
75009 Pans, France

2803 Great Eagle Cartre,
23 Harbour Road, Wanchan,
Hong Kang

2803 Great Eagle Certra,
23 Harbour Road. Wanchai
Honpg Kong

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, Landon W3 55V

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Repubic Plaza
Singapore 048619

7900 East Urion Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

Corporate Headquadters,
Scarscale Place,
Wensington London WB 55Y

7900 East Union Avenue,
Surte SQ0, Denver, Celarado,
80237

Comorate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington London W8 58Y

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdaie Place,
Kensington, London W8 53Y

Corporate Headquarters
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 55Y

7900 East Umon Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado
BQ237

7900 East Unon Avenue,
Surte 500, Denver, Calorado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Sune 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

Corporate Headquarnters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kansimigton, Landan W8 58Y

Corporate Heaaqua-ters,
Scarsdae Place,
Kensington Lendon W8 5SY

2803 Great Eagle Gentre,
23 Harbour Road. Wanchai,
Hong Kong

2803 Great Eagle Centre,
23 Harbour Road, Wanchal,
Hong Kong

Levei 13. 280 Queen Straet,
Aucktand 1010, New
Zealard

#1205 No 511 Wei Hor

Road Shanghar 200047,
P R China

PRIMCIPAL
ACTIVITIES

investment holding

Investment holding

Imvestment holding

investment holding

REIT investmaent
managemnent
services

Investmant halding

Fnance company

Hotel owner

Finance company

Irvestment hold ng

Other service

activities

Hotel ownershio

Hotel management

Hold-ng company

Investmant holding

Holding company

Investment ang
development of
hotels and hotel
managemeni

Provision of hotel
management and
consultancy
services

Name-holding

Hotel managerment
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FULL NAME

Millernum & Copthemne Hote s
New Zea'and Lim ted

Milermum & Coptrome Hote s
Pty Ltd

Millenmum & Copthorne
ntermatianal Lim ted

Millennium & Coothorme
Pension Trustee Limited

Millenmum & Copthome Share
Trustees Lsmited

Millennium CDG Parnis SAS

Millenmum Hotel Hoidings
EMEA Limited

Milienmium Hotels & Resorts
Services Lim ted

Millenmum Hotels Surope
Holdings Limited

Midlennium Hotels italy Holdings
Srl

Millenmium Hoteis Limited

Millennium Hotels Palace
Management S.r|

Milennium Hotels Praoperty
Sri

Millenwum Hotels {West
London) Limdea

Millenmium Haotels {\West
Londen)
Managerent Limnted

Millenmum hotets Londaon
Lirmited
Miltennium Qpera Pans SAS

New Unity Holdings Ltd

hew York Sign LLC

hewbury Investments Pte Lid

Park Plaza Hotel Corporaton

SHAREHO_DING

PERCENTAGE

76%

76%

100%

100%

100%

100%

130%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

t100%

100%

100%

1C0%

100%

50%

50%

tCo%

100%

TYPE

Indirect subsdiary

Indirect subsidiary

'ndirect subsidiary

Orect subskliary

Direc: subsidia-y

Indirect subsd:ary

Direct subsigiary

Irdirect subswdiary

Direct subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary
indirect subsidary

indrect subschary

Indrect subsidiary

Direct subsichary

Indirect subsidiary

Assocated
undertakings

Associated
undentakings

Indrrect subsidiary

Ind-rect subs«diary

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATICN

New Zealang

Austral.a

Republic of
Singapore

Unrted Xingdom

Unded Kingdom

France

Jrted K ngdom

United K:ngdam

Lnited Kingdom

italy

United Kingdom

Italy
Italy

Unided Kingdom

United Kingdem

Lnited Kingdom

France
Bvi

USA

Republic of
Singapore

usa

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRESS

PR'NCIPAL
ACTVITIES

Level 13, 280 Queen Street. Hote! iInvestment
Auckland 1010, New holding
Zealand company

Suite 78. Zenith Residences Name helding
82-94 Dartinghurst Road.

Patts Pourt,

Sydney 2014, Austraka

9 Raffies Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Corporate Headquarters Pension trust act.ng
Scarsdale Place on behaf of
Kensington, London W38 55Y company

trustees

Hotels and resorts
management

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place
Xensington, Lordon W3 55Y

2 Aliée du Verger. 95700
Raoissy, France

Share trusiee
company

Hots! operalor

Corporate Headgquarters,
Scarsdale Place
Kensington, London W8 53Y

Corporate Headquaners, Managemer.|
Scarsgale Place, contract
Kensington. London W8 5SY holding company

Irvestment holding

Corporate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, Lendon W8 55Y

Via Vittaro Veneto n 70,
Roma 00187, ftaly

Investment hoding

tolding company

Corparate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington London W8 53Y

Via Vittono Venete, n 70,
Roma 00187, Italy

investment halding

Hotel operatar

Via Vittario Veneto, n 70,
Roma 00187, laly

Property owner

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place
Kensington, London W8 55Y

Property 'ething

Corporate Headguarters
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 58Y

Hotel operator

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensingtan _ondon W& SSY

investment hording

12 Boulevard Haussmann,
75009 Pans, France

PO Box 146 Road Tawn,
Tortala, Brtish Vingn Islands

Hotel cperaar
Investment holding

7900 East Union Averua,  To lease. manage,

Suite 540 Denver Colarado.and othe~wise deal

80237 with certain
advertising signage
space at the Novotel
hotel

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

7900 East Unwn Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado.
80237

Investment holding

Hokding company




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

SHAREHOLDING

FULL NAME PERCENTAGE
Prastans Road Limited 17%
PT Millenmium Hotels 8 Resorns 100%
PT Mienriym Sinh Jakanra 130%
Hotel
QINZ {Anzac Avenue) Limited 76%
QINZ Holdings (New Zeaiand) 76%
Limitea
Quartum Linited 768%
Regal Grang Holdings 100%
Corporation |
Regal Harvest House LP 100%
Regal Hotel Management Inc 100%
Republic Hotels & Resorts 100%
Limited

Republic lcamic Hotel Pte Ltd 100%
RHH Qperating LLC 100%
RHi Boston Holdings 1CO%
Corporation |
RHI Boston Ho'dings 100%
Corporaton |
RHM Aurora LLC 100%
RHM Holdings Corparation | 100%
RHM Management LLC 100%
RHM Ranch:. 1 C 100%
R4M Wynrfield LLC 100%
RHM-88, LLC 100%
R chireld Holings Corporation 100%

TYPE

Indirect Associate

irdirect subsid.ary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiasy

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidhary

Indirect subsiliary

{ndiwect subsidiary

Indirect subsigiary

Indrect subsidiary

ndirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsechary

Indirect subsiciary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

indirect subsidhary

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

New Zealand

Indonesia

Indonesia

New Zealand

New Zealard

New Zealand

USA

usa

USA

Repubiic of

Singapore

Republic of

Singapore

usa

UsA

USA

USA

USA

usa

usA

USA

USA

USA

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRESS

PRINCIPAL
ACTIVITIES
167 Main North Road,
Lhristchyrch B140, New
2ealand

Service provider

Jalan Fachrudin 3, Jaxara
10250,
Indonesia

Jalan Fachrudin 3, jakarta
10250,
Indonesia

Level 13, 280 Queen Street Hotel owner
Auckland 1010, New
Zealand

Management
services

Hotel owner

Level 13, 280 Queen Street, Halding company
Auckland 1010, New
Zealand

Level 13, 280 Queen Street, Holding company
Auckland 1010, New
Zaaland

7900 East Union Avenue
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suste 500, Denver, Coicrado,
ag237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver Cotorado,
80237

9 Raffles Piace
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Repubiic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Holding company

Holel ownersh:p

Holding company

Hotel operator and
nvestment holding
company

Hotel operatar

7900 East Union Avenue,  Hotel owner
Suite 500, Denver, Coorado,

80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver Colorado
80237

7900 East Linion Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Cojorado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenug
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Coiorado.
80237

7900 East Unron Avenwe,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7500 East Union Avenue
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
802137

7500 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver. Colerado,
80237

7900 East Unien Avenue,  Hotel owner and
Sure 500, Denver Colorado operator

80237

7300 Cast Urion Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver Colorado
BN237

Holding company

Holding company

Hatel owrership

-oiding company

Hotel ownership

Hotel owne-

Hotel ownersmip

Holthng company
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FULL NAME

SHAREMOLDING
PERCENTAGE

Richfield Holkiings Corporation  100%

Ricrheld Holaings, Inc

Raga Investments Pte Lid

Rogo Realty Cerporation

S § Restaurant Corporation

St Louws Cperating Inc

Sunnyvale Partrers, Ltd

100%

100%

24%

100%

100%

160%

Tara Hotels Deutschland GmbH100%

The Philippine Fund Limited

TOSCAP Limited

Tnmark Hotel Carparation

WHB Biltmore LLC

wWHB Corporation

Wynfield GP Corporation

Wyrfield One, Ltd

Zatrio Pte Lid

Zilign Holdings Limited

B0%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

TYPE

indirect subskhiary

indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Associated
undertakings

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect suosidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsicdhary

Irdirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirec? subskiary

:ndirect subskiary

Indirect subsidiary

indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

COUNTRY OF
INCORPQORATION

usa

USA

Republic of

Singapore

Phippines

USA

USA

Usa

Germnany

Bermuda

Republic of

Singapore

usa

USA

USA

usAa

usSA

Repubhc of

Singapore

Barbados

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRESS

ARINCIPAL
ACT VITIES

7900 East Union Avenue,
Sunte 500 Denver Colarado
80237

7900 East Unkan Avenue.
Suite 50C Denver Colorado,
80237

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

10 Floor, Hertage Hotel
Manila,

EDSA comner Roxas
Baulevard,

Pasay City, Ph.hppines 1300

7900 East Uwon Avenue,  Liguor license
Suite 00 Dernver, Colorado hoider
80237

7900 Eas* Union Avenus,
Suite 500 Denver, Colorado,
80237

790C East Umion Avenue,
Swte 500, Denver. Colorado,

Holding compairy

Holding compary

Investrment halding

Real estate awner

Oormant

Hctel ownership

80237
Registered at the Trade Hotel investment
register at holding

the iocal court of Hannover company
with the

legal form of Private limited

company {number HRB

209133}

C/o Coson Corporate
Services

Limited, Cumberand House
Sth Floor, 1 Victona Street
Hamdton HM 11, Bermuda

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Rapublic Plaza
Singapore 048618

7900 East Union Avenue, Hotel owner and
Suite 500, Denver Colorado operator
80237

7900 East Union Avenue, Hoetel owner and
Sunte 500 Denver, Colorade oparator
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado
80237

7900 East Urion Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver Colorado,
80237

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Piaza
Singapure 048619

The Phoernix Centre, George Investrrent holding
Street,

Belleville, St Michael,

Barbados

Irmvestment halding

Investment holding

Helding company

Hotel ownership

Holding company

Investrent hoiding

1 CDL Hopspitaiity Trusts 1= a stapled group compns:ng CTOL Hospitality Real Estate Investment Trust ("H-RE{T"), 4 real estate imvestment trust, and CDL
Hospitality Business Trust ("HBT*), a business trust. H-REIT has an investment strategy of investing, directly or indirectly, in a diversified portfolic of income-
producing real estate which is pnmanly used for hospitality and/or hospitahty-related purposes, whether wholly of partially, and real-estate refated assets in
relat-on ta the foregoing HBT 15 a business Wus! which was activated in December 2013 In addition Lo is function as a master iassee, MBT may alsc undertake
certain hospitality and hospitality-relaied developmen! projects. acquisihons and mvestments which may not be suitable for H-REIT The registered office
adaress of MAC REIT Management Limited, Manager of H-REIT and MA&C Business Trust Management Limited. Trustee-Manager of HBT 15 § Raffles Place
#12.01 Repubhc Plaza Singapore 048619 As disciosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has concluded that under IFRS10 ithas

de facio cantroi aver COL Hospatality Trusts

2 The Group has assessed the classification of ils investments in First Sponsor Group Limited and New Unaty Holdings Limited in accordance with IFRSt0

and concluded that it dees nol have control
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MILLENMIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

EXEMPTION FROM STATUTCORY AUDIT

Certain subsidiaries of the Group can take an exemption from having an audit completed Strict cnitena must be
met for this exemnption to apply, and it must be agreed to by the Directors of each subsidiary entity

Listed below are subsidiaries controiled and consolidated by the Group, where the Directors have elected to
take the exemption from having an audit of their financal statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
This exempbon is taken in accordance with Companies Act s479A.

Archyield Limited (1747079)

CDL Hotels (Chelsea) Limited {2845022)

CODL Hotels (U K.) Limited (2729520}

Copthorne Hotel (Birmingham) Limited (1816493)
Copthorna Hotel (Cardiffy Limited {2411296)
Copthorne Hotel (Effingham Park) Limited
(14238861}

Copthorne Hotel (Gatwick} Limited (994968)
Copthorne Hotel (Manchester} Limited (1855800)
Copthorne Hotel {(Merry Hill} Construction Limited
{2649367)

Copthorne Hotel (Merry Hill} Limited {2590620)
Copthorne Hotel (Plymouth) Limited (3253120)
Copthome Heotel {Slough) Limited (2300892)
Copthorne (Nominees) Limited (2574042}
Diplomat Hotel Holding Limited (1927463)

Hotel Liverpool Limited (9636541}

Hotel Liverpool Management Limited {9638688)
London Tara Hotel Limited (1005559)

M&C Asia Finance (UK) Limited (8321037)

MA&C Asia Holdings (UK) Limited (8382948)
M&C {CB) Limited (3846711)

M&C (CD) Limited {3846704)

M&C Finance (1) Limited (8783898)

MEC Hotels Holdings Limited (4407581}

M&C Management Holdings Limited (5832248)

M&C New York Finance (UK) Limited (9060415)

M&C NZ Limited (5159722)

M&C Singapore Finance (UK) Limited (8391052)

M&C Singapore Holdings (UK) Limited (8382985}
Millennium & Copthorne (Austrian Holdings) Limited
(3757378)

Millennium & Copthorne (Jersey Holdings) Limited
(5848574)

Millennium & Copthorne Pension Trustee Limited (6662791}
Millenmum & Copthorne Share Trustees Limited (3320990)
Millennium Hotel Holdings EMEA Limited (4592877)
Millenmum Hotels Limited (3141048)

Millennium Hotels Europe Holdings Lirnited (8844747)
Mitlennium Hotels London Limited (369188%5)

Millenrmium Hotels (West London) Limited {8599282)
Millennium Hotels {(West London) Management Limited
(8891908)

Millennium Hotels & Resorts Services Limited (46G1112)

Each company’s registared number is shown in brackets after its name.




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

35. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (“NCI”)
The following subsidianies have matenal NCI

OVWNERSHIP INTERESTS

HELD BY NCI
PRINCIPAL PLACE GF
BUSINESS/ COUNTRY OF
NAME INCORPORATION PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 2019 2018
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Hotel investment holding
New Zealand Limited {"MCHNZ") New Zealand company 24%, 24%
Real estate investment
COL Hospitality Trusts (*CDLHT") Singapore trust 62% 63%

The following is summarised financial iInformation for MCHNZ and CDLHT, prepared in accordance with local
accounting standards The information 1s before inter-company eliminations with other companies in the Group.

MCHNZ SUBGROUR CDLHT SUBGROUR
2019 2048 2019 20°8
NAME EM EM £M £M
Revenue 119 114 113 112
Profit after tax 32 32 65 51
Profit attributable to NCI 7 8 41 39
Other comprehensive income 19 3] 2 —
Total comprehensive income 51 38 87 81
Total comprehensive income attributable to NC| 6 5 42 39
Current assets 123 107 305 100
Non-current assets 393 369 1,435 1602
Current liabilittes {18) (18) (75) {174)
Non-current liabilities (85) {(74) (607) {462)
Net assets 413 384 1,058 1,066
Net assets attributable to NCI 136 44 658 672
Gash inflow from operating activites 33 15 69 68
Cash outflow from investing actwities 4R} 17 (26} (2)
Cash outflow from financing activities {8) 8) {44) (40)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ¢cash equivalents 14 (10) (1} 26
Dividends paid to NCI during the year’ (2) 2 40 41

1 Included n cash flows from financing actvities

36. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Effective 1 July 2013, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell Millennium
Cincinnati Accordingly, the property with a total carrying value of US$15m (£12m) was ciassified as asset held
for sale in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019. The sale was completed on 14 February
2020 with a gross sales price of US$36m (£28m) and resulting profit on sale of USE18m (£14m) after taking
expected selling costs into account of US$3m (E2m) The asset 1s held under the segment "Regional US" as
disclosed in Note 5.

On 21 November 2019, the H-REIT Group anncunced its proposed disposal of Novotel Singapore Clarke Quay
Accordingly, the property with a total carrying value of S$160m (£91m) was classified as asset held for sale in the
statement of financial postion as at 31 December 2019 The disposal is expected to be completed in 2020. The
asset is held under the segment "Singapore”’ as disclosed in Note 5.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

37. ADOPTION OF IFRS 16 'LEASES’

The Group adopted IFRS 16 with an initial application date of 1 January 2019. The Group appled the mod fied
retrospective approach and comparative information has not been presented.

The Group as a lessee

The Group's leases consist pnmarily of iand & buildings and plant & machinery Information about leases for
which the Group 1s a lessee s presented below

Amounts recognisad in the income statement
Depreciation

-~ Land and buddings

— Plant and machinery

— Fixtures, fittings and equipment and vehicles
Interest on lease liabilities

Total

NOTES

Right-of-use assets

Initial recognition on 1 January 2019
Adaitions

Transfer to asset held for sate
Depreciation

Foreign exchange adgjustments

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 12,14

Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current
Tota!

LAND ANC
BUILDINGS
£

203

(2
@)

@

199

NOTES
6. 12
9
FIXTURES,
FITTINGS AND
PLANT AND  EQLIPMENTAND INVESTMENT
MACHINERY VEHICLES PROPERTIES
£M ™ EM
3 1 7
n - -
2 1 7

The total cash outfiow for leases during the current year was £9m.

2018
€M

TOTAL
£M

214

@
&
3
209

2019
£EM

108
113
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The lease habilities were detemnined by discounting the relevant lease payments at the Group’s incremental
barrowing rate of between 0 9% and 14 6% in Asia. 1 9% to 3 5% in Europe and 3.0% to 5 2% in the US

The reconchation between oparating lease commiiments previously reported in the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018 discounted at the Group's incremental borrowang rate and the lease liabilities
recognised in the balance sheet on initial application of IFRS 16 is shown below:

£M
Operating lease commilment at 31 December 2018 as disclosed in the Group's financial statement 258
Discounted at the Group's incremental borrowing rale at 1 January 2018 (80}
Recognition exemption for,
- shorl-tenm leases @)
- leases of low-value assets {1
Extension and termination options reasonably certain to be exercised 10
Variable lease payments based on an index ar a rate 15
Contracts reassessed as service agreements {105}
Contracts reassessed as lease agreements 17
Lease liabilities racognised at 1 January 2019 12
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2019

Non-current asgets

Property. piant and equipment
Investments and other financial assets
Deferred tax asset

Currant assets

Amiounts owed by subsidiary undertakings failing due within one year
Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Other current liabilities

Net current liahilities
Other non-current liabilities

Neot assets

Equity

Called up share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings
Treasury share reserve

Total equity

NOTES

(E)
(F)

(G

(H)

U]

2019

2,049

2,052

74
22
35
131
(180)
(49}
(599)
1,404

97
843
468

L)

1,404

2018
£M

1,988

1,892

41
15
16

72
(159)
(87)
(505)
1,400

g7
843
464
(4)
1,400

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 June 2020 and were signed on its

behalf by:
c:g/bb—&‘——‘—‘\%_

Kwek Long Beng
Chairman

Registered No. 3004377




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2019

TREASURY
SHARE SHARE SHARE  REITAINED TOTA.
CAPITAL  PREMIUM  RESERVE EARNINGS EQUITY
EM £M £M £M £M
Balance at 1 January 2018 a7 843 (4) 463 1,399
Profit - — - 17 17
Other comprehensive iIncome - - - 5 5
Totat comprehensive income - - - 22 22
Dividends - - - {21) (21)
Batance at 31 December 2018 97 843 4 464 1.4Q0
Bajance at 1 January 2019 g7 843 (4 464 1.400
Profit _ _ _ 11 11
Other comprehensive Income - - - - -
Total comprehensive income - - - 11 11
Dividends - - - {7) (M
Balance at 31 December 2019 a7 843 (4) 468 1,404

The notes on pages 111 to 113 are an integral part of these Company’s financial statements.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH FRS
101

The parent company financial statements of Millenmum and Copthorne Hotels Limited {"the Company”) for the
year ended 31 December 2019 were authonsed for issue by the board of Directors and signed on its behalf on
22 June 2020. The Company is incorporated and domiciled wn England and Wales.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework (FRS 101). The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the income statement of the Company 1s not
presented as part of the financial statements.

The Company's results are included in the consolidated financial statements of Millennium and Copthorne
Hotels Limited which are avaiiable from the Group's website www. milienniumhotels com

The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apgly in preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019. The financial statements are prepared in Steriing and are rounded to the
nearest million except when otherwise indicated.

23 ACCCUNTING POLICIES

The parent company financiat statements of Millennium and Copthorne Hotels Limited have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework ("FRS 101"), which was first applied in 2015 after notifying shareholders cf the proposed change.
FRS 101 enables the financial statements of the parent company te be prepared in accordance with EU-
adopted IFRS but with certain disclosure exemptions The main areas of reduced disclosure are in respect of
equity settled share-pased payments, iinancial instruments, the cash flow statement, and related party
transactions with Group companies

The Company early adopted FRS 101 amendments before the effective date of 1 January 2016 regarding the
presentation of financial statements in compliance with the IAS 1 format.

The accounting policies adopted for the parent company are otherwise consistent with those used for the Group
which are set oul on pages 39 to 48,

C DIVIDENDS
Details of dividends paid and proposed in the current and prior year are given in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

D PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY
The profit deait with in the financial statements of the Company 1s £11m (2018. £17m)
E PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
CAPITAL
WORK
i
SOFTWARE PROGRESS TOTAL
£M EM £M
Cost at 1 January 2018 2 - 2
Depreciation (1) - 3]

Cost at 31 December 2019 1 - 1
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

F INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

SHARES IN LOANS TQ
SUBSIDIARY SUBSIDIARY GROUFP SETTLED
UNDERTAKINGS UNDERTAKINGS ARRANGEMENTS

£M EM
Cost and net book value at 1 January 2019 1,202 79 7
Additions - 72 -
Foreign exchange adjustments (8) (3) -
Cost and net book value at 31 December 2019 1,894 148 T

£M

TOTAL
£M

1,988
72

(1)
2,049

There were NG provisions made against investments in subsidiary undertakings. Reductions and additions relate

to internal restructuring transactions

The Company's subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2018 are listed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial

statements
G OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
2019 2018
£M £M
Bank loans and overdrafts 132 47
Bonds payable - 79
Amaunts owed to subsidiary undertakings a8 28
Other payables 9 4
Accruals and deferred income 1
180 189
H OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
2019 2018
L] £M
Bank loans 177 83
Bonds payable 77 79
Amounts owed to subsiciary undertakings 335 335
Net employee defined benefit liabilities 10 8
599 505
Other non-current abiliies are repayable as follows -
2019 2018
£M M
Between one and two years 129 66
Between two and five years 470 439
599 505

12



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company's share capital are given in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

J RELATED PARTIES

For the year ended 31 December 2019, fees paid/payable by the Company to Hong Leong Management
Services, a subsidiary of Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte Ltd amounted to £1m (2018. £1m). At 31
December 2019, £nil (2018 E£nl) of fees payable was outstanding
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

GROUP FINANCIAL RECORD
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2049 2018 2017 2016 2015
£M £M £M £M £M
Income statement
Revenue 1,025 997 1.008 926 847
Operating profit 98 105 145 107 112
Net finance expense (32) (28) {(20) (25} (20)
Income tax {expense)/credit (8) {13} 12 (10} (12)
Profit for the year 84 93 159 a8 a7
Cash flow
Cash generated from operations 222 177 230 220 220
Statement of financia! position
Property, plant, equipment and lease premium
prepayment 3,194 3,256 3,232 3,345 2,858
Investment properties 680 668 577 534 506
Investment and loans in joint ventures and associates 414 358 324 320 255
Other financial assets 40 43 — - _
Non-current assets 4,328 4 325 4,133 4,199 3,618
Current assets excluding cash 316 224 228 195 163
Net debt (759) (727) {650) (707) (605)
Deferred tax liabiities (147) (172) {188) {220) (210}
Provisions and other liabilites (390) {287) {274) (297) (255)
Net assets 3,348 3,363 3,249 3,170 2712
Share capital and share premium 240 940 940 940 940
Reserves 1,842 1,830 1,736 1,728 1,336
Total equity attnbutable to equity holders 2,782 2,770 2,676 2,668 2276
Non-contrelting interests 566 583 573 502 436
Total equity 3,348 3,363 3,249 3170 2712
Key operating statistics
Geanng 27% 26% 24% 26% 27%
Earnings per share - 13.1p 38.1p 24.0p 19.9p
Dividends per share’ - 4 23p 6.50p 7 74p 642p
Hotel gross operating profit margin 28.5% 30.5% 32 2% 316% 34 1%
Cccupancy 73.3% 73 3% 735% 718% 71.8%
Average room rate (£) £11452 £111 31 £112 68 £106.78 £100.19
RevPAR (E) £83.94 £81.57 £82 78 £76 71 £71098

1 Livmdends per share inciudes ardinary dividenda and spacial dividends
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| MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

KEY OPERATING STATISTICS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

YEAR ENDED YEARENDED YEAR ENDED

2019 2018 2018
REPORTED CONSTANT REPORTED
OWNED OR LEASED HOTELS® CURRENCY CURRENCY  CURRENCY
Occupancy (%)
New York 86.6 86.3
Regiona! US 58.0 576
Totaj US 67.5 67 1
London 791 801
Rest of Europe 69.6 712
Yotal Europe 74.2 7586
Singapore 86.8 859
Rest of Asia 68.5 681
Total Asia 75.6 75.0
Australasia 824 825
Total Group 73.3 73.3
Average Room Rate (£)
New York 197.45 200 43 191.78
Regional US 106.79 1086.18 103.51
Total US 145.26 147.32 140.96
lLondon 137.87 127.22 127 22
Rest of Europe 75.44 78.68 7894
Total Europe 107.76 104 10 104.22
Singapore 101.47 100.37 87.26
Rest of Asia 97.81 96 79 9574
Total Asia 99.43 98.38 96 42
Australasia 83.74 88 39 BB 61

Total Group 11452 113.88 111.31
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

KEY OPERATING STATISTICS (continued)

YEAR ENOED  YEAR ENDED  YEAR ENDED
2019 2018 2078
REPORTED CONSTANT REPORTED
OWNED OR LEASED HOTELS® CURRENCY CURRENCY CURRENCY
RevPAR (£)
New York 171.09 172.96 165.49
Regional US §1.99 62.30 59 61
Total US 98.05 9878 94 52
London 108.99 101 89 101 89
Rest of Europe 52.49 56 00 5618
Total Europe 79.94 78.67 7876
Singapore 88.04 86 23 8356
Rest of Asia 67.04 65 88 6517
Total Asia 75.17 7376 7229
Australasia 73.12 72.96 7313
Total Group 83.94 83.45 81.57
Gross Operating Profit Margin (%)
New York 10.9 156
Regional US 18.5 183
Totai US 14.5 17 4
London 390 410
Rest of Europe 16.6 218
Total Europe 306 332
Singapore 39.2 393
Rest of Asia 336 345
Total Asia 36.0 36.5
Australasia 47.7 490
Total Group 285 305

For comparability, the 31 December 2018 Average Room Rate and RevPAR have been translated at average

exchange rates for the period ended 31 December 2019.

*excludirg managed, franchised and invesimeni hotels
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Asia

HOTELS

Grand Millannium Beijing
Fortune Plaza, 7 Dongsarhuan Middle Road
Chaoyang Distnct, Betjing 100020 PRC

New World Millennium Hong Kong Hotel
(Owned by New Unity Holdings Lirited)
72 Mody Road, Tsimshatse East

Kowloon, Hong Kong

JW Marriott Hotet Hong Kang
(Owned by New unity Hoidings Limiteg)
Pacific Place, 88 Queensway,

Hong Keng

Millennium Hotel Sirih Jakarta
Jatan Fachrrudin 3,
Jakara 10250, Indonesia

Hotel MyStays Asakusabashi
1-9-5, Asakusabash, Tato-ku,
Toxyo 111-0053, sapan

Hotel MyStays Kamata
5-46-5, Kamata, Ota-ku,
Tokyo 144-0052, Japan

Copthome Crchid Hotel Panang

Jatan Tanmung Bungah, 11200 Penang Malaysia

Grand Millennium Kuala Lumpur
160 Jalan Bukit Bmtang,
55100 Kuala Lumpur Malaysia

Angsana Velavaru
South Nitandhe Atoil,
Republic of Maidives

Raffles Maldives Meradhoo (previously
Dhevanafush Maldives Luxury Resart)
Meradhoo Island,

Gaafu Alfu Atoll,

Repubiic of Mald-ves

The Heritage Hotel Manila

Roxas Boulevard at corper of EDSA Pasay City

Metropolitan Manila, Prhilippines

Copthome King's Hotel Singapore
403 Havelock Road, Singapore

Grand Copthorne Waterfrant Hotel Singapore

392 Havelock Road. Singapore

M Hotel Singapore
81 Arson Road. Singapore

Novotel Singapors Clarke Quay
177A River Valley Road Singapore

Orchard Hotel Singapore
442 Orchard Road, Singapore

Studic M Hote!
3 Nanson Road Singapore

TENURE

Leasehald to year 2046 (hotel),
leasehola 10 year 2056
{undarground car park}

75-year term from 28 11 1984 and may be
renewable for a further 75 years

75-year term from 18.04.1985 and may be
renewable for a further 75 years

The tile 1s held uncder a Hak Guna Bangunan
{i.,e Right to Build) and a 40-year lease

wef 14 04 1984 and 22 01 1986 for
approximate site area of 7,137 sq. metres and
212 sq rmetzes, respechvely

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehoid

50-year ttle commencing from 26 08.1997

5D-year iease commencing from 15 08 2006

Fee mmple

99-year lease commencing from 01 32 1968
75-year lease commenaging from 19 07 2006
Freehold

97 years and 30 days leasenold interest
commencing from 02 04 1980

Freehoid

99-year lease cormnmencing from
26 02 2007

MILLENNIUM 8 COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

APPRQXIMATE
SITE AREA
(S@ METRES)

9,268

2850

10.690
(Part)

7.349

964

497

10,329

7670

67.717

53 578

9 8BE

5637

10.860

2.134

12,925

8 588"

2932

NUMBER
OF ROOMS

516

464

608

401

139

116

307

459

113

37

450

310

574

415

656

360

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
‘NTFREST
(%)

70

50

26

100

a8

38

100

100

a8

38

66

38

38

38

a8

38

38
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES (continued)

HOTELS

Millennium Hilten Seoul
50 Sowol-ro, Jung-gu,
Seaul, South Korea 100-802

Land Site in Secul

tocated at Churg-gu Namdaeumnro 5 Ga 652-1

Grand Hyatt Taipei
2. SongShou Road
Taipe:. Tawan. 11051

* Includes Claymore Connect

Europe

HOTELS

Copthorne Hotel Aberdeen
122 Huntly Street,
Aberdeen AB10 18U, Scotland

Copthome Hotel Birmingham
Paradise Circus
Bimingham 83 3HJ, England

Copthome Hotel Cardiff-Caerdydd
Copthorne Way, Culverhouse Cross,
Cardiff CF& 8DH, Wales

Coptherng Hotel Effingham Gatwick
West Park Road Copthome,
West Sussex RH10 3EL, Engiand

Copthome Hote! London Gatwick
Copthorne Way, Copthorne, West Sussex
RH10 3PG, England

Copthorne Hote! Manchester
Clippers Quay, Salfora Quays,
Manchester M50 35N, England

Copthome Hotel Marry Hill-Dudiey
The Waterfront, Level Street, Bnerley Hil.
Dudley. West Midlands DY5 1UR, England

Coapthorne Hotel Newcastle
The Close, Quayside, Newcastle upon Tyna
NE1 3RT, England

Copthorne Hotel Plymouth
Armada Way, Plymauth PL1 1AR, England

GCopthorne Hotel Slough-Windsor
Cippenham Lane, Slough, Berkshire
SLt 2YE. England

Copthome Tara Hotel London Kensington
Scarsaale Place Kensmngion, London
W8 55Y, England

Hard Days Night Hotel Liverpool
Central Builldings North John Street
Liverpool, L2 8RR, England

Hilton Cambridge City Cantra Hotel
Grand Arcade 20, Cowning St,
Cambridge CB2 3DT. England

The Lowry Hotel

50 Dearmans Place,
Salford, Manchester

M3 5LH, United Kingdom

APPROXIMATE

SITE AREA
TENURE {($Q METRES)
Freehald 18 787
Freerold 1564
50 years starting from 7 Marck 1990 14 193

The lease agreement s extendable for
ancther 30 years

APPROXIMATE

SITE AREA
TENURE (5Q METRES}
Freehold 1,302
Freatold 2. 1868
Freehold 26,3056
Freehold “61.878
Freehoid 404 634
Leasehoid to year 2135 9.800
Freenolg 13.734
Freehold 3,200
—easehold to year 21°0 1,853
Freehald 6,880
Freeroid 7.535
Leasehold to year 2129 5275
1Z5-year lease commenging 3500
from 25 12 1990 and extendable
for a further 50 years
150-year lease commencirg 2.200

from 18 03 1997

NUMBER
OF ROOMS

680

850

NUMBER
OF ROOMS

87

135

122

227

166

135

219

833

110

198

165

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
(%}

105

10¢

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
(%}

83

1G0

100

10

100

96

100

100

100

a8

3B
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES (continued)

HOTELS TENURE

The Bailey's Hotel London Freehoid
140 Gloucester Road
Londan SW? 4QH England

Ml ium Glo Hotel L don Freenold
Kensington

Harrington Gardens

Lendon SW7 4LH, England

Millertniumr Hotel Glasgaw Leasgnold ta year 2108
George Square, Glasgow G2 105, Scotland

Millennium Hotel London Knightsbridge Leasenoid to year 2091
17 Sloane Street, Knightsbridge
London SW1X 9NU, England

The Biltmore, Mayfair - LAR Hotels & Resorts Leasenold to year 2096
44 Grosvenor Square, Mayfar,
Lendon W1K 2HP, Eng and

Millennium Hatel Paris Opéra Freshod
12 Boulevard Hausamann,
75008 Paris, France

Millennium Hotel Paria Charles de Gaulle Freenold
Zone Hoteliere, Allée du Verger, 95700
Ro.ssy-en-France, France

Puliman Hotel Munich Freenold
Theodor-Dombart-Strasse 4.
Munich 80805, Germany

Grand Hotel Palace Rome Freehold
Via Veneto, 70. Rome, 00187, ltaly

The Chelsea Harbour Hotel Leaseloid to year 2112
Chelsea Harbour, London, SW10 0XG. England

Hotel Cerratani Florence, MGallery Freehotd

by Sofitel

Via de’ Cerretani, 68, 50123 Florence, [taly

North America

HOTELS TENURE

The Bostonian Boston Freehold
26 North Street

At Fanewl Hall Marketplace Boston

MA 02109, USA

The Lakefront Anchorage Hotel, Freenold
4800 Spenard Road, Ancherage Dock Leasehold to 204C
AK 88517, USA

Millgnnium Biltmore Los Angeles Freehold
506 South Grand Avenue, Los Angeles,
CA 90071, USA

Millennium Buffaio Leasehaid to year 2022
2040 Walden Avenue (with one 10-year oplion)
Buffaio, NY 14225, USA

APPROXIMATE
S.TE AREA
(5Q METRES)

1.923

6,348

5,926

809

4 260

1,093

11.657

8,189

BQ1

2561

1350

APPROXIMATE
SITE AREA
{SQ METRES)

2,769

14,159

11,305

31,726

NUMBER
OF ROOMS

212

610

&1

222

208

163

239

337

BG

158

NUMBER
OF ROGMS

204

248

683

30

EFFECTIVE
GRQUP
INTEREST
(%)

100

“00

100

100

100

100

36

100

kL]

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
(%)

100

100

100

100
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES (continued)

HOTELS

Millennium Harvest House Boulder
1345 2Bth Street
Boulder CO 80302, USA

Millennium Knicksrbocksr Hotel Chicago
183 East Waiton Place. Cnicago
IL 60611, USA

Millenniurm Cincinnati (soly effective
14 February 2020)

150 West Fiftn Street, Cincinnat,

OH 45202, YSA

Miliennium Durham
2B00 Campus Walk Avenue. Durram
NC 27705, USA

Millennium Minneapolis
1313 Nicollet Mall. Minneapairs,
MN 55403, USA

Millennivm Maxwell House Nashvilla
2025 Rosa L Parks Boulevard Nashville
TN 37228 USA

Millennium Broadway New York Times
Square

145 \West 44th Street, New York,

NY 10036, USA

Millennium Premier New York Times Square

133 West 44th Street, New York,
NY 10036, USA

Miflennium Hilton New Yerk ONE UN Plaza
1 UN Plaza 44th Street at 15¢ Avenue,
New Yark. NY 10017, USA

Mikkennium Hotel S5t Louis {closed)
20C South 4tk Street, S5t Lous,
MO 63102 USA

The McCormick Scottsdale
7421 Noth Scottsoale Road,
Sconsdale, AZ 852C8, USA

Miilennium Hiton New York Downtown
55 Church Street, New York, NY 10007 UUSA

Novote! New York Times Square

226 W 52nd Street. New York NY 10019, USA

Maingate Lakeside Resort
7769 W Irio Brensan Memonal Highway.
Kissimmee, FL 34747 USA

Novotal Penthouse
1851-65 Broadway,
New York NY 100138, USA

Comfart Inn Near Vail Beaver Creek
161 vvest Beaver Creek Boulevard, Avon,
CO 81620, USA

Pine Lake Trout Club

17021 Chvlicothe Road, Chagrin Falls
Oh 44023, USA

“Currently only 290 rooms are avalable fo- sate

TENURE

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehod

Leasehold to year 2030

Leasehold to year 2030
(with two 10-year options)

Freehold

Freehold

East tower freehold/
West tower leasehold to
year 2079

Freehold

Leasehold o year 2033
{with two 10-year options)

Freenocld

Fee simple estate a leasehold interest,
and a leased fee interest

Freehold

Leasehold to year 2080

Freehold

Freehold

EFFECTIVE

APPROXIMATE GRQOLP
SITE AREA NUMBER INTEREST
(S8Q METRES) OF ROOMS {%%)
64 019 269 100
2,007 306 100
6,839 872 100
42,814 324° ‘00
4,537 321 100

17 140 287 108
1,762 626 Q0

360 124 100

4.554 439 100

17 033 780 100
32,819 “25 100
1680 969 100
197/ 480 100
493,796 475 100

307 - 10C

11,208 146 100
331.074 6 100
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES (continued)

Australasia

EFFECTIVE

APPROXIMATE GROURP

SITE AREA NUMBER INTEREST

HOTELS TENURE {SQ METRES) OF ROOMS (%)

Copthorne Hotel & Apartments Freehold/Strata tHe 4,713 85 76
Queanstown Lakeview

88 Frankton Road,

Queenstown, New Zealanc

Copthome Hotel & Resort Bay of Islands  Leasehold land to year 62,834 180 37
Tau Henare Dnve, Pashia, 2021 {renewal cpticn to May 2087)
New Zealand

Copthome Hotel & Resort Queenstown Freehold 18,709 240 76
Lakefront

Comer Adelade Street & Frankton Road

Queenstown, New Zealand

Copthome Hotet Auckland City Perpetual leasehold land 2.495 110 76
150 Anzac Avenuc
Auckland, New Zealand

M Sccial Auckland Freenold 2407 150 76
196-200 Quay Street
Auckland, New Zealand

Capthorne Hote) Palmerston North Freehold 15 514 124 76
110 Fitzherbert Avenue,
Paimerston North, New Zealana

Copthome Hotel Rotorua Freehold 35 935 136 6
Fenton Street,
Ratorua, New Zeaiand

Copthomne Hotel Wellington Orientat Bay  Freehold 3904 118 76
100 Onental Parade
wWellington, New Zealand

Ibis Parth Freehold 1.480 192 38
334 Murray Street
Perth, Westem Australa, Austraha

Kingsgate Hote! Dunedin Freehold 2,183 55 76
10 Smith Street,
Dunedin, New Zeatand

Kingsgate Hotel Greymouth Freehold/Perpetual 2,807 98 76
32 Mawhera Quay leasehold lang
Greymouth New Zealand

Kingsgate Hotel Te Anau Freeroid 86819 G4 76
20 Lakefromt Drve,
Te Anau, New Zealand

Mercure Perth Strata freehold 757 239 38
1Q Irwin Street
Perth Westermn Australia, Austral a




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES {continued)

EFFECTIVE
APPROXIMATE GRQOUP
SITE AREA NUMBER INTEREST
HOTE.S TENURE {5Q METRES) QOF ROOMS (%)
Mifiennium Hotel Queenstown Freehaid 7 453 220 768
Comer Frankion Road & Stanley Street
Queensiowr New Zealand
Millennivm Hotel Ratorya Freehowd/Perpetual 10 108 227 76
Comer Eruera & Hinemaru Streets leasehold land
Rotorua. New Zealand
Millennium Hotel New Plymouth, Freehod 1149 42 76
Waterfront
1 Egmont 5t, New Plymoyth, New Zealand
Navotel Brishane Strata volumetnc freehold 6235 298 38
200 Creek Street
Bnsbare, Queensland. Austral:a
Grand Millennium Auckland Freehold 5910 452 38

71-87 Mayaral Onve Auckiand, New Zealand

APPROXIMATE EFFECTIVE

LETTABLE GROUP

STRATA AREA INTEREST

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES TENURE (SQ METRES) (%)

Tanglin Shopping Centye Freehold 6.023 100
A shopping-cum-office complex siuated at

Tanghn Road, Singapore within the Orchard

Road tourist district The Group owrs 83 out

of 362 strata-titled units and 325 car park lots

Millerniurn Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo Freehoid/ 1.040/130 70
5-11-1 Ginza. Chuo-Ku, Leasehold — 30 years from 2% March 2008 (stte area)

Tokya 104-0061

329 bedroom hotel

Bikmore Court & Towey Freenold 34,249 100
Situated at 500/520 South Grand Avenue, Los

Angeles. CA 90071

Compris.ng the Court whieh has 22.133

sguare metres Class “B" (etlable office space

within the Biltmore hotel structure and the

Tower which has 12,116 square metres of

Class "A” office apace.

Land site in Sunnyvale Freehold 35717 100
City of Sunnyvale, Calfornia, USA




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES (continued)

APPROXIMATE  EFFECTIVE

LETTABLE GROUP
OWNED BY FIRST SPONSOR GROUP LIMITED STRATA AREA INTEREST
AN ASSOCIATE OF THE COMPANY TENLRE (5 METRES) (%)
Poortgebouw Property Leasenold to year 2069 11.604 36
3rd floor up to and including the 9th floor of the
Poorigebouw
Hogg Catharne,
Cathanjne Ssplanade 13,
3511WK, Litrecht, the Netherands
Expected t0 compnse tws hotets wath 320 hotel rooms
In total on compietan
Arena Towers Perpetual leasero d 17,396 36
{Holiday Inn Amsterdami/Moliday Inn Exprass Ground rent paia until 2053
Amsterdam Hotels)
Hoogoorddreef 66 and 68. Amsterdam the
Netherands, Compnsing 443 hotel rooms and 509 car
park lots
Crowne Plaza Chengdu Wenjiang Hotel & Holiday Leasehald to year 2051 81,041 36
inn Express Chengdu Wenjiang Hotspring Hotel {Gross fl area)

No 619 A/B North Phoesnix Street,

VWenjang Oistnet, Chengdu, Sichuan Province. the
PRC

Comprising 608 hotel rooms and suites. and a hat
spnng facity
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS WORLDWIDE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
ASIA

China

Crowne Plaza Chengdu Wenjang Hotel & Holiday [nn Express Chengdu Wenjiang Hotspring Hotel
Grand Millennium Beijing

Grand Millennium Shanghai Hongqiao
Millennium Harbourview Hotel Xiamen
Millenniurm Hetel Chengdu

Millennium Hetel Fuqing

Millennium Hotel Wux:

Millennium Residences @ Beijpng Fortune Plaza
Millennium Resort Hangzhou

Millennium Hotel Zunyi

Millennium Resort Wuyishan

Heng Kong
JW Marriott Hotel Hong Kong
New World Millennium Heng Kong Hotel

Indonesia
Millennium Holel Sinh Jakarta

Japan

Hotel MyStays Asakusabashi

Hotel MyStays Kamata

Millenmum Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo

Malaysia

Copthorne Hotel Cameron Highlands
Coptharne Orchid Hatel Penang
Grand Millennium Kuala Lumpur

Maldives
Angsana Velavaru
Raffies Maldives Meradhoo (previously Dhevanafushi Maldives Luxury Resort)

Philippines
The Heritage Hotel Manila

Singapore

Copthome King's Hotel Singapare

Grand Copthorne VWaterfront Hotel Singapore
M Hotel Singapore

M Scoial Singapore

Novote! Singapore Ciarke Quay

Orchard Hote! Singapore

Studio M Hotel

South Korea
Millennium Hilton Seoul

Taiwan

Grand Hyatt Taipei

Millennium Hotel Taichung
Millennium Gaea Resort Hualien

Thailand
Millennium Resort Patang Phuket
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS WORLDWIDE {continued)

AUSTRALASIA

Australia

{bis Perth
Mercure Ferth
Novotel Brishane

New Zealand

Copthorne Hotel Auckland City

Copthorne Holal & Apattments Queenstowr Lakeview
Copthome Hotel Grand Central New Plyrmouth
Copthorne Hole| Palmerston North

Coptharne Hote| 8 Resont Bay of Islands
Copthorne Hotel & Reson Holianga

Copthorne Hotet & Resort Queenstown | akefront
Copthorne Hotel & Resort Solway Park Wairarapa
Copthorne Hote) Rotorua

Cepthorne Hotel Wellington Onental Bay

Grand Millennium Auckland

Kingsgate Hotel Autolodge Paihia

Kingsgate Hotel Dunedin

Kingsgate Hotet Greymouth

Kingsgate Hotel Te Anay

Kingsgate Hote| The Avenue Wanganui
Millennium Hote| New Plymouth, Waterfront
Millennium Hotel Queenstown

Millennium Hote! Rotorua

Millennium Hotel & Resort Manuels Taupo

M Social Auckland

MIDDLE EAST’

Iraq

Copthorne Hotel Baranan

Grand Millennium Hotel Sulaimant
Miflennium Kurdistan Hotel and Spa

Jordan
Grand Millenniym Amman

Kuwait

Copthome Al-Jahra Hotel & Resort

Coptharne Kuwait City

Millennium Hotel and Conwvention Centre Kuwait

Oman

Grand Millennium Muscat

Millennium Executve Apartments Muscat
Millennium Resort Salalah

Millennium Resort Mussanah

Palestine
Millennium Palestine Ramallah

*As a result of the sale of M&C's jont venture interest i the Graup's Middle East operating entity, Millennium & Copthome Middie East Holdings
Liruted ("MCMEHL"), to the other shareholder 1n December 2016, properties that were previously shown as being managed by the Group are now
shown as franchised, although as of the date hereof the properies contnue to be managed or franchised by MCMEHL, with support from the Group,
under a master acense and services arrangement
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS WORLDWIDE (continued)

Qatar

Copthorne Hotel Doha
Kingsgate Hotel Doha

MiHennium Hotel Doha
Millenmum Plaza Doha

Saudi Arabia

Copthome Al Naseern

M Hotel Makkah by Millennium

M Hotel Makkah Al Aziziyah
Millennium Al Ageeq Hotel
Miliennium Makkah Al Naseem
Millenmum Medina Aifport
Millennium Hail Hotel Saudi Arabia
Millennium Taiba Hotel

United Arab Emirates

Bab Al Qasr Hotel

Copthome Hotel Dubai

Copthorne Hotel Sharjah

Grand Milennium Al Wahda

Grand Millennium Business Bay

Grand Millennium Dubai

Kingsgate Hotel Abu Dhabi by Millennium
M Hotel Downlown by Millennium
Milennium Airport Hotel Dubai
Milenpium Alria Business Bay
Millennium Deyaar Atria Residences
Millennium Deyaar Hotet & Apartments
Millennium Mont Rose Apartments
Millennium Place Dubai Marina
Millennium Place Hetel & Apartments Barsha Heighls
Millennium Flaza Hotel Dubai

Studic M Arabia Plaza

EUROPE

France
Millernium Hotel Paris Chartes de Gaulle
Miltennium Hotel Paris Opéra

Germany
Puliman Hotal Mumich

Georgia
The Biltmore Hote! Thilise

Italy
Grand Hotel Palace Rome
Hotel Cerretani Florence, Mgallery by Sofitel

Turkey
Millenniumn Istanbul Golden Harn
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS WORLDWIDE (continued)

United Kingdom

Copthorna Hotel Aberdeen

Copthorne Hotel Birmingham

Copthorne Hotel Cardift-Caerdydad

Copthorne Hotel at Chelsea Football Club
Copthome Hotel Efingham Gatwick
Copthorne Hatel London Gatwick

Copthorne Hotel Manchester

Copthorne Hotel Merry Hill-Dudley

Copthorne Hotel Newcastle

Copthorne Hotel Plymouth

Copthorne Hotel Sheffield

Copthorne Hotel Siough-Windsor

Copthorne Tara Hotel London Kensington
Hard Days Night Hotel Liverpool

Hilton Cambridge City Centre Hotel
Millennium Hotel at Cheisea Fooiball Club
Millennium Gloucester Hotel London Kensington
Millennium Hotel Glasgow

Milkennium Hotel London Knightsbridge
Millennium Madejski Hatel Reading (management contract terrwnated 10 December 2019)
The Bailey's Hotel London

The Bitmore, Mayfair — LXR Hotels & Resorts
The Chelsea Harbaur Hotet

The Lowry Hotel

THE AMERICAS

USA

Comfort Inn Near Vait Beaver Creek
Maingate Lakes de Resort

Millennium Biltmore Los Angeles

Millennium Broadway New York Times Square
Millennium Buffalo

Mitllennium Cincinnati (soid effective 14 February 2020)
Millennium Durham

Millennium Harvest House Bouder
Millennium Hilton New York Downtown
Millenmum Hilton New York ONE UN Plaza
Millenniumn Hotel St Louis (closed)
Millennium Knickerbocker Haotel Chicago
Millernnium Maxwell House Nashvilie
Milennium Minneapolis

Mitlennium Premier New York Times Square
Novotel New York Times Square

Pine Lake Trout Club

The Bostonian Boston

The Lakefront Anchorage

The McCormick Scottsdale

END




